
 

AGENDA FOR 
 

PLANNING CONTROL COMMITTEE 

 

 
Contact: Michael Cunliffe 
Direct Line: 0161 253 5399 

E-mail: m.cunliffe@bury.gov.uk 
Website:  www.bury.gov.uk 

 
 
To: All Members of Planning Control Committee 

 
Dear Member/Colleague 

 
Planning Control Committee 

 

You are invited to attend a meeting of the Planning Control Committee 
which will be held as follows:- 

 

Date: Tuesday, 30 May 2023 

Place:  Council Chamber, Bury Town Hall 

Time: 7.00 pm 

Briefing 

Facilities: 

If Opposition Members and Co-opted Members require 

briefing on any particular item on the Agenda, the 
appropriate Director/Senior Officer originating the related 

report should be contacted. 

Notes: https://councilstream.com/burycouncil/3214 

Public Document Pack



AGENDA 

 

 

1   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

 

2   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 

Members of the Planning Control Committee are asked to consider whether 
they have an interest in any of the matters on the Agenda and, if so, to 

formally declare that interest. 
 

3   MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON THE 25TH APRIL 2023  (Pages 3 - 

6) 
 

Minutes of the meeting held on Tuesday the 25th April 2023 are attached. 
 

4   PLANNING APPLICATIONS  (Pages 7 - 92) 

 

Reports attached. 
 

5   DELEGATED DECISIONS  (Pages 93 - 104) 
 

A report from the Head of Development Management on all delegated 
planning decisions since the last meeting of the planning control committee is 

attached. 
 

6   PLANNING APPEALS  (Pages 105 - 106) 

 

A report from the Head of Development Management on all planning appeal 

decisions since the last meeting of the Planning Control Committee is 
attached. 
 

7   URGENT BUSINESS   
 

Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair 
agrees may be considered as a matter of urgency. 
 



 

 

1 

 

 Minutes of: PLANNING CONTROL COMMITTEE 

 
 Date of Meeting: 25 April 2023 

 
 Present: Councillor G McGill (in the Chair) 

Councillors S Arif, C Boles, D Duncalfe, D Green, J Harris, 
M Hayes, D Quinn, D Vernon, M Walsh and N Boroda 
 

 Public Attendance: 9 members of the public were present at the meeting. 

   

   

 
 

 

PCC.1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
Apologies for absence were submitted by Councillor. S Thorpe. 

Councillor N Boroda acted as a substitute representative for Councillor Thorpe. 
 

PCC.2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
All Councillors from different political parties sitting on the committee declared a 

personal interest in planning application 69298, 1 Rollesby Close, Bury as the 
applicant was a Councillor for Bury Council. 

None had discussed the application with the applicant and all would remain in the 
meeting during this item. 
Councillor Boroda added he was a Deputy Member on Cabinet alongside the applicant 

and Councillor Walsh commented that she sat on the same school governing body as 
the applicant. 

 
PCC.3  MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON THE 21ST MARCH 2023  

 
Delegated decision: 

 

That the Minutes of the meeting held on the 21st March 2023 be approved as a correct 
record and signed by the Chair.  
 

PCC.4  PLANNING APPLICATIONS  

 
A report from the Head of Development Management was submitted in relation to 

applications for planning permission.  
 

There was supplementary information to add in respect of application numbers 69298 
and 68884. 
 

The Committee heard representations from applicants and objectors in respect of 
applications submitted. This was limited to three minutes for the speaker. 

 
Delegated decisions: 

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Planning Control Committee, 25 April 2023  

 
 

 

2 

1. That the Committee Approve with Conditions the following application in 

accordance with the reasons put forward by the Development Manager in the 
report and subject to the conditions included: - 

 
1 Rollesby Close, Bury, BL8 1EW 

First floor extension at side 
 
2. That the Committee Approve with Conditions the following application in 

accordance with the reasons put forward by the Development Manager in the 
report, with amended condition 13 relating to the approval and implementation of 

sustainable drainage scheme (SUDS), additional condition requiring a scheme 
for management and maintenance of the SUDS. amended condition 17 to 
include standard native trees and an additional condition in relation to an EV 

charging scheme and subject to all other conditions included: - 
 

Land between 2 Ferngrove House, Rochdale Old Road & Woodgate Hill Road, 
Bury, BL9 7LS 

Erection of 5 no. new dwellings 

 
3. That the Committee Approve with Conditions the following application in 

accordance with the reasons put forward by the Development Manager in the 

report and subject to the conditions included: - 
 
Whitefield Police Station, Bury New Road, Whitefield, Manchester, M45 8QN 

Siting of a single storey permanent Portakabin at rear to be used as a Tactical Taser 
Training Room; 2 no. car wash screens at rear 

 
 

PCC.5  DELEGATED DECISIONS  

 
A report from the Head of Development Management was submitted listing all recent 

planning application decisions made by Officers using delegated powers since the last 
meeting of the Planning Control Committee. 

 
Delegated decision: 

 

That the report and appendices be noted.  
 

PCC.6  PLANNING APPEALS  

 
A report from the Head of Development Management was submitted listing all recent 

planning and enforcement appeal decisions since the last meeting of the Planning 
Control Committee.  

 
Delegated decision: 

 

That the report and appendices be noted.  
 

PCC.7  URGENT BUSINESS  

 
No urgent business was reported. 

Page 4



 Planning Control Committee, 25 April 2023 
 
 

 
3 

 
 

 
 
 
COUNCILLOR G MCGILL 
Chair  

 
(Note:  The meeting started at 7.00pm and ended at 8.44pm) 

 

 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



Title Planning Applications

To: Planning Control Committee

On: 30 May 2023

By: Development Manager

Status: For Publication

Executive Summary

The attached reports present members with a description of various planning applications, the
results of consultations, relevant policies, site history and issues involved.

My recommendations in each case are given in the attached reports.

This report has the following implications

Township Forum/ Ward: Identified in each case.

Policy: Identified in each case.

Resources: Not generally applicable.

Equality Act 2010: All planning applications are considered in light of the Equality Act 2010 and
associated Public Sector Equality Duty, where the Council is required to have due regard for:
The elimination of discrimination, harassment and victimisation;
The advancement of equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and person who do not share it;
The fostering of good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic
and person who do not share it; which applies to people from the protected equality groups.  

Human Rights: All planning applications are considered against the provisions of the Human
Rights Act 1998.

Under Article 6 the applicants (and those third parties who have made representations) have the
right to a fair hearing and to this end full consideration will be given to their comments.

Article 8 and Protocol 1 of the First Article confer a right to respect private and family life and a
right to the protection of property, ie peaceful enjoyment of one's possessions which could
include a person's home, and other land and business assets.

In taking account of the Council policy as set out in the Bury Unitary Development Plan 1997 and
all material planning considerations, I have concluded on balance that the rights conferred upon
the applicant/ objectors/ residents/ other interested party by Article 8 and Article 1 of the First
Protocol may be interfered with, since such interference is in accordance with the law and is
justified in the public interest. Any restriction of these rights posed by refusal/ approval of the
application is legitimate since it is proportionate to the wider benefits of such a decision, is based

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



upon the merits of the proposal, and falls within the margin of discretion afforded to the Council
under the Town & Country Planning Acts.

The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 imposes (without prejudice to any other obligation imposed on
it) a duty upon the Council to exercise its functions and have due regard to the likely effect of the
exercise of its functions on, and the need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent crime and
disorder in its area. In so doing and on making planning decisions under the Town and Country
Planning Acts, the Planning Control Committee shall have due regard to the provisions of the
Crime and Disorder Act 1998 and its implications in the exercise of its functions.

Development Manager

Background Documents

1. The planning application forms and plans submitted therewith.
2. Certificates relating to the ownership.
3. Letters and Documents from objectors or other interested parties.
4. Responses from Consultees.

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION ON THE CONTENTS OF EACH REPORT PLEASE CONTACT
INDIVIDUAL CASE OFFICERS IDENTIFIED IN EACH CASE.

Page 8



01  Township Forum - Ward:  Ramsbottom + Tottington - Tottington App No.  67243

 Location: Land off Brownhills Close / Bury Road, Tottington
 Proposal: Outline application with 'Access' for erection of up to 5 dwellings, and

new/improved formal and informal community open space, replacement /
improved footpath connections and wider greenspace enhancements

 Recommendation:  Approve with Conditions  Site Visit: N

        ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
02  Township Forum - Ward:  North Manor App No.  68815

 Location: Land adjacent to 62 Springside Road, Bury, BL9 5JQ
 Proposal: Outline application for 12 no. dwellings including means of access (all

other matters reserved for appearance, layout, scale and landscaping)

 Recommendation: Minded to Approve  Site Visit: N

        ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
03  Township Forum - Ward:  Bury East - Moorside App No.  69452

 Location: 148 Walmersley Road, Bury, BL9 6LL
 Proposal: Change of use from dwelling (Class C3) to an 8 no. bedroom House in

Multiple Occupation (HMO) (Sui Generis)
 Recommendation:  Approve with Conditions  Site Visit: N

        ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



  
 
Ward: Ramsbottom + Tottington - Tottington Item   01 

 
Applicant:  Barnaby Properties Ltd & Dial a Skip UK Ltd 
 
Location: Land off Brownhills Close / Bury Road, Tottington 

 
Proposal: Outline application with 'Access' for erection of up to 5 dwellings, and new/improved 

formal and informal community open space, replacement / improved footpath 
connections and wider greenspace enhancements 

 
Application Ref:   67243/Outline Planning 

Permission 
Target Date:  22/09/2021 

 
Recommendation:  Approve with Conditions 
 
Description 
The application relates to swathe of land located to the rear of nos.331 and 333 Bury Road, 
between the properties on Royds Close and Cedar Fold which extends over to the eastern 
side of Brownhills Close adjacent to an expanse of woodland extending from the cycleway. 
 
The old railway lines, known as 'The Lines' and countryside exists to the north of the 
application site. This area and the land beyond is allocated within the adopted Local Plan 
as a Site of Biological Importance (Policy EN6/1). 
 
The application site is rugged unmanaged land that has been overtaken by the natural 
environment 
 
The site is surrounded by residential development to the north, south and west. To the east 
of site lies undeveloped recreational land and there is an existing Ordinary Watercourse 
crossing the site from the western to the eastern boundary. This Ordinary Watercourse 
eventually outfalls into the Main River (Kirklees Brook) located further east. 
 
Outline permission with the matter of Access is sought for: 
 

• A total of up to 5 homes with associated garden curtilage, garages and parking. 

• 4 of the houses would be accessed via Brownhills Close by extending its existing 
turning head eastwards to connect to a shared drive to serve those 4 units. 

• A single house would accessed via Bury Road; 

• An internal path to connect the two housing zones; 

• The provision of a community orchard as shown on the revised masterplan. 

• The provision of wildflower meadow as shown on the revised masterplan. 

• The planting of 66 new trees and 145 linear metres of mixed native hedgerow. 

• The improvement of the surface / gradient of the footpath that runs through the land 
and connects to the former railway line,  

• Improved pedestrian access to connect with adjacent housing and the Kirklees Trail, 
designed to facilitate use by cyclists, those dependent on wheelchairs, and those with 
prams; 

• Tree / woodland and ecological management measures; and 

• Eradication of invasive species that is taking hold of parts of the land. 
 
Access is proposed from two locations.  One access proposed from the land between 331 
and 333 Bury Road and the other access proposed from the eastern turning head on 
Brownhills Close.   
 
The indicative Masterplan accompanying the application illustrates two parcels of land 
would be connected by pedestrian/ cycle paths linking the two parcels together. The 

Page 11



indicative proposals indicate that 4 properties could be located and accessed off Brownhills 
Close and 1 dwelling could be accessed off Bury Road. 
 
The proposals were initially proposed for a scheme of up to 8 dwellings with the provision 
of a play area.  The above proposals supersede the original submission. 
 
The majority of the application site is located on land allocated within the adopted Unitary 
Development Plan as being in the river valley landscape (Policy OL5/2), as a Wildlife 
Corridor (Policy EN6/4) and as existing recreation provision in the countryside (Policy 
RT1/1).  The site is also allocated as being within a Mineral Safeguarding Area. 

 
Relevant Planning History 
62967: Application to remove planning obligations under Section 106A of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 of planning permission 33376 to complete the landscaping 
works, transfer land to the Council and pay a maintenance contribution. Refused, 
22/08/2018 
 
60800: Application to remove planning obligations under Section 106A of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 of planning permission 33376 to complete the landscaping 
works, transfer land to the Council and pay a maintenance contribution. Withdrawn, 
09/03/2017 
 
57281: Outline application for erection of 4 no. detached dwelling. Withdrawn, 18/08/2014 
 
39803: Approval of Reserved Matters - 16 dwellings. Approved with Conditions, 21/02/2003 
 
35285: Outline application: Residential development on land off Bury Road and use of Land 
off Scobell Street as replacement allotments. Refused, 15/02/2000 
 
33376: Residential Development - 79 Dwellings, Approved with Conditions and Planning 
Obligations securing remediation works, fence, maintenance contribution and the transfer of 
land, 21/04/1998.   
This development included an area of Public Open Space, the area of which forms part of 
the application site.  
 
34819: Outline application for residential development and formation of replacement 
allotments. Refused, 17/12/1998 
 
Publicity 
60 neighbouring properties were notified by means of a letter on 28 July 2021 at  the time 
the application and site notices were posted on 4 August 2021.  The following 
representations have been received: 
 
A petition objecting to the proposals has been received containing 194 signatures.  This 
has raised the following issues: 

• Will encourage unsociable behaviour as the plans show a park, which would be used as 
a meeting point for youths and drugs 

• Disturb wildlife - bats, insects, squirrels, flora and fauna. Bats are a protected species. 

• Estate is already congested with cars and residents have problems parking in the area 

• The owners of Rosewood and Brownhills Close purchased properties on the basis that 
the land would be used as open space and this is specified on the deeds 

• A number of properties on Rosewood and Brownhills Close would lose privacy due to 
dwellings overlooking into gardens and windows. 

 
52 letters of objection were received at the time of the first public consultation.  The 
following issues raised are as follows: 

• Object to any housing development on this land, it is OPOL 'Other Protected Open 
Land' where residential development is not indicated as an acceptable form of 
development 

Page 12



• We were assured when we purchased our house that this land would never be built on.  

• Loss of habitat and impact upon wildlife 

• Noise and mess from building contractors and impacts upon children's safety when 
playing. 

• Loss of views over the wild meadow 

• Increased traffic on the estate and main roads 

• Limited parking already on Brownhills Close. 

• Proposed play area is a big worry and would be hidden, encouraging anti-social 
behaviour. 

• The playing area and park are unnecessary as Tottington has these facilities. 

• The council and public services can't currently police or maintain existing recreational 
spaces, so why would you duplicate and add pressure to the system?  

• The OPEN SPACE is an integral part of the Swallow Rise Development and is valued 
and utilised by the residents. 

• The proposal will not solve the issue of affordable housing in this area. 

• There is a protected tree in our garden and close to the fence line for the proposed 
development. Any excavation or disturbance would damage the tree 

• Reduced access to my property if the Bury Road access is used. The proposed access 
would be too narrow at 2.8 metres. 

• The proposed Bury Road access would not be wide enough to accommodate 
emergency/construction vehicles and would not comply with Building Regulations. 

• Parking near Bury Road would be reduced and is heavily used by existing residents. 

• A similar application was recommended for refusal on 7/7/14 by Traffic as access was 
substandard in terms of visibility, width and vertical alignment. 

• No one in the area wants the new play area 

• Given the decision made by Bury Council in only 2018 regarding recreational and 
amenity space at Brownhills Close, it is difficult to comprehend how this planning 
application has proceeded. 

• Loss of privacy to my property and garden. 

• Properties U3 and U4 would impact upon our privacy.  

• The path along the rear fence will increase the risk of intruders. 

• Additional noise due to play area 

• Over development of the area 

• Gardens that back onto the site already suffer with subsidence. The proposed dwellings 
would make this worse. 

• Further bat surveys are required before a decision can be made on this application 

• Impact on drainage. 

• Tottington does not have the infrastructure to support any more housing. Local GPs, 
dentists, schools and roads are at capacity. 

• A raised footpath must be provided on the access to Bury Road to protect pedestrians 

• With 1250 dwellings proposed off Scobell Street, the last thing we need is more houses. 

• No emergency route to adopted highway. 

• Loss of Right of Way over the land used as public open space 

• Diverting residents and visitors away from an established, popular, and well-loved Public 
Footpath is wrong.  

• The Public have a Right of Way from Bury Road to the Kirklees Trail 

• Impact upon air quality 

• Ownership Rights - The occupiers of 28 Rosewood Avenue and 7 Brownhills Close 
assert they have ownership rights over a strip of land adjacent to their properties as they 
have mowed a strip of land along the gable of their properties for years. 

 
Following a set of amendments being received, the neighbouring properties were notified of 
revised plans on 1 September 2021. 7 further letters were received, which  raised the 
following issues: 

• The revised plans do not change my initial comments or objections. 

• Existing provision of children's parks is already very good 

• The path from Brownhills Close to the Kirklees Trail is not hostile and is used. 

Page 13



• The supporting document has not changed my views on the application. 

• A ridiculous application to place houses on a small piece of land. 

• This area was always protected for the use of the residents of Tottington. 
 
On receipt of amended plans relating to the access proposed from Bury Road between nos. 
331 and 333 Bury Road.  The neighbouring properties were re-notified recently by means 
of a letter on 2 March 2023 following receipt of amended plans. The application was 
advertised as a Departure to the Bury Unitary Development Plan by site notice on 
16/03/2023 and press adverts on 16/3/23. 
 
30 letters were received, which have raised the following issues: 

• Our objection still stands. 

• The reduced number of dwellings will still have negative impacts on residents and the 
environment 

• This land should be retained as public open space as was promised when we 
purchased our house. 

• Brownfield sites should be prioritised over removing green space. 

• The proposed community orchard would remove established woodland and replace it 
with an area that would attract anti-social behaviour 

• How does this proposal comply with bio-diversity net gain, which comes into effect from 
November 2023? 

• The access route from Bury Road next to the fencing is less than 3 metres and has 
already been acknowledged as too narrow for vehicles.  

• Parking for local residents from Bury Road is already very restricted and the intention to 
limit that further is an outrageous suggestion and greeted with outrage from the local 
community. 

• Object to the houses on Bury Road as these will point to the back of my house and 
would result in a loss of privacy. 

• Loss of daylight, impacting upon energy costs. 

• The amended application remains a bad idea in respect of land unsuited to 
development. The land has watercourses, step inclines and access issues that would 
make construction difficult. 

• There is no need for 4 bedroom dwellings in the area. 

• Object to having a public footpath so close to my house boundary as this will cause 
problems with noise and also more of a security risk. 

• Who will maintain the new orchard and how will anti-social behaviour be prevented? 

• Access from the rear of 333-351 will remain hazardous if vehicular access is granted- it 
will create a "blind corner". The access is insufficient to allow emergency Vehicle access 
to the site 

• Even though the plans have been updated and the development reduced, my initial 
objections still remain. 

• The access from Bury Road remains an issue 

• Lack of parking in the immediate area, which this proposal would exacerbate 

• Concern over the increase in traffic 

• Playgrounds will attract youths. 

• Loss of wildlife 

• Does a change of ownership override the original planning consent for the Swallow Rise 
development which clearly stated it must be retained as Public Open Space and was a 
major influence in many residents purchasing their properties. 

• Should this development be passed and the amenity lost will residents be compensated. 

• Loss of parking, which will impact on local businesses. 

• Objections raised in the petition are still relevant.  

• The proposals do not comply with Building Regulations and Fire Safety standards. 
 
Statutory/Non-Statutory Consultations 
Traffic Section - No objections, subject to conditions requiring details of land level changes  
proposed at the Brownhills Close and Bury Roads end of the site. 

Page 14



 
Environmental Health - Contaminated Land - No objections, subject to conditions requiring 
intrusive site investigation, remediation and verification. 
 
GM Ecology Unit - No objections, subject to conditions requiring an updated Extended 
Phase I Habitat Survey and an updated Badger Survey and a Construction Environmental 
Management Plan, with a section relating to the protection of the watercourse, all being 
submitted at the Reserved Matters stage, and a condition securing the eradication of 
invasive species on the site and also requiring no works to trees and shrubs to be removed 
during the bird nesting period. 
 
The Coal Authority - No objections, subject to including a standard informative on the 
decision notice. 
 
Environment Agency - No objections, subject to conditions requiring remediation of the 
site, and verification that remediation (where necessary) has been undertaken. 
 
Drainage Section - No comments or observations received. 
 
Design for security - No comments or observations received. 
 
United Utilities - No objections, subject to a condition requiring both surface and foul water 
drainage schemes to be submitted, approved and implemented, and also requiring the 
location of a public sewer that they advise crosses the site and its associated standoff 
distances, are considered at reserved matters stage.   
 
Public Rights of Way Officer - No objections. 
 
Waste Management - No comments or observations received. 
 
GM Fire Service - Raise concerns that the access to the properties accessed from Bury 
Road are not accessible by the GM Fire Service. 
 
GM Archaeological Advisory Service - The application has no archaeological 
implications. 
 
Pre-start Conditions - Sent to agent on 16/08/2023 and the 18/05/2023.  An update as to 
whether the Applicant/Agent has agreed with the recommended pre-commencement 
conditions will be updated at Committee. 
 
Unitary Development Plan and Policies 
H1/2 Further Housing Development 
H2/1 The Form of New Residential Development 
H2/2 The Layout of New Residential Development 
H2/6 Garden and Backland Development 
EN1/1 Visual Amenity 
EN1/2 Townscape and Built Design 
EN1/3 Landscaping Provision 
EN5/1 New Development and Flood Risk 
EN6 Conservation of the Natural Environment 
EN6/3 Features of Ecological Value 
EN7 Pollution Control 
EN7/1 Atmospheric Pollution 
EN7/2 Noise Pollution 
EN7/5 Waste Water Management 
EN8 Woodland and Trees 
EN8/2 Woodland and Tree Planting 
OL1/5 Mineral Extraction and Other Development in the Green Belt 
RT1/1 Protection of Recreation Provision in the Urban Area 

Page 15



RT1/2 Improvement of Recreation Facilities 
RT3/3 Access to the Countryside 
RT3/4 Recreational Routes 
HT2/4 Car Parking and New Development 
HT4 New Development 
HT5/1 Access For Those with Special Needs 
HT6/1 Pedestrian and Cyclist Movement 
HT6/2 Pedestrian/Vehicular Conflict 
SPD1 Open Space, Sport and Recreation Provision 
SPD6 Supplementary Planning Document 6: Alterations & Extensions 
SPD11 Parking Standards in Bury 
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework 
EN6/1 Sites of Nature Conservation Interest SSSI's NNR's 
EN6/4 Wildlife Links and Corridors 
H2/3 Extensions and Alterations 
MW1 Protection of Mineral Resources 
 
Issues and Analysis 
The following report includes analysis of  the merits of the application against the relevant 
policies of both the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the adopted Bury 
Unitary Development Plan (UDP) together with other relevant material planning 
considerations. The policies of the UDP that have been used to assess this application are 
considered to be in accordance with the NPPF and as such are material planning 
considerations. For simplicity, just the UDP Policy will be referred to in the report, unless 
there is a particular matter to highlight arising from the NPPF where it would otherwise be 
specifically mentioned. 
 
Procedural Issues 
The occupiers of 28 Rosewood Avenue and 7 Brownhills Close contend they have 
ownership rights over the strip of land adjacent to their properties stating they have mowed 
a strip of land along the gable and boundary of their properties for years.  Please see Photo 
6 attached to this report for further information.  This shows a strip of land along the 
boundaries of these residents that was mowed at the time of my site visit earlier this month. 
 
Local residents question the legalities of building houses on the Public Open Space 
approved as part of application 33376 for the properties that exist on Brownhills Close, 
Rosewood Avenue and Royds Close.  
 
Articles 13 and 14 of the Town & Country Planning (Development Management) Procedure 
Order 2015 imposes a requirement that all applications for planning permission must be 
accompanied by a certificate (sometimes called an ‘article 13 certificate’) confirming that 
either the applicant is the sole owner of the land to which the application relates or that the 
appropriate notice has been served on any person who is an owner of the land or a tenant. 
 
Section 65(5) of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 says that a local planning authority 
shall not “entertain” any application for planning permission where these requirements have 
not been satisfied. 
 
An Ownership Certificate D accompanies the application. Certificate D is completed if the 
applicant does not know the names and addresses of any of the other owners of the land 
involved in the application.  For certificates C and D the applicant also has to advertise in 
the local press the fact that he/she is making the application and does not know the names 
of the owner(s) of some or all of the land. The applicant must send a copy of the published 
notice with their application forms.  The applicant advertised their proposals and intention 
to develop this parcel of land in the Bury Times on the 11 November 2021.   According to 
the applicants agent no one responded to this Press Advert.  Procedurally, the Council can 
therefore make a decision on this application. 
   
Notwithstanding the above, the above-mentioned residents are advised that they should 

Page 16



seek independent legal advice regarding their claims over the strip of land as separate 
legislation to the planning system may legalise their use of the land in question.  
 
Principle of Development 
Principle (Residential) 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) should be treated as a material planning 
consideration and it emphasises the need for local planning authorities to boost the supply 
of housing to meet local housing targets in both the short and long term. The Framework 
maintains the emphasis on identifying a rolling five year supply of deliverable housing land. 
 
Bury's Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment sets out the latest housing supply 
position, which is made up of sites that have an extant planning permission and sites that 
have potential to obtain planning permission in the future. This shows that there are a 
number of sites within the Borough with the potential to deliver a significant amount of 
housing. However, not all of these sites will contribute to the five year supply calculations as 
many sites will take longer than five years to come forward and be fully developed (e.g. 
some large sites could take up to ten years or more to be completed). As such, latest 
monitoring indicates that the Council is unable to demonstrate a five year supply of 
deliverable housing land and this needs to be treated as a material factor when determining 
applications for residential developments.  
 
The National Planning Policy Framework also sets out the Housing Delivery Test, which is 
an assessment of net additional dwellings provided over the previous three years against 
the homes required. Where the test indicates that the delivery of housing was substantially 
below (less than 75%) of the housing requirement over the previous years, this needs to be 
taken into account in the decision-taking process. The latest results published by the 
Government show that Bury has a housing delivery test result of less than 75%, and 
therefore, this needs to be treated as a material factor when determining applications for 
residential development. 
 
Therefore, in relation to the proposed development, paragraph 11d) of the National Planning 
Policy Framework states that where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the 
policies which are most important for determining the application are out-of-date, planning 
permission should be granted unless: 
 
i. The application of policies in the Framework that protect areas, or assets of particular 
importance, provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or 
ii. Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Framework, taken as a whole. 
 
Therefore, in this case the 'titled balance' applies, and planning permission should be 
granted unless the above points in Para. 11(d), i or ii apply. 
 
Policy H1/2 of the UDP states that the Council will have regard to various factors when 
assessing a proposal for residential development, including whether the proposal is within 
the urban area, the availability of infrastructure and the suitability of the site, with regard to 
amenity, the nature of the local environment and the surrounding land uses. 
 
The parcel of land closest to Bury Road is closely located to the linear form of development 
that runs along the length of Bury Road in Tottington.  The  
 
The parcel of land at the end of the site nearest to Brownhills Close and Rosewood Avenue 
form part of the built up core of Tottington.  Both sides of the site are therefore considered 
to form accessible locations for the creation of new houses. 
 
Green Belt 
A small area of land adjacent to the old railway line, The Lines, is located in the Green Belt, 
as defined by the UDP. The indicative layout drawing suggests that the land allocated as 
Green Belt would not be affected by the proposals with the exception of an improved 

Page 17



pedestrian route link.  Ensuring any housing and their associated domestic curtilage would 
not encroach on to the adopted Green Belt would be ensured at Reserved Matters stage 
when considering the matter of Layout.  
 
The footpath/ pedestrian route shown on the Masterplan, is not a definitive Public Right of 
Way, but the paths and tracks across this land are likely to have been used for at least 20 
years could, if local residents and businesses could evidence that the routes through the 
site have been in continuous use over that timeframe, a formal PROW's application could 
be approved by the Highway Authority.  
 
Principle of Development: Recreation 
The application site is covered by policies relating to River Valleys (OL5/2), Wildlife Links 
and Corridors (EN6/4), Protection of Recreation Provision in the Urban Area (RT1/1) and 
Additional Provision for Recreation in the Countryside (RT3/2) in the adopted Bury Unitary 
Development Plan.  
 
River Valley 
Policy OL5/2 relates to development in River Valleys and states that within the River 
Valleys, new buildings or the change of use of existing buildings or the change of use of 
land will not be permitted.  The only exceptions considered acceptable will be those where 
the development would not lead to the division of the open parts of the valleys into sections 
and it falls within the terms below: 
 
"where the area is designated as Green Belt the established Green Belt policies will apply; 
or, where the area does not form part of the Green Belt, at least one of the following 
circumstances is met: 

• that the development represents limited infilling to an established valley settlement or 
industrial area; 

• that it is an extension to, or renewal of an existing industry, where the economic and 
employment factors are of overriding importance; 

• that the development is required in association with an outdoor recreation or appropriate 
tourist facility; 

• that the development is limited and will form part of, and be essential to, the 
maintenance of the provision and improvement of public services and utilities; 

• any other development that would be appropriate in a Green Belt." 
 
The site is considered to be in a sustainable location for housing, abutting the urban area 
and sitting outside the Green Belt.  It is considered that OL5/2 is satisfied as the proposed 
development at this stage, shown indicatively, does not divide the valley into sections and 
instead offers increased public access to the Kirklees Trails.  Furthermore, the proposed 
development would represent limited infilling of an area which is already established at the 
Bury Road end of the site and the development at the Brownhills Close end of the site 
would form rounding off development and development that would be sited adjacent to 
existing dwellings so, in special terms would relate well to the existing urban grain. 
 
Wildlife Links and Corridors 
The application site also forms part of a network of Wildlife Corridors as designated under 
UDP Policy EN6/4.  Policy EN6/4 seeks to consolidate and strengthen these corridors and 
does not permit development which would adversely affect them. New development within 
or adjacent to corridors is only acceptable if it contributes to their effectiveness through 
well-designed landscaping. 
 
The outline proposal includes areas of planting and corridor routes which could contribute to 
the value of the Kirklees Valley wildlife corridor if properly detailed.  A condition is 
recommended to secure this. 
 
Public Open Space (POS) and Recreation 
Paragraph 98 of the Framework acknowledges Access to a network of high quality open 
spaces and opportunities for sport and physical activity is important for the health and 

Page 18



well-being of communities, and can deliver wider benefits for nature and support efforts to 
address climate change 
 
An element of the application site (rear of Brownhills Close) was provided to serve the 
recreational needs of the residents of the existing adjoining development at Rosewood 
Avenue/Royds Close/Brownhills Close by application 33376 on the 21 April 1998.  A plan 
of the extent of the POS approved by this application is appended to this report for 
Members information.  
 
This land was not adopted by the Council as the developer did not create the POS up to 
adoptable standards. Since the time of that development, the development company has 
gone into liquidation. Notwithstanding the above, due to this development occurring after the 
adoption of the UDP, this area is not identified on the UDP Proposals Map.  
Notwithstanding this, the area in question is considered to be informal Public Open Space 
as such, it still requires consideration under UDP Policy RT1/1 and paragraph 99 of the 
Framework. 
 
Policy RT1/1 states that development will not be allowed on recreation space unless it 
meets specific criteria. 
 
Whilst similar, the approach in Policy RT1/1 has now been superseded by Paragraph 99(b) 
of the NPPF which states that "existing open space, sports and recreational buildings and 
land, including playing fields, should not be built on unless: 
 

• An assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open space, 
buildings or land to be surplus to requirements; 

• The loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by equivalent or 
better provision in terms of the quantity and quality in a suitable location; 

• The development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the benefits of 
which clearly outweigh the loss of the current or former use. 

 
The proposal would lead to the loss of some of the RT1/1 land (circa 0.16ha), however, the 
application also proposes to upgrade the remaining RT1/1 land through the creation of a 
more attractive, usable and accessible area of open space, upgraded paths connecting 
Bury Road and Brownhills Close with the Kirklees Valley and creation of a community 
orchard.  The upgraded RT1/1 land and the new recreation provision will continue to 
provide recreational space for the residents of the existing residential development at 
Rosewood Avenue/Royds Close/Brownhills Close. 
 
Taking the above into account, it is considered that the loss of part of the existing recreation 
space off Brownhills Close and the wider informal public open space would be replaced by 
better recreation provision in terms of both quantity and quality in accordance with 
paragraph 99(b) of the NPPF.  If approved, the application should be conditioned to ensure 
that the recreation provision is provided to ensure there is no loss of recreation space for 
the existing residential development at Rosewood Avenue, Royds Close/Brownhills Close 
while construction is taking place.  Such a condition is recommended. 
 
Additional Provision for Recreation in the Countryside 
Part of the application site is allocated for countryside recreation provision under UDP 
Policy RT3/2/4. Whilst residential development is proposed on part of this designation, the 
proposal does indicatively identify land for informal recreation and includes proposals to 
improve access from residential areas to the Kirklees Valley which accords with the general 
aims of Policy RT3/2/4. 
 
To ensure the proper and permanent management of the proposed paths and open space, 
a detailed Open Space Improvement and Management Plan would be secured by planning 
condition and would to be submitted as part of any future reserved matters application for 
the matters of Landscaping and Layout.  
 

Page 19



To conclude; on balance, the outline proposal for residential development on this site for up 
to 5 dwellings is acceptable, given its accessible location, the contribution that the proposals 
would have to meeting local housing needs and the proposed provision of new and 
enhanced recreational facilities for existing surrounding residents to use as well as future 
occupiers of the site.  This is subject to the submission of an Open Space Improvement 
and Management Plan outlined above that should include a requirement to ensure the 
recreation provision proposed for the application site and that at least 0.16 hectares of the 
land be completed prior to commencement of development to ensure suitable 
compensatory recreation provision is provided.  The proposals are therefore considered to 
accord with the requirements of Policies RT/1 and RT3/2/4 of the UDP. 
 
Access 
Within the Development Management Procedure Order 2015 (as amended) the reserved 
matter of "access" means the accessibility to and within the site, for vehicles, cycles and 
pedestrians in terms of the positioning and treatment of access and circulation routes and 
how these fit into the surrounding access network; where “site” means the site or part of the 
site in respect of which outline planning permission is granted or, as the case may be, in 
respect of which an application for such a permission has been made.   
 
The indicative masterplan indicates that four dwellings could be accessed off the existing 
eastern turning head on Brownhills Close, with a single dwelling accessed off Bury Road, 
effectively forming two separate parcels that would be connected by formal pedestrian/ 
cycle paths linking the two parcels of land together. 
 
The Highway Authority is satisfied that occupation of up to a maximum of 5 dwellings would 
not cause severe harm to the highway network and its capacity and has raised no 
objections on this basis. 
 
Proposed Access: Bury Road 
Bury Road is subject to a 30mph speed limit, is street lit and has footways on both sides. 
The area between nos. 331 and 333 Bury Road is unlit. 
 
This access for the development is proposed from Bury Road via the land between the 
gable ends of nos. 331, the former post office, now a Barbers Shop with flat above, and no. 
333, a residential dwelling.  This area of land is unmade and is used for incidental parking 
purposes for nearby residents and customers of the Barbers shop. Cars appear to park on a 
slight angle up to the gable of no. 331 with three cars parked perpendicular to the gable end 
of no. 333. 
 
Surrounding residents have raised strong concerns over the loss of parking that would 
occur by approval of an access in this locality.  The owners of the Barbers Shop have also 
raised objections that any loss of parking provision will cause harm to their business as they 
rely on the passing trade of customers, who need to park and who do not park when there 
are no spaces available in this area. 
 
Paragraph 187 of the Framework states: 
 
Planning policies and decisions should ensure that new development can be integrated 
effectively with existing businesses and community facilities (such as places of worship, 
pubs, music venues and sports clubs). Existing businesses and facilities should not have 
unreasonable restrictions placed on them as a result of development permitted after they 
were established. Where the operation of an existing business or community facility could 
have a significant adverse effect on new development (including changes of use) in its 
vicinity, the applicant (or ‘agent of change’) should be required to provide suitable mitigation 
before the development has been completed. 
 
The concerns of residents and the adjoining business have been carefully considered. 
 
The Highway Authority considers that the informal historic parking arrangement between the 

Page 20



two terraces that exists does not meet today's highway safety standards and has sought to 
improve both pedestrian and vehicular safety from Bury Road over to the Kirklees Trail.  
 
The Highway Authority has sought additional information relating to the access proposed 
from Bury Road in between nos. 331 and 333, during the course of the application and is 
satisfied with the amended parking layout shown on drawing no. J1215 Figure 1, which is to 
be paved, but left unmarked, and which would provide a designated pedestrian route, would 
lead to safer manoeuvrability for both existing cars and also pedestrian highway users. The 
pedestrian route would result in the loss of two/ three parking spaces which would no longer 
be able to park against the gable and boundary of no. 333 Bury Road.  However, the 
Highway Authority consider that the current informal parking area as it stands is not safe for 
all users of the highway and the loss of these informal parking spaces would improve 
highway safety for all highway users.  This weighs in favour of the proposal. 
 
The Highway Authority also consider that the loss of the space for vehicles to park along the 
gable and boundary of no. 333 Bury Road would not result in conditions so harmful, or 
severe, to highway safety that a reason for refusal on this basis could not be justified.     
   
Trees exist on the boundaries of the site along the proposed access route.  A planning 
condition is recommended to ensure an Arboricultural Survey is undertaken to ensure 
mitigation of the trees and any necessary replacement planting is secured through reserved 
matters (landscaping). 
 
Access: Brownhills Close 
Brownhills Close is a cul-de-sac accessed from Rosewood Avenue.  Rosewood Avenue is 
subject to a 20mph speed limit, is street lit, has footways on both sides and is traffic calmed 
with speed humps. The junction between Bury Road and Rosewood Avenue is controlled by 
a mini round about.  Brownhill Close is subject to a 20mph speed limit and is street lit but 
has no footways. It is approximately 6m wide and is block paved. 
 
The proposed access here is indicated on Drawing J1215 Figure 2. The submitted plan 
shows the eastern turning head being extended to accommodate 4 dwellings.  
 
The Highway Authority is satisfied that this access would be safe and would not result in the 
significant displacement of cars from the turning head that could not be parked elsewhere in 
the vicinity. 
 
Fire Safety 
The Fire Service are of the opinion that given the proposed indicative site layout would 
create a cul-de-sac from Bury Road to Brownhills Close in excess of 250 metres in length 
with the single point of entry to the proposed development being unsatisfactory as any 
obstruction along the single access road could prevent emergency vehicles from entering 
the estate and restrict access to the dwelling, increasing attendance time and posing a risk 
to public life.   
 
A site layout which is considered unacceptable on the grounds of accessibility for fire 
appliances may become acceptable if the buildings are equipped with sprinkler systems 
which are strongly recommended for buildings that are more than 250 meters from an 
access road.  Residential sprinkler systems are therefore recommended by GMFRS for this 
development as they allow for a longer response time to emergency situations and may be 
deemed suitable to overcome the site deficiencies of the proposal. 
 
In addition, GMF&RS advise the proposal should meet the recognised Approved Document 
requirements for Fire Service access: 

• Vehicular access for a fire appliance to within 45m of all points within the dwellings 

• The access road should be a minimum width of 4.5m and capable of carrying 12.5 
tonnes 

• If the access road is more than 20m long a turning circle, hammerhead, or other turning 
point for fire appliances will be required 

Page 21



• There should be a suitable fire hydrant within 165m of the furthest dwelling. 
 
The Traffic Section has no objections, subject to the inclusion of conditions relating to 
construction traffic management plan, turning facilities and sprinklers being installed in the 
two development areas and securing details. The reserved matter of Layout would ensure 
that each dwelling would have sufficient off-road parking provision, and provision would be 
made to visitors of the site.  Subject to the recommended planning conditions, the 
proposed development would be in accordance with the relevant sections of Policies EN1/2, 
H2/1, H2/2 and HT6/2 of the Bury Unitary Development Plan. 
 
Public Right of Way 
Objectors raise concerns over the public rights of way that are clearly evident on the site.  
The Council’s Highways Public Right of Way (PRoW) Officer has confirmed that there are 
no designated PRoW across this land, however, the Officer acknowledges that the 
pedestrian routes through the site are clear and, indeed, on inspecting the site, a footpath 
stile exists linking the site to and from the Kirklees Trail.   
 
NPPF, para. 100 states: “Planning policies and decisions should protect and enhance public 
rights of way and access, including taking opportunities to provide better facilities for users, 
for example by adding links to existing rights of way networks. 
 
The indicative Masterplan indicates a number of paths through the site linking Bury Road 
and Brownhills Close to the Kirklees Trail and the submission proposes improvements to 
the paths through the site to enable easier access for local residents which will allow less 
able-bodied people to experience the site and the Kirklees Trail.  Conditions are 
recommended to secure the proposed pedestrian routes through the site.  The proposals 
are therefore considered to meet the requirements of the Framework. 
 
Both accesses 
Due to the changes in land levels at both ends of the site it would be necessary to provide a 
safe access for all highway users, the Highway Authority have requested specific details be 
provided in respect of both accesses relating to any necessary level changes prior to any 
work commencing on site.  This condition is duly recommended. 
 
It is considered the submitted details relating to the access arrangements to the site would 
result in conditions that are in compliance with the Council’s highway safety standards.  
Securing the improvement of the pedestrian routes through the site would be secured 
through the matter of Layout and by condition.  The proposals are considered to result in 
benefits to the public, some of whom will currently be unable to access the site due to the 
ground conditions and the semi-rural nature of the application site. 
 
To conclude, subject to the conditions recommended, the proposals accord with Policies 
H1/2, HT2/1, HT5/1 and HT6/2 of the adopted Local Plan and the NPPF. 
 
Ground Conditions 
The site is currently an area of informal public open space. Surrounding land uses include 
housing and open land. Previous land uses at the site have included landfilling and waste 
disposal activities, while in the surrounding area previous uses have included railway land 
and Leeman Hill Mill.  
 
The site itself includes a former landfill site known as Bury Road, Tottington Landfill. This 
landfill site is a former gravel pit which was filled with industrial, bleach & dye works waste, 
between 1875 and 1977 and in 1977 hardcore waste was tipped on top.  The fill material is 
thought to be up to 14m deep. The site is unlicensed and was operated by Roberts Waste 
Disposal. A previous limited investigation (carried out for development to the north of the 
landfill) identified blue material with high concentrations of cadmium, lead and lubricating oil 
located towards the northern boundary of the landfill.  
 
A tributary of the Kirklees Brook flows beneath the site and is culverted in places. The 

Page 22



natural geology beneath the site comprises of glaciofluvial sand and gravel deposits and 
glacial till over the Old Lawrence Rock Secondary A aquifer. Significant depths of made 
ground are likely to be present on site. 
 
The submitted desk study split the site into 3 distinct areas which were given different risk 
rating:  

• Zone 1 - Green - located to south of Brownhills Close - this area was not part of the 
former landfill site and is likely to be the least contaminated part of the site.  The 
indicative proposals is for up to 4 no. dwellings. 

• Zone 2 - Amber - located north of Bury Road - likely to be the deepest part of landfill site 
but land is generally level. Based on historical maps it is likely that a tributary of the 
Kirklees Brook is culverted beneath this area. The proposal indicatively shows for 1 no. 
house and new community orchard.  

• Zone 3 - Red - located to north of Cedar Fold - northern part of landfill site and includes 
steep vegetated slopes. Considered unsuitable for development - proposal for new 
footpaths only. 

 
The applicant's consultant considered that the site poses a risk to future site users and the 
environment, and that intrusive investigations were required. This should assess the risks to 
human health from soil contamination and ground gas/vapours and to controlled waters 
including the underlying aquifer and surface waters on the site. Within the report it was 
recommended that the Environment Agency is consulted regarding potential risks to 
controlled waters and waste management issues. A survey for invasive species, such as 
Japanese Knotweed, was also required.  These matters have been addressed by planning 
conditions that are recommended. 
 
Due to the history of the site and proposed end uses, the Council required that a site 
investigation be undertaken before a decision on the application could be made. An initial 
site investigation therefore accompanies this application. 
 
Based on the investigation to date, the applicant's consultant considers that there is a 
moderate risk to controlled waters. However, further investigation is proposed to confirm the 
contamination risk. The Council's Contaminated Land Officers also consider further intrusive 
site investigation works are required prior to commencement of development. This would be 
secured by planning condition. 
 
In relation to ground gas, the submitted details found the risk to future site users from 
vapour is considered to be low. 
 
Overall, the Council's Contaminated Land section is satisfied that sufficient information has 
been submitted to enable the Council to make a decision on this application, and subject to 
a planning condition requiring; 
i.)   Further detailed site detailed site investigation and risk assessment report,  
ii.)  Updated detailed Remediation Strategy and Validation Plan. 
iii.) Confirmation that the Environment Agency is satisfied with the controlled waters risk  
     assessment and any proposed remedial actions.  
iv.) Japanese knotweed and invasive species survey and validation information to 
demonstrate the eradication action was successful.  
v.) After completion of site works, a verification report is required to validate that the work 
undertaken conforms to the remediation proposals received and agreed by Officers. 
   
The Council's Environmental Health Officers and the Environment Agency have suggested 
planning conditions to ensure this information is submitted to and agreed in writing in 
conjunction with the Local Planning Authority. Subject to the inclusion of these conditions, 
that are included in the list of recommended planning conditions, the development should 
ensure that controlled waters, and that future occupiers of the development would not be 
harmed by these proposals.   
 
Utilities, Drainage and Flood Risk 

Page 23



Paragraph 167 of the NPPF (2021) states that Local Planning Authorities should ensure 
flood risk is not increased elsewhere (i.e. outside areas at risk of flooding) and only consider 
development appropriate in areas at risk of flooding where proposals are informed by a 
site-specific flood risk assessment. 
 
UDP Policy EN5/1 concerns itself with new development and flood risk and states the 
Council will not permit new development, including the raising of land, and the intensification 
of development, where such development would be at risk from flooding, or would be likely 
to increase the risk of flooding elsewhere, or affect river flood defences.  
 
The application site is located in Flood Zone 1 which is identified as being an area which 
has the lowest risk of flooding.  
 
The applicants have undertaken a review of the United Utilities (UU) sewer records and 
have identified multiple sewer networks to be present within the site boundary. These will 
need to be accounted for within any planning layout in the form of a no-build offset. A 
diversion in some cases may be possible subject to early discussion with UU. Where 
diversion is not practical then any proposed planning layout will need to allow for the 
required offset from the centreline of the sewer(s) on both sides.  This information can be 
secured through the reserved matter of Layout and a condition securing this is therefore 
recommended. 
 
A Drainage Strategy accompanies the application.  Due to the relatively low flood risks 
identified, the principle focus of the submitted Drainage Strategy is on the sustainable 
management of surface water run-off to ensure no increased flood risk would result from the 
development.  
 
There are three methods that have been reviewed for the management and discharge of 
surface water, in accordance with the sustainable drainage hierarchy. These may be 
applied individually or collectively to form a complete strategy and should be applied in the 
order of priority; discharge via infiltration, discharge to watercourse, discharge to public 
sewerage system. 
 
Based on the ground conditions identified by the published online datasets, infiltration 
would not be considered a feasible option for managing surface water run-off generated by 
future development. To confirm the specific infiltration rates, as these can vary on a 
site-by-site basis, Soakaway Testing (to BRE365) may need to be commissioned in due 
course. 
 
As infiltration is not likely to be feasible, the submitted assessment has also considered the 
alternative options for managing surface water run-off generated. The next method in the 
sustainable drainage hierarchy is discharge surface water run-off generated by the 
proposals to a nearby watercourse. The nearest watercourse is the Ordinary Watercourse, 
which flows within the wider site extent from the western to the eastern boundary. The 
Ordinary Watercourse is both open channel and culverted through the wider site and 
ultimately outfalls into Kirklees Brook less than 200m from the site. 
 
The proposals for surface water management at the site is proposed to mimic the 
redevelopment situation where at all feasible and continue to discharge surface water 
run-off (at a restricted rate) to the Ordinary Watercourse network. Given that there would 
likely to be two distinct development areas within the wider site there will be a requirement 
to have two generate surface water systems serving each area. 
 
Where levels and engineering constraints allow, the proposals propose to form new formal 
surface water connections to the Ordinary Watercourse network. Where there are further 
constraints and two new direct outfalls to the watercourse are not practical, then the 
proposals would seek to utilise the short lengths of existing public surface water sewers 
which currently cross the site and outfall to the watercourse for conveyance. 
 

Page 24



The applicants have held consultation with United Utilities and state they have confirmed 
they would consider split surface water connection into the public surface water sewer 
(300mm dia.) located within the site boundary at a rate not exceeding 5 l/s at each 
respective connection point, should a direction connection into the watercourse not be 
feasible. 
 
Detailed design will need to refine the drainage strategy, based on any agreed sewer 
diversion works, design engineering constraints and final planning layouts. Given the 
existing ground levels a gravity solution is anticipated to be practical although this will again 
need to be confirmed following full review of design levels. This approach is considered to 
be reasonable by Officers.  It is considered that suitable conditions would be sufficient to 
secure appropriate drainage of the site that would not result in flooding further downstream 
or in the locality.   
 
United Utilities have raised no objection to the proposals in principle, subject to their 
suggested condition being imposed and the location of UU's assets and their associated 
standoff distances being taken into account under the reserved matter of Layout.  This has 
been secured by the recommended planning conditions. 
 
Subject to the recommended planning conditions, the proposals are considered to accord 
with the requirements of the NPPF in relation to flood risk and drainage and Policy EN5/1 of 
the Unitary Development Plan. 
 
Impact upon surrounding area 
UDP Policies EN1/1 and EN1/2 concern themselves with the effect of proposals on visual 
amenity and the design and impact on the surrounding area. 
 
By its nature, the development would have an urbanising impact on this semi-natural 
landscape. However, subject to the sympathetic siting of proposals, and the landscaping 
and biodiversity mitigation and enhancement conditions recommended could ensure the 
impact of the proposed development is not only mitigated, the impact on biodiversity would 
be both mitigated and enhanced along with the public access and use of the land for 
recreational wellbeing purposes would be demonstrably improved, particularly from the Bury 
Road end of the site. 
 
This matter will be fully considered under the reserved matters of appearance, layout and 
landscaping. 
 
The indicative proposals indicate that the proposed level of development could be 
accommodated on the site without causing demonstrable harm to the site and surroundings.  
The proposal therefore accords with the requirements of policies EN1/1 and EN1/2 of the 
Unitary Development Plan. 
  
Impact upon residential amenity 
Policy H1/2 of the UDP states that the Council will have regard to various factors when 
assessing a proposal for residential development, including, amongst other things, the 
suitability of the site, with regard to amenity, of surrounding land uses.  This includes the 
impact on residential amenity. 
 
The application site has adjoining residents to three sides at the end of the site nearest Bury 
Road, and residents on two sides of the site at the end to be accessed from Brownhills 
Close. 
 
The indicative Masterplan indicates that one dwelling could be sited between the rear of 
dwellings on Bury Road, Royds Close and Cedar Fold.  One dwelling here, as shown 
indicatively, could be designed in such a way to cause minimal impact on the amenity of 
occupiers of these roads. 
 
The Indicative Masterplan also illustrates that up to 4 dwellings could be accommodated on 

Page 25



the land accessed from Brownhills Close without causing undue harm to neighbouring 
occupiers. 
 
The layout and appearance of all dwellings to ensure he amenity of neighbouring residents 
would not be unduly harmed, would be secured at reserved matters stage. 
 
The proposals therefore comply with Policy H1/2 of the Bury Unitary Development Plan. 
 
Trees 
UDP Policy EN8 – Woodlands and Trees supports the retention of trees, woods, copses 
and hedgerows, natural regeneration, and new and replacement planting.   
 
Trees protected by Tree Preservation Order (TPO) exist within the application site, and in 

close proximity to the boundaries of the application site on 3rd party land, and existing 
within the application site itself that will need to be taken account of when designing 
proposals and improvements to the existing rights of way across the site.   Due to this, a 
planning condition is considered necessary to require the developer to submit a detailed 
Arboricultural Report and Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) in accordance with 
BS5837:2012: Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction to be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority at reserved matters stage. Subject 
to the above-mentioned planning condition, the proposals would accord with Policy EN8 of 
the adopted Local Plan. 
 
The trees on the site also have a biodiversity value and this will be considered as part of the 
reserved matters. 
 
Biodiversity 
Section 174 of the NPPF states that the planning policies and decisions should contribute to 
and enhance the natural and local environment. 
 
The majority of the site is allocated within the adopted plan as a Wildlife Link and Corridor(s) 
(UDP Policy EN6/4).   
 
The area of the site directly abutting the Kirklees Trail and its brook are allocated in the UDP 
as being within both a Grade A Site of Biological Importance, as the watercourse, known as 
the Kirklees Brook, is a Site of Biological Interest (SBI), under UDP Policy EN6/1. The area 
abutting Kirklees Brook is allocated within the UDP under UDP Policy EN6/2 as a Local 
Nature Reserve and Grade B and C Site of Biological Importance. 
 
The application site as a whole therefore holds ecological value. The most ecologically 
valuable habitats are considered to be the woodland, continuous scrub, and the 
watercourse present on the site. These habitats provide cover from predation, a source of 
nectar and pollen for invertebrates, as well as foraging, commuting and overwintering 
opportunities. The grasslands if maintained long also provides some of these benefits. The 
woodland and scrub also offer nesting habitat for birds.  
 
The proposed outline development seeks permission for the construction of residential units 
in the west and south of the site. This will cause the loss of semi-improved grassland and 
poor-semi-improved grassland. 
 
The application is accompanied by a Phase 1 Habitat Survey for the application site, carried 
out by Rachel Hacking Ecology, dated August 2020 was submitted at the time of the 
application.  Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU), have accepted the findings of this 
ecological report previously, the findings of which is considered by GMEU still valid. This 
recommendation has been made on this basis. 
 
The ecological report is still considered to be valid given the Outline nature of these 
proposals with no layout being applied for.  However due to both the application type and 
the report being already aged, updates will likely be required prior to development. A 

Page 26



condition is therefore recommended requiring an updated Extended Phase 1 habitat survey 
to be submitted and agreed as part of reserved matters. 
 
Bats  
No direct impacts on bats is likely. The indirect risk that could occur is if street lighting or 
other external lighting was directed towards the watercourse or woodland edge. The 
indicative masterplan shows a reduced impact to the site, with no likely impact on the Brook 
as the woodland is to be retained and the houses are indicated as backing on to the 
woodland thereby shielding the woodland edge from any street lights. This could be secured 
at reserved matters stage and therefore Officers are satisfied that the risk are very low and 
given this is an outline application no further information is required at this time. Conditions 
are recommended at this stage that requires details of the any proposed lighting, their 
positions and intensity and any necessary mitigation measures to be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the LPA prior to any above-ground works occurring on the site as 
well as the impact on biodiversity being reassessed through the reserved matters stage(s). 
 
Badgers  
It is suspected that badger forage on the site. No setts were however located.  
 
It is an offence under the Protection of Badgers Act 1992 to interfere with a badger sett 
intentionally or recklessly, or to willfully kill, injure, ill-treat, take or possess a badger or 
attempt to do so. Under advice from GMEU it is recommend that as part of any reserved 
matters application an updated survey for badger setts is provided and reasonable 
avoidance measure provided to protect badgers from accidental harm during construction.   
 
A condition requiring an updated survey of the site and adjacent land, that also looks for 
badger sets and to secure appropriate reasonable avoidance methods is recommended, to 
reduce the risk of harm to individual badgers during construction is therefore recommended. 
 
Nesting Birds  
The development is likely to result in the loss of bird nesting habitat.  
 
All British birds, nests and eggs (with certain limited exceptions) are protected by Section 1 
of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), as amended. It is recommended a 
condition is imposed to ensure that no works to trees or shrubs shall occur between the lst 
March and 31st August in any year, unless a detailed bird nest survey by a suitably 
experienced ecologist has been carried out immediately prior to clearance and written 
confirmation provided that no active bird nests are present which has been agreed in writing 
by the LPA. An Informative advising the applicant of the requirements of the Wildlife & 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended). 
 
Invasive Species  
Himalayan Balsam, Japanese Knotweed and Monbretia were identified on the site all listed 
under Schedule 9, Part 2 of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) as 
non-native plants.  A condition is recommended requiring a Method Statement for the 
removal/ control of these invasive plants. 
 
Protection of the Watercourse  
There are risks during and post construction of negative impacts to the watercourse a 
tributary of the Kirklees Brook, flowing into the Local Nature Reserve. The indicative layout 
indicates that risks during construction would be very low with a significant buffer of 
vegetation retained between construction and the watercourse. Officers are satisfied that 
standard best practice during construction can prevent any impacts. As part of reserved 
matters, a Construction and Environmental Management Plan condition is recommended, 
which would include a section relating to the protection of the watercourse.  
 
Post development, it is proposed to discharge surface water to the Brook. There is 
therefore, the potential for negative impacts from increased discharge levels, increased 
levels of sediment and various pollutants. As part of reserved matters, it is recommended 

Page 27



full details of the sustainable drainage measures proposed that demonstrate no negative 
impacts to biodiversity and water quality would occur. A condition is recommended that 
would secure this. 
 
Contributing to and Enhancing the Natural Environment  
Section 174 of the NPPF 2021 states that the planning policies and decisions should 
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment. The development would result 
in the loss of a relatively small area of semi-natural habitat, with significant areas retained 
that provide scope for mitigation. Accordingly, a condition is recommended securing a 
biodiversity mitigation and enhancement plan for loss of habitats and species interest. 
 
Dealing with invasive species across the site.  
This is currently unmanaged and is spreading across the site, and in all likelihood (unless it 
is arrested) will soon spread beyond the confines of the site.  These invasive species are 
undermining the biodiversity value of the site.  Some invasive species can also negatively 
affect properties.  Landowners are responsible for controlling invasive species. The issue in 
this case is that the landowner ceased trading through liquidation and cannot be pursued. 
Hence no management of the land occurs or would until permission is approved for this 
development, at which point the land will fall into the ownership of the Applicant, who would 
then be responsible for managing the invasive species. A planning condition to control the 
invasive species on site is duly recommended.  
 
To summarise, subject to the recommended planning conditions, issues relating to badger, 
bats, nesting birds, invasive species, protection of the Brook and the Kirklees Valley and 
ecological mitigation can be dealt with at reserved matters stage by requiring updated 
habitat assessments to be undertaken and that stage and via planning conditions at this 
outline stage.  It is considered that subject to suitable mitigation, enhancements and net 
gain, the biodiversity value of the site can both be mitigated and enhanced.  On this basis, 
the proposals would accord with the requirements of UDP Policies EN6/1, EN6/2 and EN6/4 
of the UDP, the National Planning Policy Framework and the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981 (as amended). 
 
Air Quality 
The site is not located within an Air Quality Management Are and Environmental Health has 
raised no objections to the scheme in terms of its impact on air quality.  
 
Due to the scale of the development (up to 5 dwellings) it is considered unlikely that the 
development would create an increase of more than 500 AADT (annual average daily 
traffic). Therefore, in line with the EPUK Guidance, an air quality assessment is not 
required.  However, Bury Council has been identified by DEFRA as an area requiring to 
significantly improve air quality. The required measures to do this are currently under 
discussion.  However, to encourage the use of alternative fuels and reduce car emissions, 
it is considered a condition be attached requiring a scheme for the installation of electric 
vehicle charging points, within each parking area, be submitted to the LPA as part of the 
reserved matters application. Subject to this condition, it is considered the proposal 
complies with Policy EN71 of the Bury Unitary Development Plan.  
 
Crime and Disorder 
A couple of objections has raised in their objections concerns relating to crime and disorder. 
Both the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and Planning Practice Guidance 
(PPG) set out guidance in creating safe and accessible communities, with the NPPF 
recommending that local planning authorities ensure their policies and decisions aim to 
create safe and accessible environments where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, 
do not undermine quality of life or community cohesion and resilience.  
 
The consideration of crime and disorder cannot be fully considered at this stage due to the 
Outline nature of these proposals, this would be considered at reserved matters stage, 
however secured a this outline stage.  A  a condition is therefore recommended to secure 
a Crime Impact Assessment at Reserved Matters. 

Page 28



 
Mineral Safeguarding 
The application site is positioned within an allocated Minerals Safeguarding Area for 
Surface Coal, Brickclay, Sandstone, Sand and Gravel. 
 
Policy 8 of the joint Greater Manchester Combined Authority Minerals Plan states that all 
non-mineral development proposals within the Mineral Safeguarding Area should extract 
any viable mineral resources present in advance of construction. 
 
Proposals for non-mineral development within the Mineral Safeguarding Areas that do not 
allow for the prior extraction of minerals will only be permitted where, amongst other things, 
It can be clearly demonstrated that it is not environmentally acceptable or economically 
viable to extract the mineral prior to non-mineral development taking place. 
 
It is considered that in this case, the site is heavily constrained against minerals extraction 
taking place, by the narrow access to the site from Bury Road making it highly unlikely 
quarry wagons and drilling machines could safely enter and leave the site, and residential 
properties bordering the site and the Brownhills Close end of the site is unsuitable for 
mineral extraction, due to the access to the site being through the Brownhills Close, 
Rosewood Avenue and Royds Close residential developments. The site is also constrained 
on three sides by residential development.  For these reasons, the proposals are 
acceptable in this regard, and thus accord with Policy 8 of the Greater Manchester Minerals 
Plan.    
 
Response to objectors 
Many of the concerns and objections received were issues that are considered to be 
material planning considerations.  These have been addressed throughout the content of 
this report. 
 
Response to objectors 

• The issues relating to loss of public open space, trees, ecology, privacy, loss of light, 
highway safety, parking and the impact on local business have been addressed in the 
report above. 

• The issues relating to the principle of developing on Other Protected Open Land (OPOL) 
have been addressed in the report. 

• The issues raised relating to the impact on biodiversity/ wildlife have been addressed in 
the report. 

• A play area was originally proposed but has been deleted from the scheme. This is 
stated in the Description Section of the report above. 

• The proposed recreational enhancements (The Orchard and improvement to pedestrian 
routes) would be maintained by the developer/ any management company set up by the 
developer, and not by the Council. Planning conditions are recommended to secure this. 

• The proposed development would not meet the threshold for affordable housing and as 
such, this is not a requirement of this application.  

• Condition 30 requires the installation of electric vehicle charging points, which would 
reduce the impact upon air quality. 

• The issue of land ownership is a private matter and is not a material planning 
consideration. As such, it cannot be taken into consideration.  The Procedural Issues 
section of the report provides further information. 

• The impact of noise during construction and the loss of views are not material planning 
considerations and cannot be taken into consideration. 

• The issue of subsidence during construction would be covered by the Building 
Regulations and is not a material planning consideration.  

• The impact upon drainage is addressed in this report and by condition 5 of this report 

• Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) is not yet mandatory, with the exception of paragraph 174d) 
of the Framework.  This has been addressed by all of the suggested planning 
conditions (nos. 4, 6, 9, 13, and 17) including requiring an updated Phase 1 Habitat 
Survey to be submitted at first reserved matters stage (condition no. 6). 

Page 29



• Crime including Anti-social behaviour on the orchard has been addressed in the report 
and by planning condition no. 22  

• Further bat surveys are required at submission of the first reserved matters. This has 
been secured by recommended condition no.6 requiring the first reserved matters 
application to be accompanied by a Phase 1 Habitat Survey. 

• The Council has no evidence that Tottington does not have the infrastructure to support 
any more housing and the Borough of Bury is not meeting its required housing provision 

• Rights of way over the land/ public open space have been addressed in the report 

• Residents' compensation - The planning system offers no compensation.   

• Constraints of the site - Officers recognise there are varying land levels and 
watercourses on the site.  This has been addressed in the report and a number of 
planning conditions are recommended to address the issues raised. 

• Proposals compliance with Building Regulations - Whilst this may be the case, the 
NPPF, at paragraph 188 advises that the focus of planning policies and decisions 
should be on whether proposed development is an acceptable use of land, rather than 
the control of matters that are subject to separate legislation and regimes. Whether the 
proposal would comply with the requirements of Building Control, is therefore not a 
planning matter and is therefore this is not a consideration for Members in the 
consideration and determination of this planning application.  The issue raised 
regarding fire safety is addressed on the report. 

 
 
Planning Balance and Conclusions  
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) should be treated as a material planning 
consideration, and it emphasises the need for local planning authorities to boost the supply 
of housing to meet local housing targets in both the short and long term. The Framework 
maintains the emphasis on identifying a rolling five-year supply of deliverable housing land. 
The latest monitoring indicates that the Council is unable to demonstrate a five-year supply 
of deliverable housing land.  The presumption in favour of sustainable development 
therefore applies and the tilted balance in favour of the proposals, as required by NPPF, 
paragraph 11d), unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework 
taken as a whole.   
 
The site is considered to be in a sustainable location for housing, abutting the urban area 
and sitting outside the Green Belt.  It is considered that OL5/2 is satisfied as the proposed 
development at this stage, shown indicatively, does not divide the valley into sections and 
instead offers increased public access to the Kirklees Trails.   
 
Furthermore, the proposed development in principle would, at the Bury Road end of the site, 
represent limited infilling of an area between properties on Cedar Fold and Royds Close. At 
the Brownhills Close end of the site the indicative details would form rounding off 
development and development that would be sited adjacent to existing dwellings so would 
relate well to existing residential development. This weighs in favour of the proposed 
amount of development. 
 
It is considered that the loss of part of the existing allocated recreation space/ informal 
Public Open Space off Brownhills Close would be replaced by better recreation provision in 
terms of both quantity and quality on the wider site, in accordance with the requirements of 
paragraph 99(b) of the NPPF.  A condition is recommended to secure this. It is also evident 
that the recreational offer of this site would be enhanced by the proposed improvements to 
the paths and by the proposed community orchard.  This again weighs in favour of 
approving the proposal. 
 
The majority of the site is also unallocated/ informal Public Open Space and planning 
conditions are recommended to ensure that whilst two portions of the land are indicated for 
development, the loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by 
equivalent or better provision in terms of the quantity and quality in a suitable location, by 
proposing improved footpath links and treating and eradicating the invasive species that 

Page 30



occupy large areas of this application site and land directly adjoining the site, shown within 
the submitted blue edge. This is also a positive aspect of the development. 
 
The application site is covered by policies relating to River Valleys (OL5/2), Wildlife Links 
and Corridors (EN6/4), Protection of Recreation Provision in the Urban Area (RT1/1) and 
Additional Provision for Recreation in the Countryside (RT3/2) in the adopted Bury Unitary 
Development Plan.  Provided satisfactory mitigation is achieved for biodiversity, secured by 
the recommended planning conditions, the proposal would not compromise the function of 
this swathe of land as a Wildlife Corridor abutting the Kirklees Brook Site of Biological 
Importance and Nature Reserve.  Biodiversity would be mitigated and enhanced, in line 
with para. 174d) of the Framework. On this basis, the proposals would accord with the 
requirements of UDP Policies EN6/1, EN6/2 and EN6/4 of the UDP, the National Planning 
Policy Framework and the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended).  Biodiversity 
enhancements and net-gains weigh heavily in favour of the proposals. 
 
A number of trees within the application site, and within close proximity to the boundaries of 
the site are protected by Tree Preservation Order. A condition is recommended to secure an 
Arboricultural Report and Arboricultural Method Statement at first reserved matters stage to 
ensure all trees on the site are properly considered, managed and appropriate mitigation is 
secured through the first reserved matters submission. Any necessary replacement planting 
would also be secured at reserved matters stage.  These outline proposals are therefore 
considered to accord with UDP Policy EN8.  This weighs neutrally in the balance. 
 
In terms of Utilities, Drainage and Flood Risk, the submitted Drainage Strategy indicates 
that residential development of the scale proposed would not increase the risk of flooding 
elsewhere or affect river flood defences. This again weighs neutrally in the planning 
balance. 
 
In relation to the concerns over the loss of informal parking provision and the 
re-organisation of the area between nos. 331 and 333 Bury Road, by local residents and the 
Barber Shop are understood.  Indeed, any harm to the operations of businesses does 
weigh against the proposal.  
 
The Highway Authority is satisfied with the access proposals which include the proposed 
reorganisation of the informal parking area and advise that this would actually improve 
highway safety in this locality for all highway users. The Highway Authority is also satisfied 
that the proposals would not cause severe harm to highway safety.  This matter weighs in 
favour of the proposals. All other material planning matters are considered to acceptable, 
subject to the recommended planning conditions.   
 
Taking into account all of the above, it is clear that when weighing the positives against the 
harm, the positives demonstrable outweigh the harm identified.  Paragraph 11d) of the 
Framework therefore considers these proposals to constitute sustainable development.  
 
In view of all the above, the proposal complies with the relevant provisions of the 
development plan as a whole, and as such the proposal is considered to comply with the 
Development Plan when taken as a whole and there are no material considerations which 
outweigh this finding. Therefore, in accordance with Section 38(6) of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and the Framework it is considered that planning 
permission should be granted, subject to the recommended planning conditions.   
  
 
 
Recommendation:  Approve with Conditions 
 
Conditions/ Reasons 
 

1. Applications for approval of reserved matters must be made not later than: 
 

Page 31



• the expiration of three years beginning with the date of the grant of outline 
planning permission; and 

• that the development to which the permission relates must be begun not later 
than the expiration of two years from the final approval of the reserved matters 
or, in the case of approval on different dates, the final approval of the last such 
matter to be approved. 

 
Reason. Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 

 

2. Before the development is commenced, the applicant shall submit detailed plans 
and particulars to the Local Planning Authority, and obtain their approval under the 
Town and Country Planning Acts, of the following reserved matters; the layout, 
scale, appearance, access thereto and the landscaping of the site. 
 
Reason. To ensure the satisfactory development of the site and because this 
application is in outline only. 

 

3. This permission relates to the following plans:  
 
Drawing no. YD2_BC_SP001: Site Location Plan 
Drawing no. J1215 access Fig. 1 [Bury Road] 
Drawing no. J1215 access Fig. 2 [Brownhills Close] 
YD2_BH_LP001 Rev. A: Illustrative Masterplan 
 
Except as provided for by other conditions to this permission, any application for 
approval of reserved matters submitted pursuant to condition 3 of this permission 
shall accord with the outline permission insofar as it relates to the site and the 
maximum number of dwellings to no more than 5 in the locations indicated. 
 
Reason: The application is granted in outline only in accordance with the 
provisions of Article 4 of the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) Order 2015. Access has been applied for and any 
application for reserved matters must be in accordance with the parameters 
established as part of this permission 
 

 

4. As part of the submission of the first reserved matters application, a detailed 

Arboricultural Report and Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) in accordance 

with BS5837:2012 Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

The AMS shall include full details of the following:  

a) Timing and phasing of Arboricultural works in relation to the approved 

development including those works identified in Section 4.2 'Direct Impacts' 

of the approved Arboricultural Report & Impact Assessment.  

b) Detailed tree felling and / or pruning specification in accordance with 

BS3998:2010 recommendations for Tree Works.  

c) Details of a tree protection scheme in accordance with BS5837:2012: 

which provides for the retention and protection of trees, shrubs and hedges 

growing on or adjacent to the site.    

d) Details of any construction works required within the root protection area 

as defined by BS5837:2012 regarding providing satisfactory mitigation, 

employing no-dig type construction methods with a porous final surface. 

e) Details of any changes in ground level, including existing and proposed 

Page 32



spot levels required within the root protection area as defined by 

BS5837:2012. 

f) Details of the arrangements for the implementation, supervision and 

monitoring of works required to comply with the Arboricultural Method 

Statement.  

Works shall be undertaken in strict accordance with the approved AMS. 

Thereafter all trees identified to be retained shall be protected in 

accordance with the approved AMS to ensure that: 

a.  All tree felling and /or pruning works shall be carried out in full 

accordance with the approved specification and the requirements of 

British Standard 3998:2010 (as amended) - Recommendations for Tree 

Works. 

b. No excavations for services, storage of materials or machinery, parking 

of vehicles, deposit or excavation of soil or rubble, or disposal of liquids 

shall take place within any area designated as being fenced off or 

otherwise protected in the approved protection scheme. 

c. No fires should be lit within 6m of the furthest extent of the canopy of 

any tree or tree group to be retained as part of the approved scheme. 

d. Protective fencing shall be retained intact for the full duration of the 

development hereby approved and shall not be removed or 

repositioned without the prior written approval of the Local Planning 

Authority. 

e. No development or other operations shall take place except in 

complete accordance with the approved protection scheme and 

Arboricultural Method Statement. 

Reason: Details are required at reserved matters to ensure the continued 

well-being of the trees both within the site and within influencing distance of the 

site, in the interests of the amenity and environmental quality of the locality and 

biodiversity, in accordance with Policies EN8, EN8/1, EN6/1 and EN6/4 of the 

Unitary Development Plan. 

 
 

5. As part of the submission of the first reserved matters application, details of a 

sustainable surface water drainage scheme and a foul water drainage scheme 

shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 

drainage schemes must include: 

(i) An investigation of the hierarchy of drainage options in the National 

Planning Practice Guidance (or any subsequent amendment thereof). 

This investigation shall include evidence of an assessment of ground 

conditions, the potential for infiltration of surface water in accordance 

with BRE365; 

(ii) A restricted rate of discharge of surface water agreed with the local 

planning authority (if it is agreed that infiltration is discounted by the 

investigations).  

(iii) Levels of the proposed drainage systems including proposed ground 

and finished floor levels in AOD;  

(iv) Incorporate mitigation measures to manage the risk of sewer 

Page 33



surcharge; and 

(v) Foul and surface water shall drain on separate systems within the site. 

The approved schemes shall also be in accordance with the Non-Statutory 

Technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems (March 2015) or any 

subsequent replacement national standards and no surface water shall discharge 

to the public sewer either directly or indirectly. 

Prior to occupation of the proposed development, the drainage schemes shall be 

completed in accordance with the approved details and retained thereafter for the 

lifetime of the development. 

Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to 

manage the risk of flooding and pollution, in accordance with Policy EN5/1 of the 

Bury Unitary Development Plan. 

 
 

6. As part of first reserved matters an updated Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey(s) 

shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: In order to ensure adequate protection of existing landscape features of 

ecological value and to achieve appropriate landscape and biodiversity 

enhancements as part of the development in accordance with the requirements of 

Policies EN6/1, EN6/2 and EN6/4 of the Unitary Development Plan, the National 

Planning Policy Framework and the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as 

amended). 

 
 

7. As part of first reserved matters an updated survey of the site and adjacent land 
where accessible for badger setts shall be provided and a reasonable avoidance 
method statement provided to reduce the risk of harm to individual badgers during 
construction also provided, supplied to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 
 
Reason: It is an offence Under the Protection of Badgers Act 1992 to intentionally 
or recklessly interfere with a badger sett and to take, injure or kill a badger. 
 

 

8. As part of reserved matters, an Environmental Construction Method Statement 

(ECMS) setting out details of measures to protect the nature conservation interest 

of the site and the adjacent areas during construction has been submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The ECMS shall include 

details of the following: 

(i) the siting, height and design of any protective barrier to be erected 

between the site and the adjacent land; 

(ii) any reasonable avoidance measures to limit the potential for harm 

to habitats and species associated with the land; 

(iii) measures to prevent local ground and surface water pollution; and  

(iv) A timetable for implementation 

Development shall thereafter be carried out in strict accordance with the details 

and timetable contained within the duly approved ECMS. 

Reason: In order to ensure that appropriate mitigation measures are put in place 

Page 34



to safeguard the nature conservation interest of the adjacent habitat during the 

construction period before any development takes place in accordance with the 

requirements of policies EN6/1 and EN6/4 of the Bury Unitary Development Plan, 

and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 

9. As part of the first reserved matters a biodiversity mitigation and enhancement 

plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing including: 

• Habitat enhancement measures on the retained site; 

• Landscaping within the developed site; 

• Mitigation and enhancement of the site for nesting birds 

• A 5 year management and maintenance plan 

Development shall thereafter be carried out in strict accordance with the measures 

and timetable contained within the duly approved biodiversity mitigation and 

enhancement plan. 

Reason: To ensure that appropriate measures are implemented as part of the 
development to mitigate the impact of operations during the construction, 
operational and decommissioning phases of development, to provide adequate 
compensation for any habitat loss arising as a result of the development, to ensure 
that the development does not adversely affect the favourable conservation status 
of protected species and to secure appropriate biodiversity enhancements as part 
of the development in accordance with the requirements of policies EN6/1 and 
EN6/4 of the Bury Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 

 

10. As part of the first reserved matters, full details of the sustainable drainage 
measures proposed shall be submitted to and approved in writing to the Local 
Planning Authority which demonstrate that there would be no negative impact on 
biodiversity. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the development is not at risk of flooding and does not 
increase flood risk elsewhere, and that adequate measures are put in place for the 
disposal of foul and surface water in accordance with the requirements of Policy 
EN5/1 of the Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 

 

11. Any application for approval of reserved matters shall be accompanied by full 
details of existing and proposed ground levels (including sections through the site) 
and proposed finished floor levels of the development (all relative to ground levels 
within the site and adjacent to site boundaries), notwithstanding any such detail 
shown on previously submitted plan(s). The development shall be carried out only 
in accordance with the details so approved.  
 
Reason: To protect biodiversity, the appearance of the locality and in the interests 
of the amenities of local residents, in accordance with Policies EN2/2, H2/2, H2/2 
and EN6/4 of the Bury Unitary Development Plan, the National Planning Policy 
Framework and the Planning Practice Guide. 
 

 

12. Any application which seeks approval for the first reserved matter pursuant to 

condition 3 of this permission shall include a scheme for the provision and future 

maintenance of Public Open Space to be delivered on the site as part of the 
Page 35



development. The scheme shall include details of the size, siting, layout, design 

and maintenance arrangements for the improved Public Open Space, and the 

Community Orchard, and a timetable for its provision and future maintenance.  

A minimum of at least 0.16 hectares land within the application site shall be 

improved prior to commencement of development. 

The improved Public Open Space, including Community Orchard shall be provided 

and maintained in accordance with the details and timetable contained within the 

duly approved scheme, and shall be maintained as such thereafter for use as 

Public Open Space.   

Reason: To ensure that the development provides satisfactory mitigation for the 

loss of Public Open Space approved by application no. 33756 makes a 

proportionate contribution towards the provision and future maintenance of public 

open space on the site in order to avoid a deficiency in the quantity and quality of 

recreational open space in the locality and to ensure that the impact of the 

development on existing recreational open space is adequately mitigated in 

accordance with the requirements of Policy RT1 of the Bury Unitary Development 

Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 

13. Any application which seeks approval for the reserved matter of landscaping 

pursuant to condition 3 of this permission shall include a landscaping scheme for 

the site which contains details of: 

(i) any trees, hedgerows and any other vegetation on/overhanging the 

site to be retained; 

(ii) compensatory planting to replace any trees or hedgerows to be 

removed; 

(iii) the introduction of additional planting within the site which forms 

part of the internal development layout and does not fall within (i) or 

(ii); and 

(iv) the type, size, species, siting, planting distances and the 

programme of planting of hedges, trees, shrubs and of the 

community orchard and around the pathways being improved.  

The duly approved landscaping scheme shall be carried out during the first 

planting season after the development is substantially completed and the areas 

which are landscaped shall be retained as landscaped areas thereafter. Any trees 

or shrubs removed, dying, being severely damaged or becoming seriously 

diseased within five years of planting shall be replaced by trees or shrubs of 

similar size and species to those originally required to be planted. 

Reason: To ensure suitable mitigation and strengthening of existing landscaping 

on the site in the interests of visual amenity, to secure adequate provision of 

private garden space for the dwellinghouses and in the interests of providing 

biodiversity mitigation, enhancement, and biodiversity net-gain in accordance with 

the requirements of policies EN1/1, EN1/2, EN6/1 and EN6/4 of the Bury Unitary 

Development Plan, and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 

14. Any application which seeks approval for the reserved matter of Layout pursuant 
to condition 3 of this permission shall include the following details: 
 

Page 36



• Provision of tracked turning facilities within the curtilage of both sites 

clear of proposed parking/driveways, hardstandings and refuse storage 

areas, in order to enable private vehicles to enter and leave each 

hardstanding area in a forward gear; 

• Provision of bin storage arrangements within the curtilage of each 

dwelling in accordance with Waste Management’s ‘Guide to Refuse 

Collection Requirements & Storage Methods for New Developments’. 

• Provision of parking facilities within the curtilage of each dwelling in 

accordance with the maximum standards in SPD 11 - Parking 

Standards in Bury and the National Design Guide. 

Prior to occupation of any dwellings, the development shall be completed in 

accordance with the approved details and retained thereafter for the lifetime of the 

development. 

Reason: In the interests of good design and the amenity of the amenity of future 

occupiers of the site to ensure each dwelling is accessible by all who will visit the 

development, in accordance with Policy EN1/2, H2/2 and HT/6 of the Bury Unitary 

Development Plan, SPD11 – Parking Standards, and the National Planning Policy 

Framework and National Design Guide. 

 
 

15. Any application which seeks approval for the reserved matter of layout pursuant to 

condition 3 of this permission shall include a scheme for the provision of the 

pedestrian/cycle routes through to adjoining land which are shown on drawing no. 

YD2_BH_LP001 Rev. A: Illustrative Masterplan. The scheme shall include details 

of the siting, layout, design, construction (including surfacing materials) and 

drainage of each route, and a timetable for their provision. The pedestrian/cycle 

routes shall thereafter be constructed and made available for use in accordance 

with the details in the duly approved scheme and the timetable contained therein. 

Reason: To ensure connectivity between adjoining sites for cyclists and 

pedestrians in the interests of promoting permeability and accessibility between 

sites and a holistic approach to development in accordance with the requirements 

of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 

16. Any application which seeks approval for the reserved matter of layout pursuant to 

condition 3 of this permission shall include the position and access easements of 

the public sewer and any other United Utilities assets. 

Reason: In the interests of safeguarding this infrastructure which serves the 

surrounding residential estates and the needs of neighbouring occupiers. 

 
 

17. Pre-Commencement Conditions 

No clearance of any vegetation in preparation for or during the course of 

development shall take place during the bird nesting season (March to 

August inclusive) unless an ecological survey has first been submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority which demonstrates 

that the vegetation to be cleared is not utilised for bird nesting. Should the 

survey reveal the presence of any nesting species, then no clearance of any 

vegetation shall take place during the bird nesting season until a 

Page 37



methodology for protecting nest sites during the course of the development 

has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. Nest site protection shall thereafter be provided in accordance 

with the duly approved methodology. 

Reason: In order to prevent any habitat disturbance to nesting birds in accordance 

with the requirements of Policy EN6/1 and EN6/4 of the Bury Unitary Development 

Plan, the provisions of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and 

the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 

18. No development shall commence unless and until:- 

• A contaminated land Preliminary Risk Assessment report to assess the 

actual/potential contamination and/or ground gas/landfill gas risks at the 

site shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local 

Planning Authority; 

• Where actual/potential contamination and/or ground gas/landfill gas 

risks have been identified, detailed site investigation and suitable risk 

assessment shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority; 

• Where remediation/protection measures is/are required, a detailed 

Remediation Strategy shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, 

the Local Planning Authority. 

The development shall thereafter be carried out in full accordance with the duly 

approved remediation strategy and a verification report submitted to and approved 

in writing by the Local Planning Authority within agreed timescales before any of 

the buildings hereby approved are first occupied. 

Reason. To secure the satisfactory development of the site in terms of human 

health, controlled waters, ground gas and the wider environment and pursuant to 

National Planning Policy Framework Section 11 - Conserving and enhancing the 

natural environment. 

 
 

19. Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, no development shall 

commence until full details submitted on a topographical based survey of the 

application site and adopted highways of the following highway aspects have been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: 

• Formation of the site access from Brownhills Close in the form of a new 

service strip crossing, incorporating the provision of the minimum 

access and shared driveway widths shown, demarcation of the limits of 

the adopted highway, shared driveway hardstanding in a 

porous/permeable material and/or measures to prevent the discharge 

of surface water onto the adopted highway, ‘bin waiting’ area of a size 

and in a position to be agreed with Waste Management and all 

associated highway and highway drainage remedial works, all to a 

scope and specification to be agreed with the Highway Authority; 

• Formation of the site access from Bury Road, incorporating the 

provision of a scheme of works on the adopted highway to extend the 

footway, provide a segregated pedestrian route to the site and 

formalise the site access/parking arrangements at the gable of No. 331 

Page 38



Bury Road, resurfacing of the unadopted side street and all associated 

road markings, a scheme of works including all necessary signage and 

road markings on the proposed site access and at the junction with the 

unadopted back street to implement the priority give-way arrangements 

proposed and reverse the priority at the junction with the unadopted 

back street, the minimum access/driveway widths shown, driveway 

hardstanding in a porous/permeable material, and/or measures to 

prevent the discharge of surface water onto the unadopted back street, 

‘bin waiting’ area of a size and in a position to be agreed with Waste 

Management and all associated highway and highway drainage 

remedial works, all to a scope and specification to be agreed with the 

Highway Authority; and 

• Formation and retention of the pedestrian accesses onto the Kirklees 

Trail and retention/improvement of pedestrian routes through the site. 

No more than one dwelling shall be erected that seeks to utilise the Bury Road 

access, and no construction of that dwelling shall occur until the access 

improvements to the area of land between nos. 331 and 333 Bury Road have 

been implemented. 

Prior to occupation of any dwellings, the development shall be completed in 

accordance with the approved details and retained thereafter for the lifetime of the 

development. 

Reason: To secure the satisfactory development of the site in terms of highway 

safety, ensure good highway design and maintain the integrity of the adopted 

highway, all in the interests of highway safety. 

 
 

20. No trees, unless indicated otherwise on plans submitted and approved as 
“reserved matters”, shall be felled, lopped or topped before or during the 
construction period without the previous written consent of the Local Planning 
Authority. 
 
Reason To avoid the loss of trees which are of amenity value to the area pursuant 
to Policy EN1/2 and EN8/2 of the Bury Unitary Development Plan. 
 

 

21. No development shall commence unless and until a ‘Construction Traffic 
Management Plan’ (CTMP), has been submitted to and agreed in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority and shall confirm/provide the following: 
 

• Photographic dilapidation survey of the footways, carriageways and 
service strips leading to and abutting the site in the event that 
subsequent remedial works are required following construction of 
the development and as a result of statutory undertakers 
connections to the site; 

• Access route for all vehicles to the site from the Key Route Network 
and all temporary works required to facilitate access for ground 
works/construction vehicles; 

• If proposed, details of site hoarding/gate positions clear of the 
adopted turning head on Brownhills Close; 

• The provision, where necessary, of all required temporary 
pedestrian facilities/protection measures; 

• A scheme of appropriate warning/construction traffic speed signage 
in the vicinity of the site and its accesses; 

• Hours of operation, confirmation of delivery & construction vehicle 
Page 39



sizes that can be accommodated on the residential estate roads 
leading to the site and number of vehicle movements; 

• Arrangements for the turning and manoeuvring of vehicles within 
the curtilage of each site and/or measures to control/manage 
delivery vehicle manoeuvres; 

• Parking on site or on land within the applicant’s control of 
operatives' and construction vehicles, together with storage on site 
of construction materials; 

• Measures to ensure that all mud and other loose materials are not 
spread onto the adjacent adopted/unadopted highways as a result 
of the groundworks operations or carried on the wheels and chassis 
of any vehicles leaving the site and measures to minimise dust 
nuisance caused by the operations. 

 
The approved plan shall be adhered to throughout the construction period and the 
measures shall be retained and facilities used for the intended purpose for the 
duration of the construction period. The areas identified shall not be used for any 
other purposes other than the turning/parking of vehicles and storage of 
construction materials. All highway remedial works identified as a result of the 
dilapidation survey shall be implemented to the written satisfaction of the Local 
Planning Authority prior to the development hereby approved being brought into 
use. 
 
Reason: To mitigate the impact of the construction traffic generated by the 
proposed development on the adjacent residential streets, ensure adequate 
off-street car parking provision and materials storage arrangements for the 
duration of the construction period and ensure that the adopted highways are kept 
free of deposited material from the ground works operations, in the interests of 
highway safety. 
 

 

22. No development shall commence unless and until a scheme incorporating 

measures to minimise the risk of crime and meet the specific security needs of the 

application site and the development has been submitted to and approved in 

writing by the Local Planning Authority.  No dwelling shall be occupied until the 

approved measures for that dwelling have been installed which shall thereafter be 

retained for the lifetime of the development.  

Reason: In pursuance of the Council's duty under Section 17 of the Crime and 

Disorder Act 1998 and in accordance with Policy EN1/5 of Bury Unitary 

Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 

23. Pre and Post Development 
 
No infiltration of surface water drainage into the ground where adverse 
concentrations of contamination are known or suspected to be present is permitted 
other than with the express written consent of the local planning authority, which 
may be given for those parts of the site where it has been demonstrated that there 
is no resultant unacceptable risk to controlled waters. The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approval details. 
 
Reason: For the future protection of the Water Environment from risks arising from 
land contamination, in accordance with Policy EN5/1 of the Bury Unitary 
Development Plan and the National Planning policy Framework. 
 

 

24. Piling or any other foundation designs using penetrative methods shall not be 

Page 40



permitted other than with the express written consent of the local planning 

authority, which may be given for those parts of the site where it has been 

demonstrated that there is no resultant unacceptable risk to groundwater. The 

development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

Reason: For the future protection of the Water Environment from risks arising from 

land contamination, in accordance with Policy EN5/1 of the Bury Unitary 

Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 

25. No above ground works shall take place until a scheme for the disposal of foul and 
surface water from the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority, the scheme shall include:  
 

(i) separate systems for the disposal of foul and surface water; 
(ii) a detailed drainage strategy to demonstrate that the post-development 

surface water discharge rate to any soakaway, watercourse or sewer 
does not exceed the pre-development (greenfield) rate. The drainage 
strategy shall include details of the peak surface water runoff rate from 
the development for the 1 in 1 year rainfall event and the 1 in 100 year 
(+30% climate change allowance) rainfall event, and shall demonstrate 
that the peak post-development runoff rate does not exceed the peak 
pre-development greenfield runoff rate for the same event;  

(iii) details of any necessary flow attenuation measures, including the use 
of SUDS where appropriate; 

(iv) details of the measures taken to prevent flooding and pollution of any 
receiving groundwater and/or surface waters (including watercourses) 
and any off-site works required to ensure adequate discharge of 
surface water without causing flooding or pollution (including 
refurbishment of existing culverts and headwalls or removal of unused 
culverts where applicable); 

(v) flood water exceedance routes, both on and off site; 
(vi) means of access for maintenance and easements (where applicable); 
(vii) a timetable for implementation, including any phasing of works. 

 
The duly approved scheme shall be implemented before any of the dwellings 
hereby approved are first occupied, or within any other timescale first agreed in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the development is not at risk of flooding and does not 
increase flood risk elsewhere, and that adequate measures are put in place for the 
disposal of foul and surface water in accordance with the requirements of Policy 
EN5/1 of the Bury Unitary Development Plan, the National Planning Framework 
and Planning Practice Guidance. 
 

 

26. No above ground works shall take place until a phasing plan for the construction of 
the development has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The phasing plan shall include a programme of works for the 
provision of:-  

(i) Each of the proposed land uses within the site;  
(ii) Any highway infrastructure associated with those uses and 
(iii) The area of formal Public Open Space allocated as such under 

policy RT1/1 of the Bury Unitary Development Plan; and 
(iv) The area(s) of recreational open space and any other areas of 

amenity open space shown to be improved.  
 
The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the duly 

Page 41



approved phasing plan(s). 
 
Reason: To ensure that any phased development of the site takes place in an 
appropriate order and within an acceptable timescale, to ensure adequate 
provision of infrastructure to serve each phase and because no such details were 
submitted as part of the application. 
 

 

27. No above ground works shall take place until a lighting scheme has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Details shall 

include the location, orientation and type of lights. No dwelling shall be occupied 

until the approved measures for that dwelling have been installed which shall 

thereafter be retained for the lifetime of the development.  

Reason: To ensure that appropriate measures are implemented as part of the 

development to mitigate the impact of operations during the construction and 

occupation phases of development, to provide adequate mitigation, to ensure that 

the development does not adversely affect the favourable conservation status of 

protected species, In the interest of amenity and in pursuance of the Council's duty 

under Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 and in accordance with 

Policies EN1/1, EN1/2, EN1/5, EN6/1 and EN6/4 of the Bury Unitary Development 

Plana and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 

28. Following the provisions of Condition 18 of this planning permission, where land 
contamination remediation is required, the approved Remediation Strategy must 
be carried out to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority within agreed 
timescales; and priorto any part of the permitted development being occupied, a 
verification report demonstrating the completion of works set out in the approved 
remediation strategy and the effectiveness of the remediation shall be submitted 
to, and approved in writing, by the local planning authority. The report shall include 
results of sampling and monitoring carried out in accordance with the approved 
verification plan to demonstrate that the site remediation criteria have been met. 
 
Reason: For the ongoing protection of the Water Environment from risks arising 
from land contamination and to secure the satisfactory development of the site in 
terms of human health, controlled waters and the wider environment and pursuant 
to the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

 

29. Prior to Occupation 

Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved, a sprinkler/misting 

system to meet the requirements of BS 9251:2014 or other subsequent standard 

that meets the requirements of Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue Service and 

deemed suitable to overcome the site’s emergency access deficiencies, shall be 

installed in the dwellings hereby approved and shall thereafter be maintained at all 

times. 

Reason: In the interests of fire safety and to ensure the safe and satisfactory 

development of the site and for its future occupiers pursuant to Policies H1/2, H2/2 

and EN1/2 of the Bury Unitary Development Plana and the National Planning 

Policy Framework. 

 
 

30. Post-Occupation 

Each dwelling hereby approved shall be provided with 1 electric vehicle (EV) 
Page 42



charge point (minimum 7kW*) prior to its occupation.  

*Mode 3, 7kW (32A) single phase, or 22kW (32A) three phase, and for 50kW 

Mode 4 rapid charging may be required. British Standard BS EN 61851-1:2019 

Reason. To encourage the uptake of ultra-low emission vehicles and ensure the 

development is sustainable. To safeguard residential amenity, public health and 

quality of life pursuant to National Planning Policy Framework Section 15 - 

Conserving and enhancing the natural environment. 

 
 
For further information on the application please contact Claire Booth on 0161 253 5396

Page 43



PLANNING APPLICATION LOCATION PLAN 

Planning, Environmental and Regulatory Services

 No Window 

 No Window 

ADDRESS:

APP. NO 67243

Land off Brownhills Close / Bury Road
Tottington



(C) Crown Copyright and database right (2015). Ordnance Survey 100023063.

43

37

House

Beechwood
New

Beechwood

369

375

266 367

371

365

Lodge

PH

17

11

27

18

2

10

15

6

353

331

333

34
3 1

20

53

30

65

55

61

28

22

32

45

40

18

7

2

10

1

254

15

11

317

SM

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

CEDAR F
O

LD

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

ROSEWOOD AVENUE

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

B
R

O
W

N
H

IL
LS

 C
LO

S
E

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

LEEMANS H
IL

L S
TREET

119.5m

121.0m

Viewpoints

1

2
3

4

6 7

5

Page 44



67243 

Photo 1 

 

Photo 2 

 

Page 45



67243 

Photo 3 

 

Photo 4 

 

 

Page 46



67243 

Photo 5 

 

Photo 6 

 

 

 

Page 47



67243 

Photo 7 

 

 

Page 48



P
age 49



P
age 50



P
age 51



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 
  
 
Ward: North Manor Item   02 

 
Applicant:  Cornell Group 
 
Location: Land adjacent to 62 Springside Road, Bury, BL9 5JQ 

 
Proposal: Outline application for 12 no. dwellings including means of access (all other matters 

reserved for appearance, layout, scale and landscaping) 
 

 
Application Ref:   68815/Outline Planning 

Permission 
Target Date:  22/11/2022 

 
Recommendation: Minded to Approve 
 
It is recommended that this application is Minded to Approve subject to the signing 
and completion of a Section 106 agreement to secure the future adoption of the site 
access and internal road to serve the development and to enter into a S38 Agreement 
to secure details of the highway works in accordance with Unitary Development Plan 
Policies H2/2 - The Layout of New Residential Development and HT 6/2 - 
Pedestrian/Vehicular Conflict.  
 
The application has been advertised as a Departure from the Bury Unitary 
Development Plan.   
 
Description 
The application relates to a site located at the end of Springside Road.  To the north and 
east is established residential development.  Along the southern boundary of the site is a 
hedgerow and a road which leads to Bank Top Farm that carries a Bridleway (155 BUR), 
beyond which, to the south is open land designated as Green Belt, Special Landscape Area 
and River Valley.  To the west is open land that is also designated as Green Belt, Special 
Landscape Area and River Valley.  
 
The site comprises a piece of land which is 0.56 ha in area.  The site is not in the Green 
Belt, but is designated as Other Protected Open Land (OPOL) under UDP Policy OL2.  The 
site is split into two relatively similar size parcels of land by a road and Public Right of Way 
(160BUR) which runs directly through the site from Springside Road in a north westerly 
direction and connects to Springside Farm.  It is understood that a culverted watercourse 
crosses the site in a west/easterly direction but this is not a United Utilities asset.    
 
The applicant seeks outline permission for the erection of 12 dwellings. The means of 
access to the site would be included for approval and all other matters (appearance, 
landscaping, layout and scale) would be dealt with at the reserved matters stage.  
 
Access to the site would be taken from Springside Road and highway works would include 
widening the road and providing pedestrian footways.  Springside Road has an adopted 
status and currently provides a turning area next to the site access.  As this turning facility 
is on adopted highway and would be affected due to the highway works at the site entrance, 
it is proposed to provide a turning area within the site. This will require the new site access 
and turning head to be of an adoptable status. This would be secured by a S106 
Agreement.  
 
Public Right of Way No.160BUR would continue through the site along the existing access 
with an alternative pedestrian route along the south and western boundary of the site 
provided.  

Page 53



 
Whilst not applied for at this stage, an indicative layout plan has been submitted which 
shows 12 dwellings in a linear formation arranged along either side of the access road with 
with parking and gardens and a drainage compound to the western boundary.  
 
The original submission proposed 13 dwellings.  The scheme has since been revised to 12 
dwellings as a result of accommodating highways requirements. .  
 
Relevant Planning History 
34570 - Outline - Residential development (13 dwellings) at Springside Road, Bury. 
Refused - 28 October 1998. 
Permission was refused as being contrary to Policies H1/2 and OL2/1, intensification of the 
use of the estate road without an adoptable emergency route and the application site 
excludes areas of land required to create a junction from the site to the adopted highway. 
 
67116 - Application for planning in principle for 5 no. dwellings at land adjacent to 62 
Springside Road, Bury. Refused - 20 August 2021 
Reason for refusal - The proposed development for 5 No dwellings on a 0.56ha site would 
not make optimal use of the potential of the site contrary to policy set out in Chapter 11 and 
particularly paragraph 125 of the National Planning Policy Framework July 2021 
 
Publicity 
The neighbouring properties were notified by means of a letter on 26 August 2022. 
Press notice published in the Bury Times on 1 September 2022.  
Site notices posted on 31 August 2022. 
 
1 letter in favour of the application has been received and has raised the following issues: 

• Support - get them built. 
 
87 letters of objection have been received, which have raised the following issues: 
 
Land use 

• Object to any housing development on this land, it is OPOL ‘Other Protected Open 
Land’ where residential development is not indicated as an acceptable form of 
development. 

• Impacts on open land loss of undeveloped land between the existing urban area and the 
Green Belt 

• Another example of urban sprawl 

• Plenty of brownfield sites which should be utilised 
 
Drainage  

• The previous application for Planning in Principle to build 5 houses on the site showed a 
3m easement to existing surface water drain, but this is not shown on the current 
application. 

• Baffled that a ‘Drainage Compound’, essentially a Sewage Pumping Station, is 
proposed to sit on a beautiful Established Public Footpath that has offered a Community 
Visual Amenity for generations. 

• Decision to put a septic tank behind a family home demonstrates lack of consideration 
of impacts on home owners and those on the state. 

• Increase to flood risk which is already experienced in the area which is regularly 
waterlogged 

 
Highways 

• Springside Rd is a very busy road already and extra cars on here will hugely impact the 
existing traffic. The road simply can't take any more traffic.  Any building on this site will 
seriously impact the area.  

• There is also no infrastructure to support more houses, no school places, no doctors, 
dentists etc. 

Page 54



• A massive concern is Traffic Congestion, 

• This proposed development is very similar and identical in numbers (13 houses) to that 
proposed by Barratt Housebuilders which was submitted way back in 1998 and was 
refused planning permission. One of the principle grounds for refusal was traffic 
congestion which was determined by the Council following a traffic survey and count.  

• The existing Morris Homes Churchfields Housing Development and the Barratts Homes 
Waldmers Wood Housing Development are adding to an already extremely dangerous 
traffic situation, particularly in regards to child safety, air toxicity due to excessive car 
fumes, and gridlock preventing emergency services from accessing residential homes. 

• This proposed development on Springside Road exasperates the situation. 

• Traffic report for the application was completed in August  - mid holiday season and 
when schools on holiday 

• Safety of children going to and leaving school by knowingly increasing vehicle capacity 
and making a bad situation far worse for vehicles accessing and exiting at peak times. 

• Farm vehicles add to bad road surfacing and traffic 

• Loss of Right of Way over the land 

• Impact on air quality 

• No emergency route to an adopted highway 
 
Re-routing of an Established Public Footpath 

• Diverting residents and visitors away from an established, popular, and well-loved Public 
Footpath is wrong. The Burrs Country Circular Walk should not skirt the fencing of a 
housing estate, when it presently traverses a long, wide, open path with fields either 
side.  

• The Public have a Right of Way. Springside Road Public Footpath was a blessing during 
the Coronavirus Pandemic, due to its wide path for Social Distancing. 

• The existing Public Footpath has an iconic, full-panoramic view of Holcombe Hill and 
Peel Tower, this development ruins this Community Visual Amenity for residents and 
visitors. 

• Rambling groups that bring the public to the Burrs Country Circular Walk state that this 
stretch of Springside Road is a particular highlight on the ramble.  

 
Natural habitat 

• There are deer, a lot of bats and many birds that live in this habitat which will be lost 
 
Other matters 

• The owner has no regard for locals or the council and has already erected a building 
that was not permitted by the council and has kept this up but hidden with hay bales and 
sheets for some years on his farm.  I do not believe he would commit to proper 
sewerage and other important matters. 

• In addition to the above, the proposed development is not in keeping with the open plan 
layout of the adjacent Oaklands estate, and the predominantly detached houses do not 
present themselves as ‘affordable housing’ 

• Apparently an area is being treated for knotweed 
 

Cllr Dean  

• This land has recently been refused planning permission for five homes, which was after 
a previous application in 1998 that again was refused. The development would result in 
the loss of undeveloped land between existing urban area and the Green Belt where it is 
expected that the existing predominant use and character will remain for the most part 
undisturbed and where residential development is not indicated as an acceptable form 
of development. Clearly this has not changed. 

• Contrary to policy OL2/1 - does not meet the prescribed exemptions 

• Violates policy EN9 which states that the council will seek to protect, conserve and 
improve the landscape of quality of the Borough.- does nothing to retain the natural 
environment, nor does it encourage new tree planting or encourage this development to 
improve the area. 

• provides no evidence of ecological compensation 
Page 55



• The 1998 rejection also listed “intensification of use of an existing congested estate 
road”. There has been nothing substantially changed since this development was 
refused in 1998 and therefore nothing to suggest that this application should not be 
rejected on the same grounds. 

• This increase in traffic from both sides of the junction will have intolerable effects on 
road and public safety that have no easily rectifiable solution. There are serious 
concerns about the volume of traffic that will come from the Tetrosyl Development, not 
least more houses off Springside Road. 

• The Transport Statement does not address the concerns  

• Granting this would be in breach. HT2 states that schemes should improve the flow of 
traffic and improve road safety 

• Greater risk of accidents 

• The application for 13 homes creates no-less than 31 new parking spaces. Whilst 
creating parking spaces is of course desirable, it is clear the developer expects a further 
31 cars will be using the dangerous junction and driving down the already congested 
road outside Springside Primary School 

• Contravenes Policy EN1/1 as it would have a detrimental effect on public views of 
prominent or important buildings, especially those in areas of architectural or historic 
interest ad the visual amenity both within, or viewed from, areas of environmental 
interest such as the Green Belt, Special Landscape Areas or the river valleys. 

• Public views of Peel Tower and Holcombe Hill would be affected 

• Note with some concern that Bury has recently submitted its local plan as part of the 
Greater Manchester Spatial Framework. Bury Council has then since requested the 
Planning Inspector consider amending the plan it put forward to remove large swathes 
of open land in Walshaw from its consideration due to finding viable land elsewhere. 
Given that this area of land in Walmersley was, rightly, not considered in either proposal 
to the Planning Inspector, it would seem eccentric of the Council to ask to remove open 
land in Walshaw from its Local Plan due to wanting to protect green spaces – in favour 
of brownfield sites it has identified – to then approve planning applications for homes on 
open land. 

• Endorse all objections made by residents 

• In summary, do not believe that this planning application should be approved. It opts to 
build on green open land which I, and many others, are wholly opposed to and goes 
against council policy of allowing development on green field land. I also do not believe 
the “special circumstances” test has been met given the level of development in the 
Walmersley area already. 

 
James Daly  

• Note that this application is on Protected Open Land. There have been two previous 
applications on this land, both of which were in part rejected due to contravention of 
Planning Policy OL2 and OL2/1. 

• Bury Council have recently submitted their Local Plan as part of the GMSF/Places for 
Everyone submission. Since submitting the original plan to the Planning Inspector, Bury 
Council have submitted amendments to the plan, requesting the removal of open land in 
Walshaw and Elton as sufficient brownfield land could be found for homes to be built. In 
neither the first draft nor the subsequent amend requests, was Walmersley included in 
this. As such, I cannot see how Bury Council could approve this application on protected 
open land when it is suggesting to the Planning Inspector open land should be removed 
from their local plan. 

• Impact this would have on traffic in the area. Given that the Waldmers Wood 
development on the old Tetrosyl site is not yet complete, we cannot yet see the full 
impact of additional traffic at the junction at the bottom of Springside Road, however, we 
can see traffic steadily increasing. 

• Traffic was further a reason why an original application to the site in 1998 was rejected 

• the Transport Statement provided in the application documents states that three 
accidents have occurred at the junction between Walmersley Road and Springside 
Road - contrary to Policy HT4 and HT2 

• There are many other material planning concerns that have been raised by residents 

Page 56



and associate myself with those completely. Cllr Dean, North Manor Councillor, has 
submitted a thorough objection with reference to specific Bury Council planning policies 
and I agree with his submission in its entirety. 

 

Those who have made representations have been informed of the Planning Control 
Committee meeting.  
 

The application was advertised as a Departure to the Bury Unitary Development Plan by 
site notice on `15/3/23 and press advert 16/3/23. 
 

Three objections (one address)  received 8/4/23 

• Further to my previous objection I would also like to add there is no requirement to 
permanently move the public footpath. There is already a road going through the site. 
Movement of this footpath indicates this is to be a gated community and not an 
indication of social affordable housing.  

• A previous report for planning to the land at the rear of Walmersley Parish Church 
identified that the junction of Springside Rd and Walmersley Rd is at capacity as per MP 
James Daly objection. 

• This is prime farmland used for livestock identified as greenbelt (spatial framework) and 
an invisible line in a field is determining some of this field is not greenbelt when the field 
boundaries show it as one field.  

• This area is already becoming over developed and consideration should be given to 
infrastructure. There is development at Tetrosyl, Seedfield, Walmersley Church 
(proposed) and also heavy development in adjoining counties. Edenfield is to see 
several hundred houses being built which will massively impact on traffic on Walmersley 
Road. 

• Bury council should focus on developing true brown field sites ( such as tetrosyl) before 
allowing building on prime farm land. 

• Previous objection points stand. 

• This new development does not consider the loss of light on the homes around. The 
houses will block the sun on all home at the back of the development. 

 

Statutory/Non-Statutory Consultations 
Traffic Section - No objections subject to conditions and agreement to enter into a S106 for 
the provision of an adopted highway.  
Drainage Section - No response received. 
Environmental Health - Contaminated Land - No objections, subject to the inclusion of 
conditions relating to contaminated land.  
Public Rights of Way Officer - No objection in principle.  The existing PRoW route 
through the site will remain 
GM Ecology Unit - No objections, subject to the inclusion of conditions relating to 
reasonable avoidance measures method statements for amphibians and hedgehogs, 
nesting birds, biodiversity net gain details at reserved matters stage. 
United Utilities - No objection in principle.  Details of a drainage strategy will be required 
at reserved matters stage. 
GM Fire Service - The development should meet the requirements for fire service access. 
The Fire Service strongly supports the installation of domestic sprinkler systems 
 
Pre-start Conditions - Applicant/Agent agreed with pre-start conditions 
 
Unitary Development Plan and Policies 
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework 
H1/2 Further Housing Development 
H2/1 The Form of New Residential Development 
H2/2 The Layout of New Residential Development 
EN1/1 Visual Amenity 
EN1/2 Townscape and Built Design 
EN1/3 Landscaping Provision 
EN6/3 Features of Ecological Value 

Page 57



EN5/1 New Development and Flood Risk 
EN7 Pollution Control 
EN7/2 Noise Pollution 
EN7/5 Waste Water Management 
OL2 Other Protected Open Land 
OL2/1 Development on Other Protected Open Land 
EN8 Woodland and Trees 
RT3/4 Recreational Routes 
HT2/4 Car Parking and New Development 
HT4 New Development 
HT6/2 Pedestrian/Vehicular Conflict 
SPD1 Open Space, Sport and Recreation Provision 
SPD6 Supplementary Planning Document 6: Alterations & Extensions 
SPD11 Parking Standards in Bury 
H4/1 Affordable Housing 
RT2/2 Recreation Provision in New Housing Development 
SPD5 DC Policy Guidance Note 5: Affordable Housing 
 
Issues and Analysis 
The following report includes analysis of the merits of the application against the relevant 
policies of both the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the adopted Bury 
Unitary Development Plan (UDP) together with other relevant material planning 
considerations. The policies of the UDP that have been used to assess this application are 
considered to be in accordance with the NPPF and as such are material planning 
considerations. For simplicity, just the UDP Policy will be referred to in the report, unless 
there is a particular matter to highlight arising from the NPPF where it would otherwise be 
specifically mentioned. 
 
Principle (Other Protected Open Land) - The site is located within land allocated as Other 
Protected Open Land (OPOL) and as such, Policy OL2/1 is relevant to this proposal. 
 
Policy OL2/1 states that on all defined open land outside the urban area, but not within the 
Green Belt and/or river valleys, development will not be permitted for purposes other than: 

• agriculture or forestry, or other uses appropriate to a rural area; 

• outdoor recreational facilities, such as sports grounds, golf courses or country parks, 
together with ancillary buildings required in connection with these outdoor facilities; 

• cemeteries and institutions standing in large grounds; 

• development which is essential for the protection of an established source of 
employment or required in connection with a bona fide rural enterprise; 

• essential public utilities infrastructure; 

• mineral workings, provided that high environmental standards are maintained and that 
the site is well restored.  

 
In essence, Policies OL2 and OL2/1 of the UDP seeks to retain OPOL and identifies a list of 
uses that are considered appropriate. However, housing development is not permitted by 
this policy.  Section 38(6) of the Town and Country Planing and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004 and Section 79(2) of the Town and Country planing Act 1990 states that decisions 
should be made in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. However, the NPPF represents up to date Government Planning Policy 
and must be taken into account in planning decisions.  As a significant material planning 
consideration it requires Local Planning Authorities to meet housing needs and significantly 
boost the supply of housing and includes a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. 
 
In terms of housing supply, the Borough has a shortfall of housing sites to meet local needs 
determined through the Government's standard methodology and, as such, additional 
housing land is needed. OPOL sites can contribute towards meeting local housing needs 
and help to protect the Green Belt.  
 

Page 58



The residential element of the site is considered to be in a sustainable location, abutting the 
urban area and sits outside the Green Belt. Similar sites are being released across the 
country to help meet local housing needs and appeal decisions for similar land designations 
to OPOL tend to favour their release.   
 
On balance, therefore, the principle of residential development on this OPOL site is 
considered to be acceptable given its sustainable location and the contribution that it would 
have to meeting local housing needs. The national requirement to significantly boost the 
supply of housing under the NPPF is a material consideration that would favour the release 
of this site in principle, subject to detail. 
 
Principle (Residential) - The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) should be 
treated as a material planning consideration and it emphasises the need for local planning 
authorities to boost the supply of housing to meet local housing targets in both the short and 
long term. The Framework maintains the emphasis on identifying a rolling five year supply 
of deliverable housing land.  
 
Bury's Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment sets out the latest housing supply 
position, which is made up of sites that have an extant planning permission and sites that 
have potential to obtain planning permission in the future. This shows that there are a 
number of sites within the Borough with the potential to deliver a significant amount of 
housing. However, not all of these sites will contribute to the five year supply calculations as 
many sites will take longer than five years to come forward and be fully developed (e.g. 
some large sites could take up to ten years to be completed). As such, latest monitoring 
indicates that the Council is unable to demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing 
land and this needs to be treated as a material factor when determining applications for 
residential developments.   
 
The National Planning Policy Framework also sets out the Housing Delivery Test, which is 
an assessment of net additional dwellings provided over the previous three years against 
the homes required. Where the test indicates that the delivery of housing was substantially 
below (less than 75%) of the housing requirement over the previous years, this needs to be 
taken into account in the decision-taking process. The latest results published by the 
Government show that Bury has a housing delivery test result of less than 75%, and 
therefore, this needs to be treated as a material factor when determining applications for 
residential development. 
 
Therefore, in relation to the proposed dwelling, paragraph 11d) of the National Planning 
Policy Framework states that where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the 
policies which are most important for determining the application are out-of-date, planning 
permission should be granted unless: 
i. The application of policies in the Framework that protect areas, or assets of particular 
importance, provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or 
ii. Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Framework, taken as a whole. 
 
Therefore, in this case the 'titled balance' applies and planning permission should be 
granted unless the above points Para 11(d) i or ii apply. 
 
Policy H1/2 states that the Council will have regard to various factors when assessing a 
proposal for residential development, including whether the proposal is within the urban 
area, the availability of infrastructure and the suitability of the site, with regard to amenity, 
the nature of the local environment and the surrounding land uses. 
 
The site is in a sustainable location and there are residential properties to the north and east 
with open land to the south and west. The proposed development would not conflict with the 
surrounding land uses and would be located in a sustainable location with regard to public 
transport and services. Therefore, the proposed development would be acceptable in 
principle and would be in accordance with Policy H1/2 of the Bury Unitary Development 

Page 59



Plan. 
  
Density and efficient use of land 
The NPPF supports the efficient use of land, and in areas such as Bury where there is a 
shortage of land for meeting identified housing needs there is a clear need to make best use 
of the available sites to avoid the need to release additional Green Belt land. 
In these circumstances, NPPF paragraph 125 states that local planning authorities should 
ensure development make optimal use of the potential of each site.  
 
A previous application for 5 dwellings was refused on the basis that the development would 
not make optimal use of the available land. 
This application seeks a density of 12 dwellings.  It is considered that the number of 
houses and illustrative layout demonstrates an arrangement and scale reflective of the 
surrounding housing stock whilst respecting the character and the site's relationship with the 
Green Belt. The site is also constrained by the existing access road and PRoW which splits 
the land parcel. 
 
In this respect, it is considered the proposed development would comply with the principles 
of paragraph 125 of the NPPF.  
 
Design and layout 
The site is split into two land parcels by the existing access road and PRoW which serves 
properties and farmsteads to the west of the site which will be retained and also used to e 
access to the site and serve the development. This constraint has therefore guided the 
layout and form of the development site to a significant degree.  
 
In order to demonstrate that the site can accommodate 12 dwellings and that the 
development would make optimal use of the available land, an illustrative layout plan has 
been provided.  This shows the houses would be positioned either side of the access road 
in a linear formation, with 4 dwellings and a drainage compound to the west and 8 dwellings 
on the northern side of the road which would maintain an active frontage along the access 
road.  
 
The proposed dwellings are shown as detached types although these too are indicative only 
and the mix may change in a reserved matters application and the submission suggests that 
the proposed dwellings would be two storeys in height which would be appropriate in the 
locality. The larger units would be located on three corners of the site to create an active 
streetscape. 
What the indicative layout does show is that 12 dwellings could be accommodated on the 
site which would provide acceptable levels of amenity space, bin storage facilities and 
driveway parking without either being too crammed or overly spacious.  
 
Access to the site would continue from Springside Road.  It is proposed to widen the 
internal route through the site as the road is used by agricultural traffic which access the 
farm/properties beyond the site to the north and the turning head at the end of the site 
would also enable cars or traffic to pull in should this be needed.   
 
The existing PRoW (160 BUR) would continue to follow the same route through the site and 
would be unaffected by the arrangement of the proposed development.  The applicant also 
intends to deliver a secondary additional pedestrian route through the site which would 
follow the south/western site boundary and meet the top of the access road.  
 
It is therefore considered that the illustrative layout and number of houses proposed would 
make optimal use of the land available and would reflect the established urban grain of the 
surrounding residential development.  Indicating detached 2 storey properties arranged 
along the road frontage would emulate the character and form of the wider surrounds and 
as such acceptable.  
 
It is therefore considered that the proposed residential development would be appropriate 

Page 60



development and comply with Policies EN1/2, H2/1 and H2/2 of the Bury Unitary 
Development Plan. 
 
Impact upon residential amenity - SPD6 provides guidance on aspect standards between 
residential properties and as such, would be relevant in this case. 
 
There would be in excess of 7 metres from the rear elevation of the proposed dwellings to 
rear garden boundaries, which would comply with the aspect standards advised in SPD6 to 
directly facing boundaries of neighbouring properties. 
Given the orientation and position of the proposed dwellings on the site there would be 
more than sufficient separation distances not to affect the houses closest to the site 
entrance.  
 
Internally, aspect standards can be achieved between the new dwellings.  
 
Therefore, the proposed development would not have a significant adverse impact upon the 
amenity of the neighbouring properties and would be in accordance with Policies EN1/2, 
H2/1 and H2/2 of the Bury Unitary Development Plan.  
 
Highways issues 
Access 
This has been applied for as a detail of the outline application and plans have been 
submitted to show the access arrangements which are proposed to the entrance of the site.  
It is proposed to utilise the existing access to the site which would be require works to the 
top off Springside Road, the widening of the existing PRoW access route through the site 
and the provision of pedestrian footways.  The proposed site plan indicates that a small 
piece of land in the ownership of No. 62 Springside Road would be required.  This property 
is included within the red edge site plan and there would be a requirement to impose 
conditions which would be considered necessary to make the development acceptable.   
 
Springside Road is an adopted highway up to the point that it reaches the end house No 91, 
whereby it then changes to an unadopted single lane access to serve Bank Top Farm.  The 
access though the site and beyond is also unadopted and carries the PRoW (160BUR) 
 
Currently, the adopted highway provides turning facilities at the end of Springside Road for 
vehicles to turn around. This turning area would be needed to form the new access, and as 
such the ability for vehicles to turn round within the limits of the adopted highway would be 
affected. 
   
Therefore the proposed scheme intends to provide a turning head within the development 
site.  To ensure this would be deliverable, available and maintained for public access at all 
times, the internal road and turning head would need to be adopted and therefore designed 
to an adoptable standard. 
 
The indicative site layout which has been provided demonstrates that in principle this could 
be achieved.  The mechanism to ensure that the internal road would be delivered to an 
adoptable standard would need to be secured through a S106 legal agreement to which the 
applicant has agreed.  This will require drawings identifying the highway works to be 
submitted and approved by the LPA prior to a Reserved Matters application in addition to 
securing the certainty of the applicant to enter into the Highways Agreement.  
 
Given the proposed development would re-provide an adopted highway for vehicles to turn 
round and with the improvement works to the site entrance, the Highway Section have 
raised no objection in principle, subject to conditions and the completion of the S106 
Agreement.  
 
Public Rights of Way issues 
Paragraph 100 of the NPPF states that ‘planning policies and decisions should protect and 
enhance public rights of way and access, including taking opportunities to provide better 

Page 61



facilities for users, for example by adding links to existing rights of way networks including 
National Trails’. 
 
Policy RT3/4 states that in promoting access to the countryside, the Council will seek to 
establish a network of designated recreational routes to provide access, where appropriate, 
for pedestrians, cyclists and horse riders. These routes will be safeguarded and any 
development which would prejudice their establishment or use will not be permitted.  
 
The proposed dwellings would be positioned either side of the access lane and PRoW 
through the site. The existing PRoW through the site would be widened to 6.75m as this 
access route would need to serve both the new residential development and Springside 
Farm and associated agricultural vehicles. The status of the PRoW would not be affected 
and would remain open and accessible.  
 
The existing PROW across the site is currently part of a well-used recreational route with 
uninterrupted country views across to Holcombe Hill and Peel Tower.  Objectors have 
raised the issue that the proposed development would blight open views of the countryside 
for ramblers, walkers and uses of the PRoW route.  
  
The development proposes to provide an additional pedestrian route which would run along 
the south western boundary and users would still be able to enjoy views across the open 
land whilst also giving users the option of avoiding any traffic along the road.  The new 
route would link back into the existing PRoW at the top of the site.  
 
The access lane and bridleway (155BUR) which continues from Springside Road to Bank 
Top Farm would not be affected by the development proposals.  
 
The PROW Officer has raised no objections to the proposals for the existing PRoW through 
the site or the provision of a new route along the perimeter.  
 
Therefore, the proposed development would be in accordance with Policies H2/2 - The 
Layout of New Residential Development, HT6/2 - Pedestrian/Vehicular Conflict and RT3/4 - 
Recreational Routes and the principles of the NPPF. 
 
Traffic 
Access considerations of previous planning permissions predate the current NPPF 
considerably and reflect the early days of the currently adopted development plan.  Today's 
planning position is a very different landscape, the focus being on sustainable development 
and making best use of available, developable and deliverable sites (in policy terms) as 
possible in terms of optimal land use and density of development. Planning proposals must 
therefore now be considered against the requirements of the current NPPF esepcially where 
Local Planning Policiesare out of date or not consistent with the NPPF . 
 
Springside Road is served by a signalised junction to Walmersley Road and is one of the 
few residential streets in the Borough to be controlled in such a way.  Traffic flows into and 
out the road are therefore already regulated and do not affect the Strategic Route Network.  
 
There are times at school drop off and pick up when the traffic is at its heaviest and cars 
queue to exit from Springside Road but this is only for a short period during the day at term 
time.  Residents who already live on the street would already leave and arrive at different 
times throughout the day and likely time that their trips are outside the school run times.  
 
It is considered that the proposal for 12 dwellings, whilst adding to the numbers of vehicular 
demands using the street and junction would not be of such a sizeable degree to cause 
significant concerns.  The vehicle movements associated with the development would 
operate similarly to exisiting residents, insofar as people work/live to very different routines, 
coming and going at various intervals and stages of the day and night. 
 
The existing junction also has the capability of regulating future traffic movement such that 

Page 62



impacts on the current traffic flows would not be affected to a considerable or harmful extent 
on a daily basis.    
 
Paragraph 111 of the NPPF states that development should only be prevented or refused 
on highway grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the 
residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.   
 
In this instance, it is considered a development for 12 dwellings on a traffic regulated street 
would not noticeably add to the volume of traffic in the area and could not be sustainably 
argued that the development would severely impact on the current local highway network.  
Traffic is regulated at the controlled junction and traffic build up at this junction would not be 
of such significance to be detrimental to residents or visitors to the school.  
 
The Highway section have raised no objection to the proposed development and as such 
the proposed development would comply with H2/2 and HT6/2 and the principles of the 
NPPF.  
 
Parking 
For matters of car parking provision for the development, the illustrative layout shows 2-3 
parking spaces could be provided for each new dwelling which would be in line with SPD11.  
Fire service - Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue Service (GMF&RS) have been 
consulted.  The proposal should meet the requirements for Fire Service access -  

• The Fire Service requires vehicular access for a fire appliance to within 45m of all points 
within the dwelling. 

• The access road should be a minimum width of 4.5m and capable of carrying 12.5 
tonnes. Additionally if the access road is more than 20m long a turning circle, 
hammerhead, or other turning point for fire appliances will be required. 

• There should be a suitable fire hydrant within 165m of the furthest dwelling. 

• The Fire Service strongly supports the installation of domestic sprinkler systems as a 
positive measure to protect persons. At a small cost occupants’ can be given the 
reassurance of a high level of protection. All developers should positively consider the 
viability of installing domestic sprinkler systems. The access requirements for a dwelling 
fitted with an approved sprinkler system can deviate from the required standard detailed 
above, further consultation will be required. 

 
As there would be no secondary access to the site and given the length of Springside Road 
it would be prudent and reasonable to require each dwelling be fitted with a sprinkler system 
which would be a condition of an approval.   
 
As such the proposed development is considered to be acceptable.  
 
Ecology 
An ecological assessment has been submitted with the application. The main issues to 
consider are Great Crested Newts, other protected species, nesting birds, hedgehogs and 
biodiversity enhancement measures can be resolved via condition and or informative. 
 
Great Crested Newts (GCN) - The report concluded that it is very unlikely that GCN are 
present on site. Whilst 1 pond is located within 250 metres, it is isolated and a previous 
survey also found no evidence of GCN present. The combination of distance, lack of habitat 
connectivity and generally poor terrestrial habitat on the site also indicate that it is unlikely 
that GCN are present. GM Ecology Unit agrees with the findings of the report and has no 
objections, subject to the inclusion of a condition relating to reasonable avoidance 
measures method statement for amphibians.  
 
Other Protected Species - Whilst badgers and bats could forage across and over the site, it 
is extremely unlikely to be of significance for maintaining the favourable conservation status 
of either species. The report reasonably discounted all other species. GM Ecology Unit 
agrees with the findings of the report and has no objections to the proposed development.  
No further information or measures are required. 

Page 63



 
Nesting Birds - The site has limited bird nesting potential, the hedge along the southern 
boundary likely to be retained and the presence of a public footpath through the site likely to 
prevent ground nesting birds.  It is not however completely clear if all the hedge is to be 
retained and the situation may change at reserved matters.  Therefore as a precaution 
GMEU recommend a condition to restrict the removal of vegetation/trees/hedges.  
 
Hedgehog and other small Mammal - The report notes that some low value habitat is 
present for species, such as hedgehog. In addition, the site may continue to regenerate by 
the time a reserved matters application is made. GM Ecology Unit has no objections, 
subject to the inclusion of a condition relating to reasonable avoidance measures method 
statement for hedgehog and other small mammals.  
 
Contributing to and Enhancing the Natural Environment 
Section 174 of the NPPF 2021 states that the planning policies and decisions should 
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment.   
 
GMEU are of the opinion that there would be a net loss of the natural environment on site 
and recommend a commitment at outline that full mitigation and compensation for loss of 
habitats.  GMEU also recommended that a DEFRA metric be provided. 
 
The applicant has supplied a Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) design stage assessment and 
GMEU have been reconsulted on the findings. The proposals put forward in the report for 
ecological enhancement represent an 11% net gain, but this would likely be an 'at best' and 
questionably achievable.  GMEU accept the baseline used in the report as a target for the 
reserved matters to achieve (plus 10% if necessary) rather than accept the current post 
development estimate and therefore recommend a condition that as part of the reserved 
matters application, a net gain plan be provided detailing in full, measures to protect and 
enhance retained habitat during construction works and the formation of new habitat to 
secure appropriate habitat compensation value. 
The NPPG sets out that planning conditions should be used where development can be 
made to be acceptable which would otherwise be refused.  Given the technical advice from 
GMEU it is lawful and reasonable to attach a condition.   
 
GMEU are therefore satisfied that with conditions, the development would be acceptable 
and comply with EN6/3 and the principles of the NPPF.  
 
Drainage - A Drainage Strategy and drainage plan were submitted at the time the 
application was made and was based on the original scheme for 13 dwellings. The 
indicative plan for the 13 dwellings showed a drainage compound located in the northern 
corner of the site to the north of the access road. 
 
UU raised no objection to the proposed development and recommended a condition the 
development be carried out in accordance with the submitted drainage scheme and details.  
 
The proposals have been subsequently revised for a development of 12 dwellings and the 
indicative plan now shows the drainage compound located on the opposite side of the 
access road between plot 4 and the western boundary. A revised drainage strategy and 
drainage plan have been provided to reflect the amended scheme.  
 
Fundamentally, the drainage proposals have not changed, in that a drainage compound is 
to be provided for the development.  That said, the application is outline only and the layout 
may change at reserved matters stage. 
 
It is therefore considered reasonable to include a condition for the submission of a drainage 
strategy and scheme as part of a reserved matters application.  
 
On a related matter, it is understood that a culvert runs across the site in a west/easterly 
direction.  This is not a UU asset. The applicant would therefore be directed to discuss 

Page 64



building over the existing private surface water sewer with the Riparian owner who is 
responsible for the asset.  
 
It is therefore considered that the proposed development would be acceptable and comply 
with Policy EN5/1 and the principles of the NPPF.  
 
Planning obligations - As the application is in outline with the means of access to be 
determined at this stage, the exact housing type and mix of housing would be determined at 
the reserved matters application and it is not possible to ascertain the recreation 
contribution or which specific units would be affordable at this stage. A condition would be 
included on the decision notice to ensure that schemes to secure the recreation provision 
and affordable housing in accordance with relevant policy is submitted at reserved matters 
stage. 
It may also be necessary  to secure BNG off site but this need would be established in the 
submission of a reserved matters application.  
 
Response to objectors 
 
The applicant has provided a response to objections which have been raised as follows: 
 

• Principal of development and Green Belt impact - The proposal would not result in the 
loss of Green Belt land.  The site is identified as 'Other Protected Open Land' and in the 
context of a shortfall in the five year housing land supply for housing, and fact that the 
Policy is intrinsically linked to the supply of housing; the Policy is not NPPF compliant 
and holds no material weight in the consideration of this application. As such, the 
principal of ‘sustainable development takes precedence as set out in the NPPF. The site 
forms a natural extension to the settlement of Walmersley, with strong linkages to 
existing services and infrastructure. As recognised by the planning history of the site - 
the site represents a sustainable location for much needed residential development 
across the Borough. The principal of development is therefore acceptable, subject to 
other detailed considerations. 

• Number of proposed dwelling - Para 125 of the NPPF states decisions should ensure 
that developments make ‘optimal use’ of the potential of each site. Application 67116, 
which residents refer to was refused solely on the ground that the site failed to meet this 
requirement. The policy therefore provides strong support for maximising the 
development potential of the site, especially when located within a highly accessible and 
sustainable location. The delivery of 12 homes on this site is therefore considered policy 
compliant. 

• Affordable Housing - The proposal seeks to deliver 1 dwelling, in accordance with the 
adopted planning policy framework. This would be conditioned given the outline nature 
of the application.  

• Design and technical issues - The application indicatively shows 12 dwellings could be 
built on site served from a single new road.  Each site will benefit from private gardens, 
bin store and parking in line with design requirements.  Turning is provided for vehicles 
and new pumping station for drainage.  External appearance and scale would be a 
reserved matter and would be considered at the appropriate time.  

• Impact on highway network - The existing access through the site would serve the 
development, turning head provided and acceptable visibility standards.  The Traffic 
section have raised no objection subject to securing access by a S106 agreement. Note 
that traffic is a major concern for residents.  The submitted Transport Statement 
confirms the location and adjacent junction has no capacity issues for the development 
proposed.  The traffic count data has applied growth rates which accounts for 
cumulated development in the locality. Not all trips would coincide with the school 
opening time Springside Road benefits from footways either side and there would be no 
evidence to suggest there would be a worsening of safety for pedestrians. The site is 
accessible to a range of services and facilities.  It is concluded the development would 
not be of a scale to cause a severe adverse impact on traffic or highway safety.  

• Flood risk and drainage - The site is located in flood zone 1 which is at low risk from 
flooding.  New separate foul and surface water drainage systems would be installed. A 

Page 65



new pumping station would be deal with foul water and surface water drainage 
discharged to the existing system at a controlled rate.  A condition for the submission of 
a SuDS has been included and United Utilities approval would be required.  

• Impact on PRoW and amenity of existing applicants -  Impact on visual amenity and 
amenity of resident and ramblers has been raised as a key concern.  Only a short 
section of the PRoW would be affected. The development would not extinguish any 
rights of way. It would be largely retained along its existing route.  An alternative 
additional footpath would be provided along the south/westerly boundary which would 
retain views of the open countryside and Peel Tower. This would provide additinal 
routes for walkers.  

• Loss of Ecological Value -  A preliminary ecological appraisal has been undertaken 
which concludes the site has a 'very low' habitat value. A Biodiversity net Gain (BNG) 
confirms the development would lead to a net gain in area habitats and net loss in linear 
units and therefore off site mitigation would therefore be necessary for linear river units.  
A long term of management plan can be secured by a section 106 Agreement which 
would be part of a reserved matters application.  

• Japanese knotweed - The ecological Survey did not identify any invasive species on 
site.  At this time no further surveys would be required.  

• Capacity of existing infrastructure - Concerns have been raised regarding availability of 
existing infrastructure (GP's local schools, public transport) especially in context of wider 
development proposals. The LPA have not identified any issue in this respect. A 
recreation contribution for a development of 12 dwellings would be required to which the 
applicant has agreed.  This would come forward in a reserved matters application. 

• Pollution - The site is not in an identified Air Quality Management Area. A condition has 
been accepted that the development would provided for an EV chargepoint for each 
residential unit.    

 
Summary by applicant 
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires planning 
applications to be determined in accordance with the Development Plan, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. In this case, policies contained in the UDP are time 
expired, and do not seek to meet current development need, especially for housing. 
Furthermore, in the absence of a 5- year housing land supply, Policy OL2/1 is ‘out of date’ 
and should be afforded no material weight in the decision-making process. 
 
The density of development seeks to ‘optimise’ the use of the site for housing, as requested 
by Bury Council as part of the planning history of the site and recent pre-application 
discussions. The provision of 12 homes, including 1 affordable should hold significant 
weight in the determination of this application. Importantly, the layout has been influenced 
by the constraints of the site, with technical documents confirming that the site is 
deliverable. 
 
Overall, it is considered the proposed development would represent a sustainable form of 
development and would be policy compliant. 
 
Response to other objections 

• The Fire Service have been consulted and state that the development should meet the 
requirements of the fire service for emergency access purposes.  This would be 
included as an informative to the applicant 

• United Utilities would need to agree and approve final drainage arrangements 

• The development for 12 dwellings would be relatively small scale and would not put any 
significant pressure on local amenities.   

• The previously refused planning application in 1998 for 13 dwellings is now considered 
irrelevant as it related to the application of outdated planning policies. In respect of this 
application, current planning policies in the NPPF apply, together with the consideration 
of the lack of housing supply in the Borough. 

• All other issues have been covered in the above report or response by applicant above.  
  
Statement in accordance with Article 35(2) Town and Country Planning (Development 

Page 66



Management Procedure) (England) (Amendment) Order 2015 
 
The Local Planning Authority worked positively and proactively with the applicant to identify 
various solutions during the application process to ensure that the proposal comprised 
sustainable development and would improve the economic, social and environmental 
conditions of the area and would accord with the development plan. These were 
incorporated into the scheme and/or have been secured by planning condition. The Local 
Planning Authority has therefore implemented the requirement in Paragraph 38 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
Recommendation: Minded to Approve 
 
Conditions/ Reasons 
 

1. Applications for approval of reserved matters must be made not later than: 
 

• the expiration of three years beginning with the date of the grant of outline 
planning permission; and 

• that the development to which the permission relates must be begun not later 
than the expiration of two years from the final approval of the reserved matters 
or, in the case of approval on different dates, the final approval of the last such 
matter to be approved. 

 
Reason. Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 

 

2. Before the development is commenced, the applicant shall submit detailed plans 
and particulars to the Local Planning Authority, and obtain their approval under the 
Town and Country Planning Acts, of the following reserved matters; the layout, 
scale, appearance, and the landscaping of the site. 
Reason. To ensure the satisfactory development of the site and because this 
application is in outline only. 

 

3. No development shall commence unless and until:- 

• A contaminated land Preliminary Risk Assessment report to assess the 
actual/potential contamination and/or ground gas/landfill gas risks at the site 
shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority; 

• Where actual/potential contamination and/or ground gas/landfill gas risks have 
been identified, detailed site investigation and suitable risk assessment shall be 
submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority; 

• Where remediation/protection measures is/are required, a detailed 
Remediation Strategy shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the 
Local Planning Authority. 

Reason.  The scheme does not provide full details of the actual contamination 
and subsequent remediation, which is required to secure the satisfactory 
development of the site in terms of human health, controlled waters, ground gas 
and the wider environment and pursuant to National Planning Policy Framework 
Section 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural environment. 

 

4. Following the provisions of Condition 3 of this planning permission, where 
remediation is required, the approved Remediation Strategy must be carried out to 
the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority within agreed timescales; and 
A Site Verification Report detailing the actions taken and conclusions at each 
stage of the remediation works, including substantiating evidence, shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the 
development being brought into use. 
Reason. To secure the satisfactory development of the site in terms of human 
health, controlled waters and the wider environment and pursuant to National 
Planning Policy Framework Section 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural 

Page 67



environment.  
 

 

5. The development hereby approved shall provide 1 no EV chargepoint* per 
dwelling which shall thereafter be maintained.  
 
*Mode 3, 7kW (32A) single phase, or 22kW (32A) three phase, and for 50kW 
Mode 4 rapid charging may be required. British Standard BS EN 61851-1:2011 to 
be used (note this version is due to be replaced).  
Reason.  In accordance with the principles of the NPPF, to encourage the uptake 
of ultra-low emission vehicles and ensure the development is sustainable. To 
safeguard residential amenity, public health and quality of life. 

 

6. Notwithstanding the submitted Drainage Strategy, as part of a reserved matters 
application, surface water drainage proposals shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme should be in accordance 
with the a Surface Water Sustainable Drainage Assessment and must be based 
on the hierarchy of drainage options in the National Planning Practice Guidance 
and be designed in accordance with the Non-Statutory Technical Standards for 
Sustainable Drainage Systems (March 2015). This must include assessment of 
potential SuDS options for surface water drainage with appropriate calculations 
and test results to support the chosen solution. Details of proposed maintenance 
arrangements should also be provided.  The approved scheme only shall be 
implemented prior to first occupation and thereafter maintained.  
Reason. To promote sustainable development and reduce flood risk pursuant to 
Unitary Development Plan Policies EN5/1- New Development and Flood Risk , 
EN7/3 - Water Pollution and EN7/5 - Waste Water Management and chapter 14 - 
Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change of the 
NPPF. 

 

7. As part of a reserved matters application details relating to the existing boundary 
hedge and the proposed boundary treatment for the site shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved details only 
shall be implemented as part of the approved development and thereafter 
maintained.  
Reason - To secure the satisfactory development of the site and in the interests of 
the visual amenities of the area pursuant to Policy EN1/2 - Townscape and Built 
Design of Bury Unitary Development Plan. 
 

 

8. Prior to the commencement of the development, a biodiversity enhancement and 
management plan (BEMP) for the application site shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This shall include all of the 
landscaping and biodiversity net gain measures to achieve at least 1.25 BU within 
the development site as detailed within the approved application documents, 
including monitoring and long term management objectives. Once approved, the 
development shall be undertaken in accordance with the BEMP. 
Reason.  To secure the satisfactory development of the site and in the interests of 
visual amenity pursuant to Policies EN1/2 - Townscape and Built Design and 
EN8/2 - Woodland and Tree Planting of the Bury Unitary Development Plan and 
chapter 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural environment of the NPPF. 

 

9. As part of reserved matters a reasonable avoidance measures method statement 
for amphibians shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The measures subsequently approved shall be implemented in 
accordance with an approved timetable.  
Reason. In order to ensure that no harm is caused to a Protected Species 
pursuant to policies EN6 – Conservation of the Natural Environment and EN6/3 – 
Features of Ecological Value of the Bury Unitary Development Plan and Section 
11 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

Page 68



 

10. No works to trees or shrubs or hedge shall occur between the 1st March and 31st 
August in any year unless a detailed bird nest survey by a suitably experienced 
ecologist has been carried out immediately prior to clearance and written 
confirmation provided that no active bird nests are present which has been agreed 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason. In order to ensure that no harm is caused to a Protected Species 
pursuant to policies EN6 - Conservation of the Natural Environment and EN6/3 - 
Features of Ecological Value of the Bury Unitary Development Plan and National 
Planning Policy Framework Section 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural 
environment. 

 

11. As part of reserved matters  for layout and landscaping, a reasonable avoidance 
measure method statement for hedgehog and other mammals shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The measures 
subsequently approved shall be implemented in accordance with an approved 
timetable.  
Reason. In order to ensure that no harm is caused to a Protected Species 
pursuant to policies EN6 – Conservation of the Natural Environment and EN6/3 – 
Features of Ecological Value of the Bury Unitary Development Plan and Section 
11 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

12. This decision relates to drawings - Location plan EAD_126_P_101 rev S3; 
Proposed access Road EAD_126_P_104. 
Indicative plan only - Illustrative layout EAD_126_P_103 rev S5 
and the development shall not be carried out except in accordance with the 
drawings hereby approved. 
Reason.  For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 
design pursuant to the policies of the Bury Unitary Development Plan listed. 

 

13. The development hereby approved shall include provision for affordable housing 
that would be sufficient to be in accordance with the chapter 5 - Delivering a 
sufficient supply of homes of the NPPF. The approved details shall be submitted 
as part of the first reserved matters application relating to the housing proposals 
within the site.   
Reason.  To ensure that the development would contribute to satisfying the need 
for affordable housing provision pursuant to the principles of the NPPF. 

 

14. The development hereby approved shall include provision for recreation provision 
that would be sufficient to be in accordance with Bury Unitary Development Plan 
Policy RT2/2 - Recreation Provision In New Residential Development and the 
associated Development Control Policy Guidance Note 1 Recreational Provision in 
New Housing Development. The approved details shall be submitted as part of the 
first reserved matters application relating to the housing proposals within the site.  
Reason - To ensure that the development would contribute to satisfying the need 
for recreation provision pursuant to Bury Unitary Development Plan Policy RT2/2 - 
Recreation Provision In New Residential Development and the associated 
Supplementary Planning Document 1 - Open Space, Sport and Recreation in New 
Housing Development. 
 

 

15. Notwithstanding the details shown indicatively on approved plan references 
EAD_126_P_103 Revision S5 & EAD_126_P_104, no development shall 
commence on the adopted highway that affects the existing arrangements/turning 
facilities at the cul-de-sac end of Springside Road unless and until the 
replacement, adoptable turning facilities within the curtilage of the site have been 
implemented to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority and made available 
for public use. 
Reason.  To secure the satisfactory development of the site in terms of highway 
safety, ensure good highway design and maintain the integrity of the adopted 

Page 69



highway, all in the interests of highway safety pursuant to Bury Unitary 
Development Plan Policies H1/2 - Further Housing Development, H2/2 - The 
Layout of New Residential Development and HT6/2 - Pedestrian/Vehicular 
Conflict.   
 

 

16. Notwithstanding the details shown indicatively on approved plan references 
EAD_126_P_103 Revision S5 & EAD_126_P_104 and in the supporting technical 
information, full details of the following highway aspects shall be submitted on a 
topographical based survey of the site and adopted highways at first reserved 
matters application stage: 
 

• Formation of the site access onto/continuation of Springside Road and 
proposed new estate road, incorporating the provision of the minimum 
carriageway and footway widths shown, all off site alterations to form the new 
bend in Springside Road with associated adequate levels of forward visibility 
appropriate for a design speed of 20mph with no obstructions above the height 
of 0.6m within the envelope, all alterations to existing/provision of new road 
markings, adequate arrangements at the interface with all adjacent accesses 
including Bridleway No. 155, Bury, tactile paved crossing point in a position to 
be agreed, adoptable turning head at the westerly end of the continuation of 
Springside Road/new estate road that can accommodate the manoeuvres of 
the Council's refuse collection vehicles, demarcation of the limits of the future 
adopted highway, adoptable surface water drainage scheme and all 
associated highway and highway drainage remedial works, road markings and 
signage, to a scope and specification to be agreed with the Highway Authority; 

• New footpath to run behind the proposed development, incorporating proposed 
future status and/or maintenance and surfacing materials; 

• Provision of off-highway replacement parking facilities for No. 62 Springside 
Road with a 5.0m (minimum) long hardstanding measured from the back of the 
new estate road footway; 

• Provision of minimum hardstandings of 5.5m at each dwelling measured from 
the highway/estate road boundary, incorporating porous/permeable driveway 
materials and/or measures to prevent the discharge of surface water onto the 
future adopted highway; 

• A scheme of 20mph traffic calming measures on the extended section of 
Springside Road to a scope and specification to be agreed, including details of 
proposed materials, road markings and signage and all associated off-site 
accommodation/enabling works as required; 

• Provision of a street lighting assessment to a scope and specification to be 
agreed (and, where necessary, a scheme of improvements) for the extended 
section of Springside Road and the junction with Bridleway No. 155, Bury; 

• Proposed phasing of construction of the development. 
 
The highway works subsequently approved shall be implemented to an agreed 
programme. 
Reason. To secure the satisfactory development of the site in terms of highway 
safety, ensure good highway design and maintain the integrity of the adopted 
highway, all in the interests of highway safety pursuant to Bury Unitary 
Development Plan Policies H1/2 - Further Housing Development, H2/2 - The 
Layout of New Residential Development, HT2/4 - Car Parking and New 
Development and HT6/2 - Pedestrian/Vehicular Conflict.   
 

 

17. Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved, a sprinkler/misting 
system to meet the requirements of BS 9251:2014 or other subsequent standard 
that meets the requirements of Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue Service and 
deemed suitable to overcome the site's emergency access deficiencies, shall be 
installed in the dwellings hereby approved and shall thereafter be maintained at all 

Page 70



times. 
Reason.  In the interests of fire safety and to ensure the safe and satisfactory 
development of the site and for its future occupiers pursuant to Bury Unitary 
Development Plan Policies H1/2 - Further Housing Development, H2/2 - The 
Layout of New Residential Development and EN1/2 - Townscape and Built Design. 
 

 

18. Within the submission for layout as part of any reserved matters application, a 
residential travel plan strategy shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. Before the development is commenced, a scheme for 
the provision of occupier travel plan measures shall be submitted to and approved 
by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include details of measures 
relating to walking, cycling, public transport and car parking. The scheme shall 
establish the developer and occupier travel plan objectives and targets and include 
an implementation programme. The approved scheme shall be implemented 
before the development is first occupied and retained thereafter. 
Reason.  In order to deliver sustainable transport objectives in accordance with 
chaper 9 - Promoting sustainable transport of the NPPF.  

 

19. No development shall commence unless and until a 'Construction Traffic 
Management Plan' (CTMP), has been submitted to and agreed in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority and shall confirm/provide the following: 
 

• Photographic dilapidation survey of the footways and carriageways leading to 
and abutting the site in the event that subsequent remedial works are required 
following construction of the development and as a result of statutory 
undertakers connections to the site; 

• Access route for all vehicles to the site from the Key Route Network and all 
temporary works required to facilitate access for ground works/construction 
vehicles; 

• If proposed, details of site hoarding/gate positions clear of required visibility 
splays onto Springside Road/Bridleway No. 155, Bury; 

• The provision, where necessary, of all required temporary pedestrian 
facilities/protection measures, incorporating the potential temporary diversion 
of Public Footpath No. 160, Bury required to facilitate the construction of the 
proposed development; 

• A scheme of appropriate warning/construction traffic speed signage in the 
vicinity of the site and its access onto Springside Road; 

• Confirmation of hours of operation and number of vehicle movements taking 
into consideration school start finish times due to the proximity of the site to 
Springside County Primary School; 

• Arrangements for the turning and manoeuvring of vehicles within the curtilage 
of the site and/or measures to control/manage delivery vehicle manoeuvres; 

• Parking on site or on land within the applicant's control of operatives' and 
construction vehicles, together with storage on site of construction materials; 

• Measures to ensure that all mud and other loose materials are not spread onto 
the adjacent adopted highways as a result of the groundworks operations or 
carried on the wheels and chassis of any vehicles leaving the site and 
measures to minimise dust nuisance caused by the operations. 

 
The approved plan shall be adhered to throughout the construction period and the 
measures shall be retained and facilities used for the intended purpose for the 
duration of the construction period. The areas identified shall not be used for any 
other purposes other than the turning/parking of vehicles and storage of 
construction materials. All highway remedial works identified as a result of the 
dilapidation survey shall be implemented prior to the development hereby 
approved being brought into use. 
Reason.  Information not submitted at application stage. To mitigate the impact of 
the construction traffic generated by the proposed development on the adjacent 

Page 71



residential streets, and ensure adequate off street car parking provision and 
materials storage arrangements for the duration of the construction period and that 
the adopted highways are kept free of deposited material from the ground works 
operations, in the interests of highway safety pursuant to Bury Unitary 
Development Plan Policies EN1/2 - Townscape and Built Design and HT6/2 - 
Pedestrian/Vehicular Conflict. 

 
For further information on the application please contact Jennie Townsend on 0161 
253-5320

Page 72



PLANNING APPLICATION LOCATION PLAN 

Planning, Environmental and Regulatory Services

 No Window 

 No Window 

ADDRESS:

APP. NO 68815

Land adjacent to 62 Springside Road, 
Bury, BL9 5JQ



(C) Crown Copyright and database right (2015). Ordnance Survey 100023063.

1

81

91

62

65

10

33

11

21

14

9

1

31

2

El

Sub Sta

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

SPRINGSIDE ROAD (TRACK)

DRIVE
DRIVE
DRIVE
DRIVE
DRIVE
DRIVE
DRIVE

DRIVE
DRIVE
DRIVE
DRIVE
DRIVE
DRIVE
DRIVE

DRIVE
DRIVE
DRIVE
DRIVE
DRIVE
DRIVE
DRIVE

DRIVE
DRIVE
DRIVE
DRIVE
DRIVE
DRIVE

DRIVE
DRIVE
DRIVE
DRIVE
DRIVE
DRIVE
DRIVE

DRIVE
DRIVE
DRIVE
DRIVE
DRIVE
DRIVE
DRIVE

DRIVE
DRIVE
DRIVE
DRIVE
DRIVE
DRIVE
DRIVE

DRIVE

TRAWDEN DRIVE
TRAWDEN DRIVE
TRAWDEN DRIVE
TRAWDEN DRIVE
TRAWDEN DRIVE
TRAWDEN DRIVE
TRAWDEN DRIVETRAWDEN DRIVE
TRAWDEN DRIVE
TRAWDEN DRIVE
TRAWDEN DRIVE
TRAWDEN DRIVE
TRAWDEN DRIVE
TRAWDEN DRIVETRAWDEN DRIVE
TRAWDEN DRIVE
TRAWDEN DRIVE
TRAWDEN DRIVE
TRAWDEN DRIVE
TRAWDEN DRIVE
TRAWDEN DRIVETRAWDEN DRIVE
TRAWDEN DRIVE
TRAWDEN DRIVE
TRAWDEN DRIVE
TRAWDEN DRIVE
TRAWDEN DRIVETRAWDEN DRIVE
TRAWDEN DRIVE
TRAWDEN DRIVE
TRAWDEN DRIVE
TRAWDEN DRIVE
TRAWDEN DRIVE
TRAWDEN DRIVETRAWDEN DRIVE
TRAWDEN DRIVE
TRAWDEN DRIVE
TRAWDEN DRIVE
TRAWDEN DRIVE
TRAWDEN DRIVE
TRAWDEN DRIVETRAWDEN DRIVE
TRAWDEN DRIVE
TRAWDEN DRIVE
TRAWDEN DRIVE
TRAWDEN DRIVE
TRAWDEN DRIVE
TRAWDEN DRIVETRAWDEN DRIVE

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

BRIERFIELD

123.4m

121.6m

124.4m

68815 - Item 3 - Viewpoints

1.
2. 3.

4.5.

6.

7.

Page 73



68815 

Photo 1 

 

Photo 2 

 Page 74



68815 

Photo 3 

 

Photo 4 

 

Page 75



68815 

Photo 5 

 

Photo 6 

 Page 76



68815 

Photo 7  

 

Page 77



CLIENT>

> REVISION DATE> DESCRIPTION>

> PROJECT

> DRAWING TITLE

SCALE> > DATE DRAWN> > CHECKED

> DRG NO. REVISION>

2 St Matthews School House
Stanhill Lane
Oswaldtwistle
Accrington
Lancashire BB5 4PZ
T  01254 469702
M 07957 592102
E paul@evolvead.co.uk
www.evolvead.co.uk

Evolve Architectural Design Ltd>

> IMPORTANT

C   Information issued for Construction.
T   Information issued for tender purposes only.
S   Information issued for feasibility or scheme design.

REVISION STATUS

>

>

>

>

© This drawing is copyright and remains the property of this practice
Do not scale this drawing
All dimensions to be checked on site
Positions of existing services to be confirmed prior to proceeding

NB: Only those drawings containing a C revision to be used for construction.

NOTES>

Cornell Group

Proposed Residential Development
Land off Springside Road

Location Plan

1:1250@A3 Feb '21 PRH PRH

EAD_126_P_101 S3

North

0 12.5 25 50 75 100m
SCALE

1:1,250

125

Updated in line with
Highways Engineer

28.10.22S1
Blue edge added13.02.23S2

Red edge amended to suit
altered road width

01.03.23S3

P
age 78

AutoCAD SHX Text
65

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
55a

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
TRAWDEN DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
SPRINGSIDE ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
81

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
62

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
124.4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
53

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
BRIERFIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
91

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
124.4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
55b

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
123.4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
Ordnance Survey (c) Crown Copyright 2021. All rights reserved. Licence number 100022432



91
89

62

60

2m width

Existing bridleway (155BUR)

New 6.75m wide adoptable road
and turning head to follow existing
PROW (160BUR). Details subject
to Section 106 agreement

6.75m width

Springside Road extended,
junction details subject to
Section 106 agreement

Forward visibility to be plotted, any
obstruction above 0.6m in height within
front garden of 62 Springside Road can
be removed/reduced if required

Extent of adoption, details of
interface to existing track subject
to Section 106 agreement

Priority giveway at interface to
existing track, details subject to
Section 106 agreement

2m wide footpaths to
both sides of new road

CLIENT>

> REVISION DATE> DESCRIPTION>

> PROJECT

> DRAWING TITLE

SCALE> > DATE DRAWN> > CHECKED

> DRG NO. REVISION>

2 St Matthews School House
Stanhill Lane
Oswaldtwistle
Accrington
Lancashire BB5 4PZ
T  01254 469702
M 07957 592102
E paul@evolvead.co.uk
www.evolvead.co.uk

Evolve Architectural Design Ltd>

> IMPORTANT

C   Information issued for Construction.
T   Information issued for tender purposes only.
S   Information issued for feasibility or scheme design.

REVISION STATUS

>

>

>

>

© This drawing is copyright and remains the property of this practice
Do not scale this drawing
All dimensions to be checked on site
Positions of existing services to be confirmed prior to proceeding

NB: Only those drawings containing a C revision to be used for construction.

NOTES>

Cornell Group

Proposed Residential Development
Land off Springside Road

Proposed Access Road

1:500@A3 Feb '21 PRH PRH

EAD_126_P_104

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45m
SCALE

50

1:500

North G
re

en
 B

el
t B

ou
nd

ar
y

P
age 79

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
2000N

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
2040N

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
2080N

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
2000N

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
2040N

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
2080N

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
960E

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
1000E

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
1040E

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
960E

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
1000E

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
1040E

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
122.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
122.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
122.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
122.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
122.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
124.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
124.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
124.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
124.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
124.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
123.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
123.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
124.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
123.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
123.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
123.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
122.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
122.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
122.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
122.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
121.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
121.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
123.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
122.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
122.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
122.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
122.54

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
122.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
122.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
123.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
123.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
122.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
122.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
122.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
122.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
123.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
122.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
123.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
122.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
122.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
123.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
123.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
123.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
123.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
121.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
122.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
122.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
122.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
122.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
122.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
122.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
122.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
122.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
122.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
123.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
122.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
122.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
122.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
122.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_97
122.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
122.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
122.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
122.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
122.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_102
122.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_103
122.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_104
123.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_105
124.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_106
124.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_107
124.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_108
124.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_109
124.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_110
124.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_111
124.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_112
124.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_113
124.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_114
124.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_115
Ep

AutoCAD SHX Text_116
124.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_117
124.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_118
124.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_119
124.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_120
124.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_121
124.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_122
124.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_123
124.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_124
124.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_125
124.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_126
124.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_127
124.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_128
124.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_129
124.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_130
124.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_131
124.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_132
124.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_133
124.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_134
124.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_135
124.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_136
124.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_137
124.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_138
124.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_139
124.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_140
123.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_141
124.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_142
124.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_143
124.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_144
124.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_145
123.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_146
123.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_147
124.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_148
124.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_149
124.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_150
124.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_151
124.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_152
124.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_153
124.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_154
124.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_155
124.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_156
124.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_157
124.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_158
124.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_159
124.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_160
124.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_161
124.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_162
123.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_163
124.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_164
123.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_165
123.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_166
123.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_167
123.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_168
123.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_169
123.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_170
123.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_171
123.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_172
124.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_173
122.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_174
122.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_175
123.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_176
123.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_177
123.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_178
123.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_179
123.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_180
123.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_181
123.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_182
123.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_183
124.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_184
124.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_185
123.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_186
124.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_187
123.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_188
123.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_189
123.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_190
123.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_191
123.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_192
123.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_193
123.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_194
123.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_195
123.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_196
123.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_197
123.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_198
123.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_199
123.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_200
123.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_201
123.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_202
123.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_203
123.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_204
123.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_205
123.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_206
123.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_207
123.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_208
123.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_209
122.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_210
123.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_211
122.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_212
123.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_213
124.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_214
124.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_215
124.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_216
124.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_217
124.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_218
Tp

AutoCAD SHX Text_219
Rs

AutoCAD SHX Text_220
124.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_221
124.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_222
125.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_223
125.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_224
125.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_225
125.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_226
124.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_227
124.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_228
124.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_229
124.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_230
124.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_231
RIDGE 128.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_232
EAVE 127.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_233
RIDGE 128.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_234
124.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_235
Step

AutoCAD SHX Text_236
124.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_237
124.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_238
124.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_239
124.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_240
124.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_241
124.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_242
124.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_243
124.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_244
125.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_245
125.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_246
125.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_247
125.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_248
125.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_249
125.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_250
125.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_251
124.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_252
125.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_253
125.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_254
125.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_255
125.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_256
124.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_257
124.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_258
124.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_259
124.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_260
124.54

AutoCAD SHX Text_261
124.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_262
124.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_263
124.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_264
124.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_265
124.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_266
124.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_267
124.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_268
124.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_269
124.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_270
124.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_271
124.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_272
Gy

AutoCAD SHX Text_273
124.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_274
124.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_275
Fh

AutoCAD SHX Text_276
Ic

AutoCAD SHX Text_277
124.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_278
Sv

AutoCAD SHX Text_279
Sv

AutoCAD SHX Text_280
124.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_281
124.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_282
125.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_283
125.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_284
124.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_285
Ic

AutoCAD SHX Text_286
124.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_287
124.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_288
125.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_289
124.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_290
124.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_291
123.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_292
123.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_293
124.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_294
124.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_295
124.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_296
124.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_297
124.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_298
124.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_299
124.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_300
RIDGE 129.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_301
EAVE 127.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_302
RIDGE 124.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_303
124.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_304
124.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_305
124.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_306
124.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_307
124.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_308
125.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_309
125.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_310
125.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_311
124.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_312
124.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_313
124.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_314
124.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_315
124.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_316
124.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_317
124.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_318
123.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_319
124.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_320
124.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_321
124.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_322
125.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_323
124.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_324
124.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_325
124.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_326
124.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_327
124.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_328
124.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_329
124.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_330
123.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_331
123.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_332
123.94

AutoCAD SHX Text_333
124.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_334
123.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_335
123.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_336
124.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_337
124.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_338
123.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_339
123.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_340
123.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_341
123.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_342
123.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_343
123.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_344
124.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_345
124.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_346
123.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_347
122.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_348
123.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_349
123.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_350
123.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_351
123.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_352
123.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_353
123.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_354
123.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_355
123.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_356
124.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_357
124.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_358
Gy

AutoCAD SHX Text_359
124.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_360
124.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_361
124.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_362
124.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_363
Gy

AutoCAD SHX Text_364
124.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_365
124.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_366
124.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_367
Gy

AutoCAD SHX Text_368
124.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_369
EAVE 127.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_370
EAVE 129.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_371
RIDGE 132.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_372
EAVE 130.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_373
RIDGE 132.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_374
EAVE 130.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_375
RIDGE 132.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_376
EAVE 130.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_377
RIDGE 133.54

AutoCAD SHX Text_378
EAVE 131.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_379
RIDGE 133.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_380
EAVE 131.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_381
RIDGE 133.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_382
EAVE 131.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_383
RIDGE 133.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_384
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_385
CONCRETE POST & WOOD FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_386
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_387
WOOD FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_388
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_389
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_390
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_391
CONCRETE POST & WOOD FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_392
CONCRETE POSTS

AutoCAD SHX Text_393
GARAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_394
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_395
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_396
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_397
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_398
WOOD POST & WIRE FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_399
SPRINGSIDE ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_400
GRAVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_401
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_402
GARDEN

AutoCAD SHX Text_403
GARDENS

AutoCAD SHX Text_404
GARDENS

AutoCAD SHX Text_405
ROUGH GROUND

AutoCAD SHX Text_406
ROUGH GROUND

AutoCAD SHX Text_407
ROUGH GROUND

AutoCAD SHX Text_408
PASTURE

AutoCAD SHX Text_409
PASTURE

AutoCAD SHX Text_410
PASTURE

AutoCAD SHX Text_411
BOX

AutoCAD SHX Text_412
122.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_413
122.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_414
122.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_415
122.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_416
122.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_417
122.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_418
122.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_419
122.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_420
122.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_421
121.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_422
121.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_423
121.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_424
121.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_425
121.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_426
121.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_427
121.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_428
122.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_429
122.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_430
122.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_431
121.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_432
121.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_433
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_434
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_435
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_436
BOX

AutoCAD SHX Text_437
122.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_438
122.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_439
122.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_440
LAY-BY

AutoCAD SHX Text_441
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_442
CONCRETE POST & WOOD FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_443
WOOD FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_444
GRAVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_445
WORK IN PROGRSS

AutoCAD SHX Text_446
EAVE 131.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_447
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_448
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_449
62

AutoCAD SHX Text_450
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_451
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_452
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_453
BRIERFIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_454
91

AutoCAD SHX Text_455
124.4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_456
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_457
123.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_458
124.21



91
89

62

60

Drainage
Compound

2m width

Existing bridleway (155BUR)

6.75m width

T1

T2

T4

T5

T6

T7

T3

All proposed trees to be planted as
extra heavy standard, schedule as
follows:

T1 - Wild Cherry
T2 - Wild Cherry
T3 - Downy Birch
T4 - Downy Birch
T5 - Common Line
T6 - Smalled Leaved Lime
T7 - Silver Birch

HT 1
(3 Bed)

HT 2
(3 Bed)

HT 2
(3 Bed)

HT 2
(3 Bed)

HT 2
(3 Bed)

HT 2
(3 Bed)

HT 2
(3 Bed)

HT 2
(3 Bed)

HT 3
(4 Bed)

HT 3
(4 Bed)

HT 4
(3 Bed)

HT 4
(3 Bed)

Plot 1

Plot 2

Plot 3

Plot 4

Plot 6

Plot 5

Plot 7

Plot 8

Plot 9

Plot 10

Plot 11

Plot 12

CLIENT>

> REVISION DATE> DESCRIPTION>

> PROJECT

> DRAWING TITLE

SCALE> > DATE DRAWN> > CHECKED

> DRG NO. REVISION>

2 St Matthews School House
Stanhill Lane
Oswaldtwistle
Accrington
Lancashire BB5 4PZ
T  01254 469702
M 07957 592102
E paul@evolvead.co.uk
www.evolvead.co.uk

Evolve Architectural Design Ltd>

> IMPORTANT

C   Information issued for Construction.
T   Information issued for tender purposes only.
S   Information issued for feasibility or scheme design.

REVISION STATUS

>

>

>

>

© This drawing is copyright and remains the property of this practice
Do not scale this drawing
All dimensions to be checked on site
Positions of existing services to be confirmed prior to proceeding

NB: Only those drawings containing a C revision to be used for construction.

NOTES>

Cornell Group

Proposed Residential Development
Land off Springside Road

Illustrative Layout

1:500@A3 Feb '21 PRH PRH

EAD_126_P_103 S5

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45m
SCALE

50

1:500

North G
re

en
 B

el
t B

ou
nd

ar
y

Driveway size of no 62
increased for parking
and access to garage

New footpath to run behind
proposed development

Drainage compound added30.06.22S1

Road updated and parking
amended

18.07.22S2

Road junction updated in
line with Highways Engineer

28.10.22S3
Trees added09.02.23S4

Road and indicative layout
amended following
comments from
Highways/planning

01.03.23S5

P
age 80

AutoCAD SHX Text_459
2000N

AutoCAD SHX Text_460
2040N

AutoCAD SHX Text_461
2080N

AutoCAD SHX Text_462
2000N

AutoCAD SHX Text_463
2040N

AutoCAD SHX Text_464
2080N

AutoCAD SHX Text_465
960E

AutoCAD SHX Text_466
1000E

AutoCAD SHX Text_467
1040E

AutoCAD SHX Text_468
960E

AutoCAD SHX Text_469
1000E

AutoCAD SHX Text_470
1040E

AutoCAD SHX Text_471
122.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_472
122.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_473
122.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_474
122.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_475
122.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_476
124.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_477
124.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_478
124.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_479
124.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_480
124.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_481
123.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_482
123.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_483
124.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_484
123.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_485
123.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_486
123.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_487
122.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_488
122.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_489
122.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_490
122.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_491
121.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_492
121.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_493
123.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_494
122.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_495
122.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_496
122.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_497
122.54

AutoCAD SHX Text_498
122.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_499
122.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_500
123.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_501
123.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_502
122.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_503
122.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_504
122.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_505
122.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_506
123.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_507
122.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_508
123.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_509
122.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_510
122.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_511
123.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_512
123.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_513
123.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_514
123.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_515
121.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_516
122.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_517
122.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_518
122.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_519
122.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_520
122.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_521
122.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_522
122.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_523
122.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_524
122.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_525
123.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_526
122.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_527
122.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_528
122.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_529
122.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_530
122.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_531
122.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_532
122.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_533
122.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_534
122.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_535
122.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_536
122.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_537
123.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_538
124.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_539
124.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_540
124.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_541
124.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_542
124.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_543
124.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_544
124.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_545
124.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_546
124.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_547
124.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_548
Ep

AutoCAD SHX Text_549
124.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_550
124.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_551
124.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_552
124.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_553
124.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_554
124.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_555
124.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_556
124.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_557
124.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_558
124.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_559
124.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_560
124.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_561
124.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_562
124.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_563
124.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_564
124.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_565
124.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_566
124.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_567
124.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_568
124.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_569
124.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_570
124.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_571
124.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_572
124.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_573
123.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_574
124.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_575
124.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_576
124.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_577
124.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_578
123.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_579
123.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_580
124.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_581
124.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_582
124.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_583
124.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_584
124.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_585
124.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_586
124.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_587
124.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_588
124.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_589
124.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_590
124.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_591
124.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_592
124.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_593
124.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_594
124.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_595
123.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_596
124.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_597
123.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_598
123.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_599
123.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_600
123.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_601
123.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_602
123.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_603
123.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_604
123.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_605
124.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_606
122.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_607
122.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_608
123.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_609
123.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_610
123.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_611
123.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_612
123.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_613
123.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_614
123.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_615
123.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_616
124.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_617
124.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_618
123.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_619
124.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_620
123.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_621
123.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_622
123.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_623
123.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_624
123.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_625
123.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_626
123.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_627
123.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_628
123.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_629
123.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_630
123.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_631
123.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_632
123.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_633
123.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_634
123.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_635
123.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_636
123.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_637
123.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_638
123.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_639
123.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_640
123.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_641
123.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_642
122.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_643
123.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_644
122.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_645
123.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_646
124.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_647
124.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_648
124.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_649
124.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_650
124.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_651
Tp

AutoCAD SHX Text_652
Rs

AutoCAD SHX Text_653
124.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_654
124.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_655
125.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_656
125.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_657
125.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_658
125.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_659
124.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_660
124.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_661
124.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_662
124.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_663
124.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_664
RIDGE 128.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_665
EAVE 127.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_666
RIDGE 128.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_667
124.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_668
Step

AutoCAD SHX Text_669
124.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_670
124.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_671
124.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_672
124.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_673
124.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_674
124.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_675
124.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_676
124.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_677
125.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_678
125.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_679
125.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_680
125.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_681
125.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_682
125.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_683
125.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_684
124.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_685
125.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_686
125.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_687
125.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_688
125.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_689
124.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_690
124.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_691
124.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_692
124.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_693
124.54

AutoCAD SHX Text_694
124.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_695
124.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_696
124.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_697
124.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_698
124.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_699
124.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_700
124.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_701
124.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_702
124.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_703
124.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_704
124.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_705
Gy

AutoCAD SHX Text_706
124.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_707
124.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_708
Fh

AutoCAD SHX Text_709
Ic

AutoCAD SHX Text_710
124.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_711
Sv

AutoCAD SHX Text_712
Sv

AutoCAD SHX Text_713
124.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_714
124.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_715
125.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_716
125.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_717
124.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_718
Ic

AutoCAD SHX Text_719
124.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_720
124.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_721
125.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_722
124.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_723
124.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_724
123.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_725
123.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_726
124.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_727
124.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_728
124.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_729
124.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_730
124.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_731
124.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_732
124.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_733
RIDGE 129.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_734
EAVE 127.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_735
RIDGE 124.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_736
124.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_737
124.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_738
124.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_739
124.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_740
124.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_741
125.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_742
125.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_743
125.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_744
124.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_745
124.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_746
124.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_747
124.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_748
124.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_749
124.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_750
124.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_751
123.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_752
124.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_753
124.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_754
124.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_755
125.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_756
124.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_757
124.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_758
124.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_759
124.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_760
124.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_761
124.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_762
124.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_763
123.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_764
123.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_765
123.94

AutoCAD SHX Text_766
124.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_767
123.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_768
123.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_769
124.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_770
124.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_771
123.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_772
123.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_773
123.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_774
123.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_775
123.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_776
123.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_777
124.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_778
124.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_779
123.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_780
122.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_781
123.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_782
123.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_783
123.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_784
123.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_785
123.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_786
123.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_787
123.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_788
123.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_789
124.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_790
124.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_791
Gy

AutoCAD SHX Text_792
124.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_793
124.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_794
124.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_795
124.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_796
Gy

AutoCAD SHX Text_797
124.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_798
124.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_799
124.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_800
Gy

AutoCAD SHX Text_801
124.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_802
EAVE 127.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_803
EAVE 129.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_804
RIDGE 132.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_805
EAVE 130.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_806
RIDGE 132.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_807
EAVE 130.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_808
RIDGE 132.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_809
EAVE 130.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_810
RIDGE 133.54

AutoCAD SHX Text_811
EAVE 131.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_812
RIDGE 133.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_813
EAVE 131.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_814
RIDGE 133.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_815
EAVE 131.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_816
RIDGE 133.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_817
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_818
CONCRETE POST & WOOD FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_819
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_820
WOOD FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_821
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_822
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_823
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_824
CONCRETE POST & WOOD FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_825
CONCRETE POSTS

AutoCAD SHX Text_826
GARAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_827
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_828
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_829
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_830
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_831
WOOD POST & WIRE FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_832
SPRINGSIDE ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_833
GRAVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_834
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_835
GARDEN

AutoCAD SHX Text_836
GARDENS

AutoCAD SHX Text_837
GARDENS

AutoCAD SHX Text_838
ROUGH GROUND

AutoCAD SHX Text_839
ROUGH GROUND

AutoCAD SHX Text_840
ROUGH GROUND

AutoCAD SHX Text_841
PASTURE

AutoCAD SHX Text_842
PASTURE

AutoCAD SHX Text_843
PASTURE

AutoCAD SHX Text_844
BOX

AutoCAD SHX Text_845
122.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_846
122.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_847
122.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_848
122.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_849
122.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_850
122.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_851
122.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_852
122.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_853
122.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_854
121.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_855
121.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_856
121.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_857
121.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_858
121.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_859
121.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_860
121.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_861
122.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_862
122.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_863
122.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_864
121.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_865
121.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_866
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_867
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_868
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_869
BOX

AutoCAD SHX Text_870
122.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_871
122.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_872
122.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_873
LAY-BY

AutoCAD SHX Text_874
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_875
CONCRETE POST & WOOD FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_876
WOOD FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_877
GRAVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_878
WORK IN PROGRSS

AutoCAD SHX Text_879
EAVE 131.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_880
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_881
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_882
62

AutoCAD SHX Text_883
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_884
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_885
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_886
BRIERFIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_887
91

AutoCAD SHX Text_888
124.4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_889
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_890
123.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_891
124.21



 
 
  
 
Ward: Bury East - Moorside Item   03 

 
Applicant: Mr Tahir Nasir 
 
Location: 148 Walmersley Road, Bury, BL9 6LL 

 
Proposal: Change of use from dwelling (Class C3) to an 8 no. bedroom House in Multiple 

Occupation (HMO) (Sui Generis) 
 
Application Ref:   69452/Full Target Date:  22/05/2023 
 
Recommendation:  Approve with Conditions 
 
Description 
The application site relates to a garden fronted traditional red brick terraced property on a 
row of similar styled properties located on the east side of Walmersley Road between 
Chesham Road to the North and St Mark's Square to the south.  The site is located at the 
northern end of the row located closest to St Mark's Square. 
  
The application site is currently used as a family dwellinghouse. It is three-storeys high and 
it has a basement.  
 
Back Walmersley Road East, that runs along the back of these houses on Walmersley 
Road and it also runs at the back of the two-storey terraced houses on Hilton Street.   
Across Walmersley Road are mixed residential properties.    
 
The application site has an enclosed rear yard area where refuse storage bins are currently 
stored. 
 
The proposal is to change the use of the property from a single 6-bedroom dwellinghouse 
(Use Class C3) to an 8 bedroom House in Multiple Occupation (HMO) (Sui Generis use).  
 
The proposed 8 bedrooms would be located on each floor of the property as follows:  
 
Basement - 1 no. bedroom with en-suite 
Ground floor - 1 no. bedroom with ensuite, a communal kitchen-diner, lounge, and home 
working areas. 
First floor - 4 no. bedrooms with en suites  
Second floor - 2 no. bedrooms with en suites. 
 
The smallest bedroom would be 10sqm plus a 3sqm ensuite, with the largest bedrooms  
measuring 20sqm and 21sqm respectively. Secure covered cycle storage would be included 
within the existing rear single storey addition that has a garage door opening onto  Back 
Walmersley Road East. 
 
The rear yard area would accommodate bin storage. To facilitate this, the rear yard gate 
would need to be widened to 1.2 metres. No external alterations to the property is proposed 
to the property itself despite the application being accompanied by existing and proposed 
elevations. 
 
The application was initially submitted as a 9 bedroom HMO, but in assessment of the 
proposal has been reduced to an 8 bedroom property during the course of the application.  
The amended proposals are therefore considered below. 
 
Relevant Planning History 

Page 81



45172 - Single storey extension at rear - Approve with Conditions, 12/10/2005 
 
Publicity 
Site Notices were erected at the front and rear of the property.  16 no. nearby residents 
have also been consulted by letter. 
 
3 objections have been received to this public consultation which raise the following 
concerns: 

• Increased noise levels and disturbances - increased number of occupants and from foot 
and vehicular traffic would adversely affect residential amenity and quality of life 

• Impact on "stretched" public services 

• No parking facilities available in the vicinity 

• Disproportionate amount of HMO's on Walmersley Road, affecting the amenity of 
existing residents due to an increase in Anti Social Behavior in the locality occurring.  
The proposal would add to this issue that is harming the amenity of existing residents 
and detracting from this area. 

• Adding another facility could cause additional strain on the local community and its 
resources. 

 
Statutory/Non-Statutory Consultations 
Traffic Section - No objections, subject to a condition 
Environmental Health - Pollution Control - No objections 
Planning Policy Manager - No comments or observations received 
Greater Manchester Police - designforsecurity- No comments or observations received 
Waste Management - No objections, subject to 4 x 1100 bins (2 x general rubbish + 2 x 
recycling (Plastic and Paper/ Cardboard) 
Housing - Public Protection - Amendments required due to the number of occupants the 
kitchen will require 2 sinks and 2 cookers. 
Adult Care Services - No comments or observations received. 
 
Pre-start Conditions - Applicant/Agent has agreed with the necessary pre-start condition. 
 
Unitary Development Plan and Policies 
H2/4 Conversions 
H2/2 The Layout of New Residential Development 
HT2/4 Car Parking and New Development 
SPD13 Conversion of Buildings to Houses in Multiple Occupation 
 
Issues and Analysis 
The following report includes analysis of  the merits of the application against the relevant 
policies of both the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the adopted Bury 
Unitary Development Plan (UDP) together with other relevant material planning 
considerations. The policies of the UDP that have been used to assess this application are 
considered to be in accordance with the NPPF and as such are material planning 
considerations. For simplicity, just the UDP Policy will be referred to in the report, unless 
there is a particular matter to highlight arising from the NPPF where it would otherwise be 
specifically mentioned. 
 
Principle of Development  
The property is currently a dwellinghouse (Use Class C3) which would have a 'permitted 
development fallback' to form a 6 person HMO, under current regulations. The permitted 
development position indicates that the principle of a conversion to a HMO is acceptable. 
 
The conversion of houses to HMO's can often make an important contribution to local 
housing stock.  However, it is recognised that such conversions can put pressures on the 
amount of accommodation provided, put demands on parking and have an adverse effect 
on residential amenity and the character of an area.  
 
The main issues with this proposal are what impact the clear intensification of the residential 

Page 82



use of the premises would have in planning terms and in relation to the suitability of the site 
and location, impacts on amenity, nature of the local environment, surrounding land uses 
and highway issues. 
 
UDP Policy H2/4 - 'Conversions' specifically has regard to effects on amenity of 
neighbouring properties, general character of the area, amenity of occupants, effects from 
external changes on the street scene and car parking and servicing requirements.  
 
These issues are discussed in more detail below.  
 
Residential Amenity 
The existing property fronts onto a very busy road and has residential properties on either 
side, to the rear and across the road to the front. The property directly attached to  the 
application site is used as a HMO. 
 
The existing property has 6 bedrooms with 3 bedrooms on each of the top two floors. The 
second floor would be reduced from three bedrooms to two. Three bedrooms would remain 
on the first floor with one bedroom proposed at the front of the property at ground floor level 
and one bedroom proposed within the Basement of the building. This proposed internal 
arrangement is unlikely to generate additional noise, disturbance and activity to cause 
serious harm to neighbour amenity. In terms of residential amenity, the proposal is therefore 
considered to be acceptable and thus complies with UDP Policy and guidance relating to 
HMO's. 
 
Character of the Area and concentration of flats 
Officers have obtained information from the Council's HMO Officer as to where existing 
licensed HMOs are located in relation to the existing application site.  With the exception of 
the property attached to the application site, 146 Walmersley Road, there are no other 
HMOs in close proximity to the application site.  It is therefore considered that this proposal 
would not cause an over concentration of HMO or flat/ apartment development in this 
location and thus the proposal is considered to accord with the relevant criteria within UDP 
Policy H2/4.  
 
Visual Amenity and Streetscape  
There would be no significant impact on the character and appearance of the building or 
streetscape. The property would still appear as a 3 storey brick terrace. The necessary level 
of refuse storage bins would be accommodated within the rear yard area so should not 
cause particular concern. The rear yard gate that is accessible from and on to the highway 
at the rear of the property is to be widened to enable the 1100 litre bins to be wheeled in 
and out of the site.  Subject to a suitably worded planning conditon being imposed, it can 
be ensured this widening of the rear yard gate is completed in a sympathetic manner.  
 
In terms of visual amenity, the proposal is considered to be acceptable and complies with 
UDP Policy and guidance in relation to HMOs.  
 
The amenity of future occupants 
This proposed scheme, which has been amended to reduce the number of bedrooms from 
a 9- bed as originally proposed, to an 8-bed HMO, as proposed. 
 
The application has been amended to provide a greater level of communal space in the 
property in the form of an enlarged kitchen area, lounge and dining areas and to provide a 
study/ working from home area. The amended kitchen and communal areas satisfies HMO 
licensing standards and each bedroom includes their own bathroom facilities. All bedrooms 
would also accord with the National Space Standards. Overall the internal layout of the 
development is considered to provide satisfactory living accommodation for future occupiers 
of the site. 
 
Externally, there would be little change to the existing arrangements and facilities. Secure 
covered bike storage would be located within he former garage. Suitable bin storage 

Page 83



provision would be located to the rear of the yard area. There would be sufficient space left 
for drying clothes and incidental recreation/sitting out areas. 
 
On balance, the revised layout with 8 units would provide good internal communal space 
and bedroom space which will result in well-designed living accommodation for future 
occupiers.  The proposal is therefore considered to accord with the requirements set out in 
UDP Policy H2/4. 
 
Highway Safety and Servicing  
There is no specific car parking standards for HMO's in SPD11 Parking Standards in Bury. 
SPD 13 The Conversion of Buildings to Houses in Multiple Occupation gives some general 
advice. It states that parking and road safety issues will be important considerations when 
assessing a planning application and any proposal that is considered to have a detrimental 
impact on highway safety or harm to amenity will not be permitted.  
 
HMO's are best located in sustainable areas well served by public transport and close to 
amenities, services and facilities, which can reduce the demand of parking. In this regard, 
the application site is in a highly accessible area on a main road and bus route into Bury 
Town Centre.  The application site is situated approximately 550m to the north of the town 
centre.  The Neighbourhood Centre on Walmersley Road which contains the Co-Op, a 
Florists, a Hairdressers, Strachens Chemist and a number of fast food establishments, is 
located approximately 75m north of the application site.  The site is therefore in a highly 
accessible area. 
 
With regard to the application site, there are parking restrictions along this part of 
Walmersley Road with double yellow lines running in front of the property.  At the rear, 
there is a  single width road where parking for some of the properties in the vicinity is 
mostly on-street with some off-street in rear yard areas.  
 
There is no parking provision proposed at this site. Whilst it is generally recognised that car 
ownership tends to be lower for those who occupy HMOs compared to other households, it 
is clear that the proposed 8-bedroom HMO could have the potential to generate a greater 
demand for car parking than either the existing family dwelling or a 6-bed HMO 'permitted' 
under the current planning regulations . Whilst some residents of the HMO may not require 
access to a car, there is no means to secure this through the planning system and any cars 
associated with the use would have to park on nearby streets alongside other residents in 
the locality.  The Highway Authority considers there are no highway safety reasons to resist 
these proposals given the accessible location of the site. 
 
Given the location of the site in relation to both the Neighbourhood Centre and Bury Town 
Centre together with the cycle storage proposed, it is considered that it would be difficult to 
sustain a reason to refuse the proposal on traffic/parking grounds.   
 
In terms of servicing the site, the Council's Waste Management Service has indicated that 
the level of occupancy would necessitate the need to provide 4 x 1100 litre refuse bins; 2 to 
be used for general rubbish and 2 to be used for the paper and plastic recycling service 
offered by the Council.  The applicant has demonstrated that this level of refuse storage 
provision can be accommodated within the rear yard area, subject to the rear yard gate 
being widened.  Given an adopted highway exists to the rear of the site, the Highway 
Authority has asked for a condition to be imposed requiring details of this, to ensure the 
adopted highway is not compromised by this element of the proposals.  Such a condition is 
duly recommended, along with a condition requiring the necessary refuse storage provision 
to be provided. 
 
Subject to the recommended planning conditions, the proposal would, on balance, be 
acceptable and would accord with UDP policies H2/4, HT2/4 and SPD13 with regard to 
HMO development.   
 
Fallback Position  

Page 84



Under  'Permitted Development' dwellinghouses can change to a 6-bed HMO without 
needing planning permission. The critical issue is whether the two additional bedrooms 
would make a significantly material and detrimental impact on residential amenity and 
highway safety. In view of the above it is considered that the development would not cause 
demonstrable harm to either residential amenity or highway safety for the reasons outlined 
above. 
 
Response to objections 
Many of the points raised have been responded to within the main report. In relation to the 
character of the character and building, the building is in a good state of repair and presents 
itself appropriately to the street. In respect of the issues relating to lack of off-street parking 
provision, this has been explained within the Highway Safety and Servicing section of this 
report.  In terms of the type of persons who would potentially occupy the building, this is not 
a planning consideration. 
 
Conclusion 
The property has permitted development rights to convert from a dwellinghouse to a 6 
person HMO without planning permission.  This is therefore the permitted fallback position 
and has been taken into account in assessing the appropriateness of the proposal.   
 
The addition of two more occupants at the property would not result in conditions that would 
be demonstrably worse than the fallback position allowed under Permitted Development 
regulations given the sites location in close proximity of the Neighbourhood Centre on 
Walmersley Road and Bury Town Centre.  
 
The property has been amended to provide greater communal areas within the property 
which will ensure that future occupants have a satisfactory level of amenity.  The number of 
residents is also unlikely to cause amenity issues to the neighbouring property to the north 
of the site and those properties to the rear on Hilton Street. It has also been concluded that 
subject to its location and the widening of the rear yard gate not affecting the adopted 
highway of Back Walmersley Road East, which can be controlled by the recommended 
planning conditions, the proposal would not result in conditions detrimental to highway 
safety. 
 
The amended scheme would also provide a satisfactory level of accommodation and 
amenity for future occupants of the development.   
 
Taking account all of the above and subject to the recommended planning conditions, it is 
recommended the application be approved. 
  
Statement in accordance with Article 35(2) Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) (Amendment) Order 2015 
 
The Local Planning Authority worked positively and proactively with the applicant to identify 
various solutions during the application process to ensure that the proposal comprised 
sustainable development and would improve the economic, social and environmental 
conditions of the area and would accord with the development plan. These were 
incorporated into the scheme and/or have been secured by planning condition. The Local 
Planning Authority has therefore implemented the requirement in Paragraph 38 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
Recommendation:  Approve with Conditions 
 
Conditions/ Reasons 
 

1. The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years from 
the date of this permission. 
 

Reason: To comply with the requirements of section 91 of the Town and Country 

Page 85



Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 

 

2. This permission relates to the following plans: 
 
Drawing no. PL-001 Rev. P2: Location Plan and As Existing Plans; and, 
Drawing no. PL- 003 Rev. P4: As Proposed Plans, received 05 May 2023 
 
Except as provided for by other conditions to this permission, the development 
shall be carried out in complete accordance with the approved drawings. 
 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 
development in accordance with the policies contained within the Bury Unitary 
Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 

 

3. The bin and cycle storage facilities and works to widen/replace the existing, inward 
opening gate to allow access for communal bins indicated on approved plan 
reference PL-003 Revision P4, incorporating any remedial works required to 
reinstate the adjacent footway to its condition prior to commencement of the 
development, shall be made available/implemented to the satisfaction of the Local 
Planning Authority prior to the use hereby approved commencing and maintained 
thereafter. 
 
Reason: To ensure adequate provision for the storage and disposal of refuse 
within the curtilage of the site and storage of cycles, clear of the adopted highway 
and to maintain a safe condition of the highway. 
 

 
For further information on the application please contact Claire Booth on 0161 253 5396

Page 86



PLANNING APPLICATION LOCATION PLAN 

Planning, Environmental and Regulatory Services

 No Window 

 No Window 

ADDRESS:

APP. NO 69452

148 Walmersley Road, Bury, BL9 6LL 

(C) Crown Copyright and database right (2015). Ordnance Survey 100023063.

TCBs

35

166

166a

House

164

Shelter

12
5

PW

13
3

13
5

136

3

2a

1a

1

23

154

13

150

St
Marks

12
3

12
7

11
5

3

Works

12
9

SQUARESQUARESQUARESQUARESQUARESQUARESQUARESQUARESQUARE

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IL

TO
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

B
A

C
K

 W
A

LM
E

R
S

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

 E
A

S
T

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

RUSSELL STREET

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

B
A

C
K

ST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'SST MARK'S

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

W
A

L
M

E
R

S
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

 W
E

S
T

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

CHESHAM ROAD

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

W
A

LM
ER

SLEY R
O

A
D

105.5m

110.0m

107.6m

Viewpoints

1

2
3

Page 87



69452 

Photo 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 88



69452 

Photo 2 

 

Photo 3 

 

Page 89



P
age 90



P
age 91



P
age 92



�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�����������	


�
��
������������������������

�
�
��	�

�
������������ �

�
�������	�

�
�����
��������������

�
�����������	�

�
��
������������������
�
�������

�
����
����������	�

�
�
�����
����

� �

�
����������������	�

�
���������
�

�����������
������
�������
���	�

�� !
"#"$%
 !
& '� (
'�$
")*+ ,
-./# (




�
����
��	�

�
��$
%$".%'
+ !'!0

1$,$('
-$+$2#'$-
"+#(( (2
-$, ! .(!
! (,$
'�$
+#!'
344�

�
��������5�
�������������������



��$
4.// ''$$
 !
%$,.//$(-$-
'.
'�$
(.'$
'�$
%$".%'

#(-
#""$(- ,$!


�
������
�����	�

�

�
�67867�9:�
;<=��6>;?��
�7�<:@67A	�



B.
'�$
"%.".!#+!
#,,.%-
& '�
'�$
3.+ ,C

D%#/$&.%EF

 G$!
 
 


�9�9:<:H9�I��9J:��KLK��MM;?:7	�
�;H�H?;�>��<8>;?�9;6H=��HN��;=A�
�6H=;N:7�9;6H=	�



OP$,)' Q$
B %$,'.%
.R
1$!.)%,$!
'.
#-Q !$

%$2#%- (2
% !E
/#(#2$/$('


�
�9�9:<:H9�I���S:?T9;U:��;7:?967�
6M��:=6T7?:=	�

�
VWX

�

�
�YT�>;9���;U:7=;9��;<8>;?�9;6H=	�



V.
 





�
�6H=;N:7:N�I���6H;967;HZ��MM;?:7	�



[\]

�
�

�
^�7N=�
MM:?9:N	�

�
X++
+ !'$-


�
�?7T9;H���H9:7:=9	�
�

�
VWX


�


Z:HN��
�9:<�

_

������������������

̀

Page 93

Agenda Item 5



���������	�
����

 
 ������
��




�����������������
������ ���!��"��#��$�

%��&�

����������
'�&(���������

)��"�'�&(��#� *���+��#�

�
�

� � �

������+,��-&&������ �-&&������ �-�+��.� �



�


 
 



 � � �

�
/01
 2�����
3��

�
%��#��#���&-+��.,���$-����-�����*.�++�+ ��-+��-.��-&&������-������"�.� ���"�$.�++�+ �
"���#�-+#�&�"��(,�����-������#�-�������-�+��.4��
�
501
 �
��63��
�


�
%�����������&�(��+-��"4

�
�

�
6789
:;
2<=>?@:ABC
	<DE@8�F�:BE

�
�:B9<=9
�E9<7G8�F

�
H���"�'��+-I�J��"�-��H���.-$&�+��'�+� �&�+���
*.�++�+ ��������#I�H�$���&�+���-��K�#-����#��+"�K� �.���-+�
L�M+-N#.�,�*.����
O��,�O!P�Q�R�


�EG�
1/S/
5TU
T5V/

�W<7G�
C0W<@B:XYA@Z0?:[0A>




\
]

Page 94



����������������	�
����
���
���������
�
��	
���
�
���

�
	�

��� ���������������� �����������

���� !"#$�%&'()�

*+,-./�0121/345167�89:;9:8;8<�

*+,-./�=121/345167�>1?7@-@>+71�-3?�4?343A1=�?1+?�=3?51?�

BC�D+A7/1�E@//�F3+=G�H.?IG�H*J�KFL�
*0DM�N��O�PQ�
R�CJ<;;�N������	�
��S
OR�

T
��	�
�R�

��
�
���R�

U44?321�,@7V�D36=@7@36A�;J:;W:8;8<�

X@6Y/1�A73?1I�?1+?�1Z716A@36�

[K�F3,+6�0?@21G�H.?IG�H*J�K\M�
]̂ *�N��O�PQ�
R�CJ<K;�N������	�
��S
OR�

T
��	�
�R�

��
�
���R�

U44?321�,@7V�D36=@7@36A�[[:;W:8;8<�

_6A7+//+7@36�3-�8�63̀�?14/+>15167�a3@/1?�-/.1A�

D+A7/1�*1@A.?1�D167?1G�H3/736�X7?117G�H.?IG�H*J�;bc�
]̂ *�N��O�PQ�
R�CJ9K8�N������	�
��S
OR�

T
��	�
�R�

��
�
���R�

M?@3?�U44?32+/�d37�?1e.@?1=�[K:;W:8;8<�

M?@3?�+44?32+/�-3?�4?343A1=�>V+6Y1�3-�.A1�-?35�D/+AA�b�73�[C�63̀�+4+?75167A�fD/+AA�D<g�

W�D?354736�X7?117G�H.?IG�H*J�;U0�
M<hMU�N��O�PQ�
R�CJ9B;�N������	�
��S
OR�

T
��	�
�R�

��
�
���R�

���� !"#$ i jkk�#lmn�%&'()�

U44?321�,@7V�D36=@7@36A�8;:;9:8;8<�

[63̀�017+>V1=�=,1//@6Y�

L@6=+>?1�]+?5G�o+7V1?�F3+=G�L+/51?A/1IG�H*J�CFH�
]̂ *�N��O�PQ�
R�CBKJK�N������	�
��S
OR�

T
��	�
�R�

��
�
���R�

U44?321�,@7V�D36=@7@36A�8C:;9:8;8<�

03?51?�+7�A@=1�

C;�L1A7�0?@21G�H.?IG�H*J�W0L�
]̂ *�N��O�PQ�
R�CJ9[C�N������	�
��S
OR�

T
��	�
�R�

��
�
���R�

U44?321�,@7V�D36=@7@36A�;<:;W:8;8<�

X@6Y/1�A73?1I�?1+?�1Z716A@36�

C�LV1+7-@1/=�D/3A1G�H.?IG�H*J�Cp0�
]̂ *�N��O�PQ�
R�CJ9JK�N������	�
��S
OR�

T
��	�
�R�

��
�
���R�

U44?321�,@7V�D36=@7@36A�[J:;W:8;8<�

q,3�A73?1I�A@=1:?1+?�1Z716A@36r�X@6Y/1�A73?1I�?1+?�1Z716A@36r�F16=1?�73�1Z71?6+/�1/12+7@36A�

K�LV1+7-@1/=�D/3A1G�H.?IG�H*J�Cp0�
]̂ *�N��O�PQ�
R�CJW89�N������	�
��S
OR�

T
��	�
�R�

��
�
���R�

���� !"#$ i snmt"un#�%&'()�

vwxyzx{y{|�}&~��v����vy�
Page 95



����������	
����
�	����������������

��������	���������	�����
���	���������
���������	�������	���������	���
���������

����
������������� !���� "#�#���
$%"�&''()*+',-�.#/�/�&''01234156)75(-�

85234156-�

9:5'5;30-�

����������	
����
�	����������������

�������<��	������������	������	
���������	������������	�������

#���<����	�������� !���� "#�#�=�
$%"�&''()*+',-�.#/.��&''01234156)75(-�

85234156-�

9:5'5;30-�

���!��
��.���������

$���	�����
>�?����	�������
����	������>���������	������������	�������

��@��
�
�������� !���� "#�#A"�
$%"�&''()*+',-�.#/B#�&''01234156)75(-�

85234156-�

9:5'5;30-�

����������	
����
�	����������������

��������	������������	�������

./#�C
�	�����
����
�� !���� "#�#D��
$%"�&''()*+',-�.#/EB�&''01234156)75(-�

85234156-�

9:5'5;30-�

FGHIJKLMNJOJPQNRS�TUVWX�

����������	
����
�	������E��/������

$���	���������
����	�������

.�� ��Y
�!������
�� !���� "E���Z�
$%"�&''()*+',-�.E#E��&''01234156)75(-�

85234156-�

9:5'5;30-�

����������	
����
�	������.���������

��������	�������	��������	������

//�$��<��������	����
��������[�.�/"\�
$%"�&''()*+',-�.#��B�&''01234156)75(-�

85234156-�

9:5'5;30-�

FGHIJKLMNJOJKLMN�TUVWX�

"���!���������<��	��#��/������

"���!��
������<��	����	�����	�������������
���	�����������������
��<�������������	
��

�<���	�������	
������	����
��<���

E��]�����	���������� !���� "E���̂ �
"��D�&''()*+',-�.#�B#�&''01234156)75(-�

85234156-�

9:5'5;30-�

����������	
����
�	����������������

���<����	��������
������������������	�������	������_����	�

B�̀B���������	
����
�� !���� "E��DZ�
$%"�&''()*+',-�.#/���&''01234156)75(-�

85234156-�

9:5'5;30-�

����������	
����
�	����������������

?����	�������
����	���������	
�����	����������
��
��<���>���������	������������	������>��������
�	���������	���	������������!
��������	�����
>��

�	���������
���	������	������	���>�A�	�������	��
����	������
��!�����������

BB�a�������
�� !���� "E��"=�
$%"�&''()*+',-�.#/�B�&''01234156)75(-�

85234156-�

9:5'5;30-�

bRHNcJdeSRH�TUVWX�

fghijhkikl�mUnopkpqrpfi�
Page 96



����������	
����
�	����������������

����	�������
�	��
�
����
����������
�
�	��
�
��������

��������	�����������	� �����!�		���	����"�����" #���$�
%& �'(()*+,(-.�/0��/�'((12345267*86).�

96345267.�

:;6(6<41.�

 ������=���������	�����>������

 ������
���������	����	�����	�������?��	��������	��������?	����������@��	�������������?��	����
A���
���������

��� ������
	�B��
��B���A�		����"�����" ��0!=�
 =���'(()*+,(-.�/0�>��'((12345267*86).�

96345267.�

:;6(6<41.�

����������	
����
�	����������������

C�������	���������������
��?	�������

���D����
�����������	��!�		���	����"�����" #��E=�
%& �'(()*+,(-.�/0�/��'((12345267*86).�

96345267.�

:;6(6<41.�

����������	
����
�	������>��>������

!����	�������
���?	������F�C�������	�����������?	�������

#>��G����������B��
��"�����" 0�> ��
%& �'(()*+,(-.�/0��#�'((12345267*86).�

96345267.�

:;6(6<41.�

����������	
����
�	������>��>������

H����	����������
�	������I���J�������
������K��������/0����	���
�����	
������������	
�����
���
	�������
�	�������������	
�����
���	���������
�	��A���
�	�������	��A������
���F����	��
��	�������
����I�����	���������
�����
���F�����
���	��	���?��	��������	�����	�������A������
��F���	��	�������
�?��	�����
�����F����	��
��	������������
���������
�����
������������?	������F�����
���	��	��
	
������	���������������
�������������	�I�

��� ������
	�B��
��B���A�		����"�����" ��0!=�
%& �'(()*+,(-.�/0��0�'((12345267*86).�

96345267.�

:;6(6<41.�

LMNOPQRSTUVUWXYZMXX[�\]̂_̀�

����������	
����
�	������0���������

C�������	������?	���������	���
����
��������	
�
��a�����	��������
�������A����	��
��F�����	����
�����	���	���
����
��?	��������	���	����������
�����������
���	������	�����������������	������
�
��������������b���������	����������
���	����
�������	����

�>�C��
��	��B��
��G
�	�����
��c���
��	����c�>�/GD�
%& �'(()*+,(-.�/0��d�'((12345267*86).�

96345267.�

:;6(6<41.�

����������	
����
�	������d���������

C�������	�����������?	�������

�� ��	���=������$���	���
��c���
��	����c�>��EC�
%& �'(()*+,(-.�/0�d/�'((12345267*86).�

96345267.�

:;6(6<41.�

$��������������e�	�B�f����
��/��>������

$������������������	
�����	����	��������������f������	�g��h��	����	���������������$H����	���
���������������#�$H���
�����	��	
�����A
����������

C���	��$��������������B��
��$���	���
��c�>��"i�
$��$��'(()*+,(-.�/0�0��'((12345267*86).�

96345267.�

:;6(6<41.�

LMNOPQRSTUVUjN[kYNZ�\]̂_̀�

B�����
��>��>������

B����
����
����������	��������	
��	����
����������
���	�������A���
���������

>��C
������	� �����$���	���
��c���
��	����c�>��=e�
%& �'(()*+,(-.�/0�#��'((12345267*86).�

96345267.�

:;6(6<41.�

lmnopnqoqr�s]tuvrvwxvlo�
Page 97



���������	��
���
�������������

���������	��
���
���������������
����
�
�������
���
��������
���
�������

���
�����������
�����
�������
������������
 ���
����
����
��������
����������
���
��������
�!�
��

����
���������
�����������

"�#����$����%�&��������%�$�
�������%�$����''�
���&�())*+,-)./�0"��1�())23456378+97*/�

:7456378/�

;<7)7=52/�

>�������?@��1������

���������	��
���
���������������
����
�
����������

�
��
��������
���
����������A���
����
�����
������

�B?�$������

�>
��%�$�
�������%�$@�1�C�
���&�())*+,-)./�0"�"��())23456378+97*/�

:7456378/�

;<7)7=52/�

D���
	��������

����

���"���������

�
����

	����

�������
�����������

���
�������

�1�>����

��D	�
��%�&��������%�$�
�������%�$�����E�
FG��())*+,-)./�0"10@�())23456378+97*/�

:7456378/�

;<7)7=52/�

D���
	��������

����

�������������

H�
������
��A��I��
��

��������������������I���
������������������

?��J���
�����	�%�&��������%�$�
�������%�$����KJ�
FG��())*+,-)./�0"1B@�())23456378+97*/�

:7456378/�

;<7)7=52/�

LMNOPQRSTUVUWPUXYMZ[O�\]̂_̀�

���������	��
���
���1��1������

���������	��
���
���������������
���I����
��������>��������
��a�0�H����
��������
���

1?@D�b��A�c���>
��%�&��������%�$�
�������%�$���?b��
���#�())*+,-)./�0@"1��())23456378+97*/�

:7456378/�

;<7)7=52/�

&��
��D���
	���>�d�������
��e��
�����?��1������

&��
������
	����
����
�
�����
��������

�
��������$


�
��������0

f�D
��

��g�?

f�e&H�
�
����%��

f�h��
������

���������
���

f�>��
���>���
�G
�����>>G��g�?

f�����������
��%�
�

f��d�����
������
�����������������
���
������A���	��
���
���
�����
��?f@����������������
��
��
��

��
�����b��������������A�
����������������
�1B����i�
�

��>
���a���0��?��b�������������
��%�
i�
�

��>
��%�&��������%�$�
�������%�$���"GF�

h#��())*+,-)./�0"�"?�())23456378+97*/�

:7456378/�

;<7)7=52/�

>��������@��1������

#�����

�
����

f����������������
���

��
��
���F����������%�&��������%�$���"Cj�
FG��())*+,-)./�0"�@?�())23456378+97*/�

:7456378/�

;<7)7=52/�

&��
��D���
	���c
��>�d��������#I��
��

��1��1������

&��
������
	����
����
�
������
������
��A�������I��
��

�

?��H�������!����	�%�&��������%�$�
�������%�$���"h��
e&�#�())*+,-)./�0"1?1�())23456378+97*/�

:7456378/�

;<7)7=52/�

���������	��
���
�������������

���������	��
���
���������������
����
�
������
������
��A�������I��
��

�

?��bA�

�D	�
��%�&��������%�$�
�������%�$���"�h�
���&�())*+,-)./�0"1�@�())23456378+97*/�

:7456378/�

;<7)7=52/�

klmnompnpq�r]stuvuwxukn�
Page 98



����������	
����
�	����������������

���������������������������	���������	���	���������
�����
�

� ��!"		���	����#���$�%���	���
$�&���
��	��$�&����'(�
)'#�*++,-./+01�2�  3�*++4567859:-;9,1�

<967859:1�

=>9+9?741�

����������	
����
�	����������������

@����	�������
����	����������������	������������	������A�

�B�%�����
�C����$�%���	���
$�&����DE�
)'#�*++,-./+01�2� 2��*++4567859:-;9,1�

<967859:1�

=>9+9?741�

����������	
����
�	����������������

F�G������������	������������������	����	�
�
���������������
��������������������	�����	����	�
�
�
������������H��������������	����������������G�������2B2�������
���	����I����������	���������
�
�����
��G�����	�������	������GG�
�	�����	�����������J�

����	�&�����F��
$�%���	���
$�&���
��	��$�&�����E�
)'#�*++,-./+01�2� 2��*++4567859:-;9,1�

<967859:1�

=>9+9?741�

����������	
����
�	����������������

��������	������������	�������

���K�G��	��������$�%���	���
$�&���
��	��$�&����L��
)'#�*++,-./+01�2� BB�*++4567859:-;9,1�

<967859:1�

=>9+9?741�

����������	
����
�	������2���������

K���	����I���������������������	
������
��G��A�

��M���
�������"�$�%���	���
$�&���
��	��$�&����N@�
)'#�*++,-./+01�2� 33�*++4567859:-;9,1�

<967859:1�

=>9+9?741�

OPQRSTUUVWXWYPZ[�\]̂_̀�

����������	
����
�	����������������

��������	���������	���	�������	������"
��������������������

3�K��
���C����$�F�
������$�&���
��	��$�&�2��@#�
)'#�*++,-./+01�2� ���*++4567859:-;9,1�

<967859:1�

=>9+9?741�

����������	
����
�	������ �� ������

@����	�������
���������	����������������	������������	�������

���&�������	���	$�F�
������$�&���
��	��$�&�2��K)�
)'#�*++,-./+01�2� � �*++4567859:-;9,1�

<967859:1�

=>9+9?741�

����������	
����
�	����������������

C�G���	����������������
�����	��������������G��	�
�	��
�
��������	����������������	��

�����������	
�F��
$�F�
������$�&���
��	��$�&�2� DC�
)'#�*++,-./+01�2� ���*++4567859:-;9,1�

<967859:1�

=>9+9?741�

OPQRSTUUVWXWabc[dWPeQWfTeZgbc[d�\]̂_̀�

����������	
����
�	��������� ������

�
��������"�����
�������������������	�����	�I���I"��
������	
���������	������������	�������	��
���G�����������
�G����GA�

#��
��
h����	�	���"���I��i$���	
"��#���$��������	
$�!"��$�!#���%j�
)'#�*++,-./+01�23�33�*++4567859:-;9,1�

<967859:1�

=>9+9?741�

klmnompnpq�r]stuouvwukn�
Page 99



����������	
����
�	����������������

����	���������	��������	���
��

������������
���������������	
�����	��������� !�
�"��#$$%&'($)*�+,����#$$-./01.23&42%*�

52/01.23*�

672$280-*�

9��:��
��+���������

;��<	�����������=�
������>�

���
��
?�<��	�	��@����:�	����������9�
<�������A��<
��	����A�+��BC�
�"��#$$%&'($)*�+,����#$$-./01.23&42%*�

52/01.23*�

672$280-*�

����������	
����
�	����������������

����	�������D��<��E��	���
����	
�>�����D��:�	��
��

���F:���������:����������	
��9�
<����������	���������9 �
�"��#$$%&'($)*�+,����#$$-./01.23&42%*�

52/01.23*�

672$280-*�

����������	
����
�	����������������

����	����<
���	�������

���G
�����������:����������	
�����	���������9H�
�"��#$$%&'($)*�+,����#$$-./01.23&42%*�

52/01.23*�

672$280-*�

I��������������9�J:���
���
�K���	�
������������

I������������������	
��<
��>�����:���������>��<:�	:����D:��
��>�	��
������>
�:���

�����<L����
���������	
:��������9�
<����������	���������I"�
IA�I��#$$%&'($)*�+,��+�#$$-./01.23&42%*�

52/01.23*�

672$280-*�

����������	
����
�	����������������

F��>����	���E���	��������	������

��@��:�E�B���9��
��9�
<����������	��������+  �
�"��#$$%&'($)*�+,����#$$-./01.23&42%*�

52/01.23*�

672$280-*�

MNOPQRSSTUVUWTXY�Z[\]̂�

I��������������9�J:���
���
�K���	�
������������

I�������������������������
�<
��>�����:��������_�E�B:����E�̀������;a�	��+���=����	��̀��������a�

��@����<LD:���F	���	��9�
<�������A��<
��	����A�+��b �
I�HI��#$$%&'($)*�+,����#$$-./01.23&42%*�

52/01.23*�

672$280-*�

����������	
����
�	������+���������

G����	���E��������	�������

��9�E���>
��������9�
<�������A��<
��	����A�+��9��
�"��#$$%&'($)*�+,����#$$-./01.23&42%*�

52/01.23*�

672$280-*�

����������	
����
�	����������������

c��	����	�������
��>
	����	��<	���D���������
�D�����
��	��<������L�

��
��F	������	
��I��L��>	���b�E��9�
<�������A��<
��	����A�+��_��
�"��#$$%&'($)*�+,�@��#$$-./01.23&42%*�

52/01.23*�

672$280-*�

MNdXefYYfdUgUhfYYRijYfiUVUhfYYRijYfi�Z[\]̂�

klmnompnpq�r[stuvuwxukn�
Page 100



����������	
����
�	����������������

���	�����������	�	����	�������	��������	��������
�����	���������	��������	���
��

����
��	��	�����������		���	���� ����� !"��##�
�$!�%&&'()*&+,�-��.��%&&/0123045(64',�

74123045,�

894&4:2/,�

;�����
�<����������

!������
������=��	�>��	���>�	�������������
��������>����������

!��	����?�	�����@	���	����		���	���� ����� !"��A?�
!B���%&&'()*&+,�-��"C�%&&/0123045(64',�

74123045,�

894&4:2/,�

����������	
����
�	�����<"��C������

@�������	�������
����
��������	��������

�..�?���
���;��
�� ����� !"�����
�$!�%&&'()*&+,�-�����%&&/0123045(64',�

74123045,�

894&4:2/,�

����������	
����
�	������<��C������

@�������	�������
����	�������

�����	����
�������		���	���� ����� !"�C�D�
�$!�%&&'()*&+,�-�����%&&/0123045(64',�

74123045,�

894&4:2/,�

����������	
����
�	������-��C������

!��	�>������������	
���
��
��=�������������	����������
�����	
�E����		��F��>������
���	���	����	��
����	����������
��G�����	����>
�

<C<���	����
�����>��	�� ����� !"�<A!�
�$!�%&&'()*&+,�-�CC-�%&&/0123045(64',�

74123045,�

894&4:2/,�

����������	
����
�	����������������

;����>�=��	��������	����>�������	������	
���������	������������	�������

<"�B��>��������>��	����		���	���� ����� !"��B?�
�$!�%&&'()*&+,�-��<-�%&&/0123045(64',�

74123045,�

894&4:2/,�

HIJKLMNNMJOIPQORMNNSPTNMPOUOHIJKLMNNMJ�VWXYZ�

����������	
����
�	������<��C������

;�	��	��������	������>��	��������
�>�F���	��>������[��	�����������������>�==���	�����
�
F��[��	������

�
���	��
��>
�\��	����]�����̂���	�#�����;��
��;�=�F�		�=�� ����� !����_�
�$!�%&&'()*&+,�-���<�%&&/0123045(64',�

74123045,�

894&4:2/,�

����������	
����
�	�����<"��C������

�̀���	�������>��
�	������a��b�������
������c����������������=��������.�<����
�����>��	�
�
���d=�	�������=��
=��	�-.��.e�;�����
�
�����	����
������

!��
�����B���	
��@	���	��;�=�F�		�=�� ����� !���Af�
�$!�%&&'()*&+,�-��"��%&&/0123045(64',�

74123045,�

894&4:2/,�

���������������;�g����
���
�;�����
�<"��C������

��������������������������
�����>��	�����F���
����

@
����]������=��?
������;��
��@
�		�����	
��;�=�F�		�=�� ����� !���hB�
�̂ �%&&'()*&+,�-�C�-�%&&/0123045(64',�

74123045,�

894&4:2/,�

!������B������=��	�<.���������

!������
������=��	�>��	���>�	�������������
������
��=�����	�������	���		�>���
���������	�����
�������	�������

���̂����		�@	���	��;�=�F�		�=�� ����� !���fh�
!B���%&&'()*&+,�-�C�C�%&&/0123045(64',�

74123045,�

894&4:2/,�

ijklmknlno�pWqrstsuvsil�
Page 101



�����������	�
��
��������������������

���������� !�"�#$� ��#%�&'()*(+)+,�

-�#./��% ���0�%�$���1 �#%��#�

++�23$�#�43/56�4!� �7��/$6�83#9!�% ��6�8*:�'24�
;<=�>??@ABC?DE�FG)H,�>??IJKLMJNOAPN@E�

QNKLMJNOE�

RSN?NTLIE�

���������� !�"�#$� ��#%�+)()*(+)+,�

-�#./��% ���0��1 �#%��#�3 �%�$��3#$���3�U�;��# ����9!�3#$�-�#./��% ���0��V WV�/$�#.��#���3��
.3�$�#�

:+�X35�=3#�6�4!� �7��/$6�83#9!�% ��6�8*:�'YZ�
;<=�>??@ABC?DE�FG,:,�>??IJKLMJNOAPN@E�

QNKLMJNOE�

RSN?NTLIE�

[�����������3/�2� �\�]V���$�̂�Y1 �#%��#�+'()*(+)+,�

[�����3�����3/�7��������%�$�%�#./��% ���0���3���1 �#%��#�

,,�_3/ �#����#V�6�4!� �7��/$6�83#9!�% ��6�8*:�F_;�
[̀_Y�>??@ABC?DE�FG*'+�>??IJKLMJNOAPN@E�

QNKLMJNOE�

RSN?NTLIE�

���������� !�"�#$� ��#%�),():(+)+,�

-�#./��% ���0���3���1 �#%��#�

&)'�Z!3 9!�=�39!�=3#�6�4!� �7��/$6�83#9!�% ��6�8*:�F;4�
;<=�>??@ABC?DE�FG*G,�>??IJKLMJNOAPN@E�

QNKLMJNOE�

RSN?NTLIE�

���������� !�"�#$� ��#%�):():(+)+,�

-�#./��% ���0�7��# ��1 �#%��#�3#$�%�#./��% ���0���3���1 �#%��#�

*:�a�#$WV�#�"/�%�6�4!� �7��/$6�83#9!�% ��6�8*:�'bc�
;<=�>??@ABC?DE�FG:)F�>??IJKLMJNOAPN@E�

QNKLMJNOE�

RSN?NTLIE�

�����������	�
��
�������d��e��f����dg�e�������

[�����������3/�\�]V���$�\�7V%�$�̂�Y1 �&'()*(+)+,�

���/�93 ��#�7���������3�����3/��7�3������%�$��#/3�.�h�# ��7�3�$��//�#.!�V%��W0�9�#% �V9 ��#��7�
3$$� ��#3/�% ���0%�̂�[����%�$�3$$� ��#3/�% ���0� ��9��3 ��3� !����% ���0�!�V%��ih31�hVh�
!��.! �Gj&&�h� ��%k�

+&�[!�/��%�_����6�4!� �7��/$6�83#9!�% ��6�8*:�H[l�
[̀_Y�>??@ABC?DE�FG,F'�>??IJKLMJNOAPN@E�

QNKLMJNOE�

RSN?NTLIE�

���������� !�"�#$� ��#%�+&()*(+)+,�

-�#./��% ���0���3���1 �#%��#�

&&*�\3$9/�77��2���\�3$6�\3$9/�77�6�83#9!�% ��6�8*:�H4c�
;<=�>??@ABC?DE�FG*)G�>??IJKLMJNOAPN@E�

QNKLMJNOE�

RSN?NTLIE�

���������� !�"�#$� ��#%�+F()*(+)+,�

Z���% ���0��1 �#%��#%�3 �%�$��3#$���3�U�-�#./��% ���0�7��# ��1 �#%��#U�;��# ����9!�

*F�83�/��"��7 6�4!� �7��/$6�83#9!�% ��6�8*:�H2m�
;<=�>??@ABC?DE�FG*,&�>??IJKLMJNOAPN@E�

QNKLMJNOE�

RSN?NTLIE�

\�7V%�$�),():(+)+,�

Y��9 ��#��7��3//�3#$�7�#9�#.� ��%�$��W�V#$3���%�

&�[3�5�a�//�_����6�4!� �7��/$6�83#9!�% ��6�8*:�H[_�
;<=�>??@ABC?DE�FG*,H�>??IJKLMJNOAPN@E�

QNKLMJNOE�

RSN?NTLIE�

nopqrpsqst�u�vwxyxz{xnq�
Page 102



����������	
����
�	����������������

�����	����������
�	��������������
���������������������������������������� 
���!��	�����������

�������	��"���������
���	
�������#������������$
����
������
����
����������%���
�	
��
�������
��$�
�"����������
������&�'�

��(�#"$��������%�)
�	�����
%�*���
��	��%�*�+�,-.�
/-(�0112345167��8����0119:;<=:>?3@>27�

A>;<=:>?7�

BC>1>D<97�

E��������������F�G$���
���
�F��$��
�HH��+������

E������������������	
���������
�	�������$����	��������	����	��������������
���"���������		����
���	%���	
�����'���	�������
�����'�	������������
��
�����������	�
���	
�����!��	�������	�	��
	
����$	
����	
����	��I�,��'�G$�����	���"���	�I��'���
��
�������	�����������
���������#�

���������	'�

J�
���#�E��K�F-/�%�E
������E��K�F��
%�E���	���
%�L$�#%�*�+�,MN�
 .(�0112345167��8+�H�0119:;<=:>?3@>27�

A>;<=:>?7�

BC>1>D<97�

OPQRSTQSUVWXWYZ[\]̂RPW_WYZ[\]̂RP�`abcd�

(���$��e���������	�H����������

(���$��
���������	����	�����	�������������
�$��������������
���������������
��
���f��
����������
��!��$�����	
�����
��
������	
�	
���������������
���	����������������
	����K�����������	��
"����������

��J��
����F��
%�L$�#%�L(8��Ng�
(e�E�0112345167��8H�8�0119:;<=:>?3@>27�

A>;<=:>?7�

BC>1>D<97�

����������	
����
�	�����H����������

J�������	���#���
��������!	�������

H+�J�$	
������%�L$�#%�L(8��.(�
/-(�0112345167��8����0119:;<=:>?3@>27�

A>;<=:>?7�

BC>1>D<97�

����������	
����
�	�����H����������

J�������	���#��!	�����������������#���
������
�	
����#������

-�����	
�E�����#�J�
���%�L���K��#������%�L$�#%�L(8��(h�
/-(�0112345167��8����0119:;<=:>?3@>27�

A>;<=:>?7�

BC>1>D<97�

(���$��e���������	������������

(���$��
���������	����	�����	�������������
����	��������������	
�
������	��
����	���
��������

+������
����e����%�L$�#%�L(8��.i�
(e�E�0112345167��8�8��0119:;<=:>?3@>27�

A>;<=:>?7�

BC>1>D<97�

E��������������g�	�F�G$���
���.!	�������H����������

E�������������������������
���������	���#�������!	�������

����L$�#�g���F��
%�)
�	�����
%�*���
��	��%�*�+�,Jj�
MEe.�0112345167��8��8�0119:;<=:>?3@>27�

A>;<=:>?7�

BC>1>D<97�

����������	
����
�	������+��+������

J�������	���#�����	��!	�������

H��*��
��#%�L$�#%�L(8�8 h�
/-(�0112345167��8����0119:;<=:>?3@>27�

A>;<=:>?7�

BC>1>D<97�

(���$��e���������	�H8��+������

(���$��
���������	����	�����	�������������
���������	���#�����������	�����!	�����������$
����
��	��������	���	�������
�����������	��

��� 
$��	��������%�L$�#%�L(8��g)�
(e�E�0112345167��8+���0119:;<=:>?3@>27�

A>;<=:>?7�

BC>1>D<97�

klmnompnpq�rastuluvwukn�
Page 103



������������	
��
�������������������
���
���

����������� !"#$��$%&$
���

Page 104



 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
DECISION OF: 

 
PLANNING CONTROL COMMITTEE 

 
DATE: 

 
30 May 2023 

 
SUBJECT: 

 
PLANNING APPEALS 

 
REPORT FROM: 

 
HEAD OF DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 
DAVID MARNO 

  

 
TYPE OF DECISION: 

 
COUNCIL  
 

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION/STATUS: 

This paper is within the public domain 
 

 
SUMMARY: 

 
Planning & Enforcement Appeals:   None                    
  

 
OPTIONS & 
RECOMMENDED OPTION 

 
The Committee is recommended to the note the report 
and appendices 

 
IMPLICATIONS: 

 

 
Corporate Aims/Policy 
Framework: 

 
Do the proposals accord with the Policy 
Framework?  Yes   

Statement by the S151 Officer: 
Financial Implications and Risk 

Considerations: 

 
Executive Director of Resources to advise 
regarding risk management 

 
Statement by Executive Director 
of Resources: 

 
N/A 
 

 
Equality/Diversity implications: 

 
No  

 

 
Considered by Monitoring Officer: 

 
N/A 
 

 

 
Wards Affected: 

 
All listed 

  

Agenda 

Item 

 

REPORT FOR NOTING 
6 

Page 105

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Scrutiny Interest: 
 

N/A 

 

TRACKING/PROCESS   DIRECTOR: 
 

Chief Executive/ 
Strategic Leadership 

Team 

Executive 

Member/Chair 
Ward Members Partners 

 

 

   

Scrutiny Committee Committee Council  

 

 

   

    

 
1.0 BACKGROUND 

 
This is a monthly report to the Committee of the Planning Appeals lodged against 
decisions of the authority and against Enforcement Notices served and those that 

have been subsequently determined by the Planning Inspectorate.  
 

Attached to the report are the Inspectors Decisions and a verbal report will be 
presented to the Committee on the implications of the decisions on the Appeals that 
were upheld. 

 
2.0 CONCLUSION  

 
That the item be noted. 
 

 
List of Background Papers:-  
 

Contact Details:- 
David Marno, Head of Development Management 

Planning Services, Department for Resources and Regulation, 
3 Knowsley Place ,Bury     BL9 0EJ 
Tel: 0161 253 5291  

Email: d.marno@bury.gov.uk 

Page 106


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on the 25th April 2023
	Minutes

	4 Planning Applications
	Item 01 Final
	Item 02 Final
	72954628-b333-4503-b67a-4d38ed29ae75.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Location


	1dd4c06a-4fca-44f5-8542-05eb9bb2e404.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Road


	82876adf-4b0d-4163-9ba0-bc3a54ff227b.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Pro Site



	Item 03 Final

	5 Delegated Decisions
	6 Planning Appeals

